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CareTech provides high quality support and care for individuals whe often have complex needs.

Delivering a safe and secure support of very high quality, ensuring that all our service users enjoy
extraordinary days, every day.

Our Purpose

Delivering innovative social care on behalf of local autherity and health service commissioners throughout
the UK, CareTech has a long established reputation as a provider of high quality and safe services.
CareTech offers a comprehensive outsourcing service to commissioners with the experience and
commitment to provide exactly what is required.

Focusing on the high acuity social care population we support children and adults through solutions that
are both individual and tailor made to each of our service users.

Qur core services provide for adults with learning disabilities, individuals who have or are recovering from

mental iliness, people with autistic spectrum disorder, pecple who have one or more physical impairments

and provide care and rehabilitation for men with acquired brain injury (*ABI"). We deliver support through
residential services and a wide choice of creative home based options.

Our children services cover assessment, residential care, education and fostering options, including
specialist provision for very complex young people. We carefully and professionally support any child
imespective of their reasons for being in public care. We can provide the right solution for complex and
difficult situations through our nationally recognised expertise in provision for chitdren and young people
who present with sexually offending behaviours or who have emotional and behavioural disorders. Our
comprehensive service includes education in Ofsted registered schools cf very high qualify.

CareTech picneered fransition services for young people leaving care and for adults who are making the
move info their own home after a lifetime in residential or institutional seftings. We remain a national leader
in the drive to enable people to live in a home of their own.

We believe in opportunity and have developed an enviable reputation as a leading provider and organiser
of modern apprenticeships within exciting projects across the UK.
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Good progress across the Group

Financial and Operational Highlights

Highlights

Statutory
financial
highlights
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Revenue Underlying EBITDA @
£185.7/m £43.9m
fincreased by 11.9% (2017 £166.0m) ' increased by 10.0% (2017 £39.9m)
Underlying profit before tax @ Underlying basic earnings per share
£32.9m 35.07p

'increased by 11.9% (2017 £29.4m) {2017: 38.03p}

Net Cash inflows from operating activities Overalt care capacity increased by 88V

£30.9m 2,622 places

(2017 £22.1m) (2017 2,534)

with net debt (iii) of £147.0m (2017 Occupancy 2,438 (2017 2,159)
£147 1m)

Property portfolio Final dividend per share
£424m 7.5p

Independently valued (2017 £329m) . increased by 13.6% (2017: 6.60p)
Statutory Financiai Highlights

EBITDA (v Operating profit
£40.2m £20.2m

1increased by 10.4% (2017: £36.4m) ' decreased by 11.0% (2017: £22.7m)

Diluted earnings per share

14.06p
P reduced by 44.8% (2017: 25 48p)

Underlying EBITDA is operating profit stated before depreciation, share-based payments charge and
nen-underlying items

Underlying profit before tax and underlying basic eamnings per share are stated before non-underlying
items.

Net Debt as defined by the Group's Banking facllities and comprises cash and cash equivalents net of alt
Loans and Borrowings due to the Group’s Bankers.

EBITDA is operating profit stated before depreciation and share-based payments.

Overall capacity has increased by 88 with 69 additional beds in reconfigured services and new services,

69 new beds in Children's and 50 beds were withdrawn for reconfiguration.



Group at a glance

Extraordinary Care

CARING EVERYDAY

The company was formed in 1993 and was admitted to the AIM market at the London Stock Exchange
in October 2005,

Since the CareTech Group came to the AIM market 13 years ago, it has evolved through a mix of
organic and prudent acquisitive growth that has led to our current position as one of the best-
established and reputable national social care proiriders. We have national coverage across
England, Wales and Scotland in a highly fragmented UK social care market. We cover the majority

of the social care spectrum except elderly care.

The CareTech Group provides care and support to individuals in nesd. This is mainly for people who
have a learning disabifity, some of whom may have associated physical ot psychological impairment.
However, the company also supports a number of people with other disorders including those with

autism, sensory impairment, physical disabilities or mental health problems.

- Many of the services are offered in residential care seftings in community based settings, including
a number of nursing homes. All the residential homes are registered with the UK Government
regulator, mainly with the Care Quality Commission, Ofsted and aisc with other regulators. CareTech
also provides care and support to a significant number of people who have their own tenancies

(supported living) and in various day centres or hostel type accommeodation.

The total market value is estimated, (Laing and Buisson 2017) to be worth £7bn for children services
and £5hn for the care of younger adults (below 85 years of age) in the learning disability and
specialist services categories. The private sector share of this market has developed through
successful outsourcing of services over the last 20 years and this trend is expected to continue.
L.ocal Authorities have largely protected their budgets for children and complex younger adults.




Aduit Services

Adult Learning Disabilities

CareTech has always operated at the highest acuity range
on the social care spectrum, providing individual tailor made
solufions for people living in their own homes, residential
care or independent supported living schemes. We believe
that we should continue supporting those with the greatest
need and this accords with local authority commissioning
trends.

Adults with learning disabilities are Increasingly being
provided with direct funding fo enable them fo purchase their
own care and support. We work actively with service users
and advisory bodies to deliver self-directed support
packages and see this as an increasingly important aspect
of our service model, as well as offering commercial

opportunity.

For many people with the most complex intellectual or
physical challenges, residential care will continue to be the
preferred option aithough the services will change in their
approach as we move toward a more enabling, moderm type
of service. An altemative to residentiai care is the
opportunity for people to live in a home of their own,
sometimes shared with others, CareTech is a leader in the
provision of supported living and offers packages of
individualised seli~directed support to peopie in their own
homes. .

Childrens Services

Foster Care

Foster Care is undoubtedly the best care solution for most
"looked after” children. Most children thrive in foster care
where they are supported within an ordinary family home and
with tramed foster carers. CareTech provides for both
mainstream and specialist foster care through local agencies
across the UK. We cffer a highly respected service for
physically and intellectually disabled children as well as
suppaort for children with sensory impairments. We provide

Specialist Services

Specialist services provisicn continues to dominate
the health and sccial care agenda. Good specialist
services is a significant confributor fo a healthy
community and national economy, while mental il
health is devastating to individuals and their families.
Most commissioners are driven by a wish to reduce
patient fime in acute care and rely on creative
outsourcing to dramatically cut the cost of specialist
services care in hospital and within the criminal justice
system.

CareTech's specialist services team works in
partnership with the NHS and social service
departments to ensure a successful transition out of
acufe care and the prison service, delfivering pathways
to an ordinary life. We also have an outstanding track
record for diverting people away from acute care and
supporting them in their own homes. CareTech’s
highly effective care teams are developing new ways
to offer community support solutions and we believe
that this will be an important growth platform in years
to come.

For men with Acquired Brain Injury (ABI} we provide a
range of pathways from rehabilitation through to long
term and end of life care, CareTech offers highly
specialised rehabilitation beds as well as a step down
provision of community based beds.

Young People Residential Services

For a relatively small number of children, residential
care offers a safe and helpful solution for their care
needs and CareTech has developed an extensive
range of highly fechnical care and education
environments where those children will thrive.

Our residential provision offers high staff ratios and
highly skilled carers, capable of ensuring both safety
and progression. These are high cost services where
we aim for an intensive period of care and a strict
timetable that delivers resujis at a fafr price to
commissioners. As far as practicable we aim to help



foster care family assessments and cngoing suppori to  these children through cur therapeutic care approach

children who remain with their birth famifies and in their family fo move into a more normalised family style
home. environment as soon as it is practicable fo do so.

These services are highly integrated operations with
dedicated staff ratios and may also include on site or
dedicated educational facilities.

Learning Services

Since modern apprenticeships starfed several years ago we have wilnessed a dramatic shift in the way
young people enter the adult workforce. People are increasingly opting for an apprenticeship as an
alternative to or as well as attending University. This was especially true of the Care Sector but a whole new
generation of young people are now looking at the apprenticeship model as their further training of choice.

Through acquisition and the development of established apprenticeship providers CareTech has embraced
the opportunity to capitalise on this change and fo work closely with government agencies fo improve the
guality and skill base of our national workforce. We have chosen ta call our apprenticeship scheme a
Learning Service to reflect the aspiration of the young people we work with.

Although Learming Services provide training across the whole workforce we have naturally developed
experiise within the very extensive social care sector,

Learning services addresses an aduit social care workforce in England of some 1.16m people, 905,000 of
whom work within the independent sector (Skills for Care 2013).

There are 21,200 organisations providing Adult Social Care in England and the majority of these are
operating at far too low a scale to deliver their own training or apprenficeship programmes. Dawn Hodge
Associates received an “Outstanding” from Ofsted in 2017 and has significant market presence in social care
and are well positioned to support both smaller companies as well as corporate providers.

The introduction of the apprenticeship levy has caused a decline in companies offering apprenticeships.
However, the government has a target of 3 million apprenticeships by 2020. (Sourced from Gov.UK).



Adult services
Soclal care services for adults over the age of 18

Aduit Learning diéabilities
Care capacity 2018

1,754

2017 [1,735]
Contribution to Group revenue 54.4% (2017 52.9%)

Sptit by:
- Residential care
- Independent supported living
- Community support services

Specialist Support Services
Care capacity 2018

214

2017 [214]
Confribution to Group revenue 8.2% (2017 9.3%)

Split by:
- Residential care
- Independent supported living
- Community outreach

Children services

Social care services for children and Young People up to the age of 18

Foster Care Split by:

Care capacity 2018 ~ Residential care of children and young
people

301 - Family assessments in the home

2017 [301]

Contribution to Group revenue 4.4% (2017 b.2%}

Young People Residential Services Split by: i

Care capacity 2017 - Residential care of chiidren and young
peopie

353 - Education services for children and young
people

2017 [284]

Contribution to Group revenue 31.6% {2017 26.4%)

Learning Services Split by:

Apprentices 2018

266

2017 [509]
Contribution to Group revenue 1.4% {2017 6.2%)

- Pre employment programmes
- Development programmes
- Apprenticeships




EXTRAORDINARY QUALITY

Quality and expertise

Delivering quality to achieve positive cutcomes for our individuals is at the heart of the organisation. Our
approach is to employ well qualified and skilled professionals who can ensure that we consistently exceed
the expectation of our service users, their families, social workers and commissioners.

Placing people in the care of organisations that you ¢an trust

The business of care is predicated on relationships, as much as it is on the practical support and guidance
that we offer on a daily basis. Troubled children need the warmth and challenging support of their care
workers while disabled aduits make best progress within the trust that a great relationship brings.

We are also mindful that social workers will prefer to place people in the care of organisations that share
their commitment to optimism for service users, that they can rely on and deliver outstanding value.

EXTRAORDINARY CHOICE

We fundamentally befieve in choice for all our clients and our determination to provide this choice in all our
services is uppermost in our cornmercial thinking.

Client focused innovative care pathway approach

Care and support is characterised by optimism and a genuine belief in the abilities of our service users.
Everyone we support has an opporfunify to make progress in their lives and cur professional teams work
hard to help those people understand how {o move forward. Many years ago we began to describe our
services as a Care Pathway, making clear our infention to break away from the old belief that care Is for Jife.
We have delivered on this commitment and everyone we support, from young children to profoundly disabled
adults, shares our approach to maximise their independence. This is great for service users, rewarding for
our staff and sfrengly supported by those who commission and support our services.

Innovate care pathways

One of the characteristics that differentiates CareTech from the average provider is our commitment to
opportunity. l.ong before it became fashionable we infroduced the concept of a Care Pathway to reflect our
optimism that users of our services can make progress in their lives. We were never content to accept that
someone in residential care should always be in residential care and developed alternatives at an early stage

in our development as a Group.
EXTRAORDINARY GROWTH

CareTech is a public company which operates throughout England, Scotland and Wales. Our target in the
next few years is to continue to grow and to combine this with care excellence. We continue to consolidate

in a growing and highly fragmented market.

National presence
CareTech is very well known as a care company in public cwnership that operates throughout Engtand,
Scotland and Walss, Our national presence is reinforced through conferences and publications where the

CareTech view Is frequently sought and taken inte account,

Strong brand
Financial security, probity and reliability combine to offer confidence in the CareTech brand. We offer high

guality services with a strong ethical and value base with the benefits of scale, operating within friendly and
trusted local service businesses.



Group Chairman’s Statement
Celebrating 25 years in business

As previous press releases have mentioned, the sad and untimely death of the Group Finance Directer,
Michael Hill, | wish to express my own thoughts on this tragic event.

| first met and started working with Michael in 2010. Michaei very quickly became an integral part of the
CareTech family and in the ensuing years, particularly throughout significant periods of growth in the
Group and its structure, | came to rely on Michael's financial wisdom and his calmness during long periods
of negotiations. His innate professionalism and exemplary work ethic was widely respected by his peers.

Michael had a charming and exuberant personality and was much loved both by all who worked for
Caretach. He was a shining light in treating people with both fairness and compassion.

Michael was my good friend and colleague for over eight years and 1 will miss him.
Another successful year creating a transformational platform for further expansion

| am privileged to present our results for the period ended 30 September 2018 being our 25 year in business.
This is a reat milestone for CareTech and has proven to be another exceptionally busy and successful year,

with the key highlights being:

« Accelerated organic initiatives including property purchases and reconfigurations

» Fyrther strengthening of our management team and investrnent in IT systems

= Strengthening of our Care Pathways and outcomes for our service users

» improvement on CQC and OFSTED Quality Ratings across the Group

e Exciting initiatives and parinerships launched by the CareTech Charitable Foundation

* Agreed highly complementary and significantly accretive acquisition of Cambian Group plc

It is really pleasing to note that, over these years, we continue fo maintain our position as a leading care provider
with our Improved quality ratings across the Group.

[ am personally reminded of our very humble beginnings all the way back in 1993, from our very first home in
44 The Avenue, Watford. Having just completed the Cambian acquisition post year end, we now have a national
presence with over 450 homes and schools in the UK with around 10,000 staff supporting some 4,500
vulnerable young people and adutts. This has been an incredible journey that has only been possible due to
the hard work and dedication of each and everyone one of our staff that make up the CareTech familyl

As we celebrated our 4% year of our National Care Awards on the 23" of November many of our staff were
there and received acknowledgement and thanks for their hard work. Personally it was so touching to have one
of the parents, whose son was placed in our second home known as Morven Park back in 1994, pay tribute to
the company for the care and support provided to her son for the 17 years he was with us. We are pleased
that we still have an active engagement with her after her son sadiy passed away. It is a testament to the
relationship we build with the nearest and dearest of those we stupport.

When we set up CareTech all those years ago our underlying vision was very simple.

We wanted fo build the very best designed homes, furnish them to the highest of standards and maich this
with an innovative person centric care and support package. We wanted to be different and create a feeling
that parents, carers, care managers felt so overwhelmed with our unique offering that they instantly wanted -
to move in themselves! We saw this reaction over many of the homes we opened and this created a buzz in

the sector!



And s0 25 years on, our underlying vision remains the same. We will endeavour fo develop the best designed
and furnished homes — ones that we would be happy fo live in ourselves. Coupled with this we will provide
the bespoke support for our service users as we would want to provide for cur nearest and dearest. If we
sincerely stick to these simple principies we will always be at the forefront of our industry and, as a resulf,
the financial metrics will fake care of themselves.

Accordingly below is a summary of our financial results for this year are where:-

s Revenue has increased by 11.9% to £185.7m

+ Underlying EBITDA has increased by 10.0% to £43.9m

» Uinderlying profit before tax has increased by 11.9% to £32.9m

» Undenlying basic EPS at 35.07p per share

» Net Assets increased by 2,0% fo £208.2m (2017: £204.2m)

s Cash inflows from operating activities before non-underlying items of £39.1m (2017: £32.7m) with
net debt @ of £147.0m (2017; £147.1m)

» Full year dividend increased by 13.6% to 7.5p

All of the above mentioned initiatives demonstrate a solid performance on delivery of both the key financial and
non-financial metrics and put the Group in a strong position to target further underlying EPS growth going
forward.

The results are especially pleasing as management have had an exiremely busy year producing solid financial
year on year metrics whilst

« continuing with a significant number of organic and reconfiguration initiatives
» jmproving care quality ratings across all service segments
= maintaining strong occupancy across the portfolio of homes

» achieving indusiry leading staff retention rates

» completing post year end, the fransformational and highly complementary and accretive acquisition of
Cambian Group plc

* enlarged Group property porifolioc vajuation updated as part of the fransaction at £774m

Management have done exiremely well to manage these various work streams whilst ensuring the core
business moves forward on alt fronis.

The Group has stood out from its peers as a company that can successfully combine quality, integrity and
sound financia! acumen and has consistently achieved good care guality ratings. Our credibility as the provider
of cholee has never been stranger and we continue our successful growth strategy with a confident outlook.

Continuing with our strong organic growth, ence again the Group has purchased a number of properties
including Red Rock, Therngarth, and Qaklea. Further investment has also been made during the year on
previous purchases with over £1.2m invested in Beacon Reach, a school run by ROC Northwest, and £1.1m
on Hidelow scheol in Shropshire, All of these projects will deliver incremental earnings are they reach mature
occupancy. Pleasingly, RCC Norihwest has won the coveied Laing and Buisson Award in Social Care for

Children’s Services.

During 2018, we again closed several services for reconfiguration which impacted the growth in revenue.
Offsetting this, there are improved fees following reconfiguration plus the impact of cost saving initiatives and
the time and attendance system has further improved underlying EBITDA. The Group's organic development
programme will continue with further reconfigurations and, for 2019 we have a strong pipeline of development
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opportunities with one property purchased soon after the year end.

The Group continue to ook at a number of other acquisition opportunities and are confident that there will be
further opportunities in the coming year.

In the 13 years since joining AlM, the business has transformed from being very focused on supporting adults
with a leaming disabilify through residential and day care settings to one where foday we cater for young pecple
and children with comiplex needs across a range of settings, be it residential, supported living or community
support. We focus on the most complex and vulnerable young people and the market for this client group
stands at over £10bn. There is currently an undersupply of specialist beds in this niche area and the market s

growing by almost 3% per annum.

Over the years we have developed a range of care pathways and helped many that we support to live more
independently. This is a fantastic outcome for both us and the individuals that we support and it also helps lacal
authorities meet the ever increasing cost of social care provision.

Shortly after the year end the Acquisition of Cambian Group ple was completed.

Cambian is a leading Children’s specialist education and behavioural health service provider. The Gambian
Group's services have a specific focus on Children who present high severity needs with challenging
behaviours and complex care requirements. Cambian currently looks after over 2,000 children and employs
over 4,500 people across a portfolio of 222 residential facilities, specialist schools and fostering offices

located in England and Wales.

Even with the significant growth we have achieved to date, and also with the Cambian acquisition post year
end, we still have less than 5% of this very large and fragmented market. With the increasing regulatory burden,
the opportunity for further consolidation is even more attractive.

Dividend

‘The Group policy has been to increase the total dividend per year broadly in line with the movement in
underlying diluted earnings per share.

In 2018 there was a slight reduction in underlying diluted earnings per share of (2.96p) mainly due fo the
share placement in March 2017, which increased the number of shares in issue. The Board has proposed
a final dividend of 7.5p (2017: 6.60p) per share bringing the total dividend for the year to 11.0p (2017: 9.50p)
per share. This represents a full year increase of 11.1% year on year. The final dividend will be paid, subject
fo shareholder approval, on 8 May 2019, with an ex-dividend date of 7 March 2019 and an associated record

date of 8 March 2018.

Qur Board

There have been no changes to the Board during the year. Providing the foundation for further growth, the
Senior Executive Team at CareTech has been strengthened by a number of senicr appaintments during the

year.

During the year the Remuneration Committee, the Audift Committee and the Care Geovernance and
Safeguarding Committee were unchanged.

As sfafed in the prospectus accompanying the Cambian acquisition it is our intention o add two additional
independent non-executive directors to the Board within three months of Completion of this acquisition.
Alongside additlonal hon-executive appointments it is expected that, fallowing our acquisition of Purple Zest,
Mike Adams will become an executive director of the Group.

Our people

We have completed our planned evolution into two well defined operating divisions, Children Services and
Adult Services, and this has generated organisational efficiencies. Simplifying the structure has also
supported planning and service delivery with a more powerful approach to development.
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Our continuing growth, measurable success and forward-looking approach are a reflection of the hard work
and dedication of staff and managers throughout the organisation. t am always drawn to the achievements
of our excellent front line staff, which is inevitable as we are first and foremost a care organisation. Their
care and commitment would be much less without the dedicated support of our administrators and support
teams whose hard work and energy is critical to the success of our Company and the care we provide.

In March 2018, the Company announced the creation of the CareTech Sharesave Scheme, a Government
supported method for any of our staff to have the opportunity to participate in the Company’s equity. In
October 2017, we announced a second CareTech Sharesave Scheme and 259 members of staff chose to
join this new saving schetme. We plan to infreduce another CareTech Sharesave Scheme early in 2019 as
this is one part of our staff retention strategy.

With the launch of the CareTech Charitable Foundation in May 2017 | am pleased that we were able to
support members of the CareTech family even more. The Foundation has ambitious and clear sighted
objectives to deliver meaningful impact to communities in the UK and overseas about which the staff of the
Group and its service users feel proud and strongly-engaged, providing a unique confribution to the charitable
marketplace consistent with the Group’s values and approach.

Post Balance Sheet Events — Acquisition of Cambian Group pic and new Banking facilities

As mentioned In my report above, | am exiremely pleased to report that we completed the Acguisition of
Cambian Group plc on 19 October 2018 following the Rule 2.7 Offer on 16 August 2018 and the Prospectus

on 19 September 2018.

Work began on this Project at the beginning of the year and after several approaches and considerable due
diligence it was pleasing to issue the Rule 2.7 Offer in August.

This offer could only be made with Shareholder Support, Banking Support and the agreement of the Cambian
Board of Direclors.

Shareholder support through Rule 2.4 {revocable Undertakings in July to the revised possible offer was
important to being able to make a Recommended Offer for Cambian Group pic in August. The Rule 2.7 Offer
was made with 9 Immevocable Undertakings from Cambian plc Shareholders plus the Directors and 2

CareTech Holdings PLC Shareholders plus the Directors. | am very grateful for the support of our
shareholders during this acquisition. 1 also welcome to the enlarged Group the new CareTech Shareholders

who were Cambian Shareholders that tock the Headline Offer.

Financing support was provided by Lloyds Bank PLC and National Westminster Bank PLC as Mandated
Lead Arrangers who provided a Term and Revolving Facilities Agreement with total commitments of £438.7m
in suppert to the Rule 2.7 Offer. Subsequently this was successfully syndicated and the final Bank draw
down was £427.1m. | am grateful to the Banks for their backing.

The Board of Cambian Graup plc played a key role in professionally dealing with our approaches and working
well with the CareTech team during the due difigence process.

Now that the acquisition has completed we -are working with the Competition and Markets Authority and
planning I.T. infegraticn. This is an exciting phase post acquisition and in the coming manths | look forward
to meeting more members of the Cambian team when | visit services.

Outioock and Prospects

We operate in a growing social care market worth over £10 billion per annum and we are well positioned to
meet market demand. We have developed outcome based care pathways which deliver value based
services for our Local Authority partners.

With the new fong term Banking facilities and solid free cash flow generated from the enlarged Group, we
[ook forward to the integration of Cambian during 2018.
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Their focus on children who present high severity needs with challenging behaviours and complex care
requirements is an excellent fit alongside the CareTech Children’s services, and this extension of current
care pathways and geographic presence is a major cpportunity to the enlarged Group.

We have major investment plans for 2019 and beyond with key new organic developments and bolf-cn
acquisitions. Importantly, we also continue to see how we can enhance further, the use of technology as a
validation of our work as well as for diagnostic and assessment purposes, whilst exploring international
market opportunities and in particular the GCC. We will further strengthen our management team offering a
forceful blend of experience, commercial wisdom and dedication {o care. | have no doubt that the next few

Group Executive Chairman
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Strategic Report

The Directors present their Strategic Report on the Group for the year ended 36 September 2018. In preparing
this report, the Directors have complied with $414C of the Companies Act 2008. The Strategic Report should
be read in conjunction with the Strategic Review for the Group which includes the Highlights, Group ata glance,
Chaiman's Statement, Strategic Report, the Chief Executive’s Statement and Performance Review and

Financial Review.
Creating sustainable value in our markets

Dur Market

The care market in which the Group operates is a UK market worth an estimated £10bn per annum across the
Adult Services for adults over the age of 18 and Children Services for children and young people up o the age
of 18.

The principal driver for cormmmissioners in local authorities and the NHS is value. This is interpreted by them as
the optimurm balance between quality and price, but has an underpinning criterion determined by “outcomes”.
CareTech has been aligned to this set of purchasing principals and we work closely with commissioners to
ensure that we stay in tune with their approach to market management.

Most providers of social care have fewer than three services and this huge, fragmented range of providers
dominates the market However, the market has been steadily consolidating and a very small number of large
“corporate” providers have emerged, with CareTech being one of the bigger players within the non-elderly care
sector. Numerically the large providers will have a very small minority of the market capacity and all the
evidence suggests that consolidation will continue, perhaps accelerate, during the foreseeable future.

Althcugh the available resources to purchase social care remain largely static there is a known increase in
gemand across the whole specfrum, presenting purchasing bodies with a cenundrum, One response has been
fo move money away from the NHS in order o aliow local authorities greater purchasing power. However, the
most significant change has been to a system of aggressive rafioning. This has focused meney on the areas
of highest need such as complex children, very disabled or complex people with learning difficuities and hospital
discharge schemes. This is where CareTech has developed its provision and helps to explain why spending
cuts have had minimal impact on the Group.




*Adult Services

Adutt Learning Disabilities
- Resldential care
- Independent supported living
- Community support services

Specialist Services
- Residential care
- Independent supported living
- Community outreach

People

78,000 in the UK cannot live
independently

People

13% of the UK population have specific
mental disorders

Market for residential I[earning
disabilities and supported living
worth an annual

£5.8bn

NHS/LA total spend on specialist services
is worth an annual

£10.1bn

**Children Services

Foster Care

- Fostering
- Family assessmenits in the home

Young People Residential Services

- Residential care of children and young
people

- Education services for children and
young people

People

51,850

Placed in foster care in England

People

10,085
Children in UK looked after outside foster
care.

Foster Care market across England
worth

£1.57bn

Residential children’s markef across UK
worth

£1.39bn

Market growth rate

1.5% pa

Market growth rate

1.2% pa

*Data from Laing and Buisson Adult Specialist Care 27 edition 2016/2016 report
**Data from Laing and Buisson Ghildren's Services Market Report 3™ edition 2017 report

15



A strategy to drive future growth

Our Business Model represents how we aim to generate revenue and profit from our operations.

Our Business Model

The Group aims to operate throughout mainiand Britain in England, Wales and Scofland in partnership with
local authorities and the NHS, facilitating the outsourcing process, driving value and removing risk.

During the peried, the Group continued to develop and grow organically four existing operating divisions, which
come under the two outcome-based sectors of Adult Services and Children Services. These four operating
divisions are supported by the Learning Services Division. The growth going forward is underpinned by the
strong starting position that we have built carefully over the past few years. We continue to extend both our
geographic coverage and our ouicome based Care Pathway range of services organically and through the
purchase and sale of properties to meet the needs of our marketplace, specifically the requirement for greater
acuity service provision. This ensures that CareTech is in a very strong position fo address the demands of
our evolving markeiplace.

Our resources
The key resources thati we require to provide care are:

People fo provide care
Staff and carers who have appropriate skills and qualities to look after children or adults in need of care and

whe remain fully frained.

People with skills fo manage, train and support our people who provide care
Skilled staff fo provide the management and fraining to our people who provide care.

Buildings, homes and land
The !and and buildings fo provide accommodation for residential services or supported living.

Financial rescurces
Financial stability to be able to employ the right staff and to provide the right land and buildings.

Setting out our key strategic priorities

We shall continue to improve the quality and scope of our services, increase market share and grow
shareholder value.

Our strategy

Cur understanding of the social care market and our relationships with local authority commissioners is vital to
our strategy. VWe are sensitive to the complex financial position that local autharities are in and their need to
have trusted business parthers who can help them deliver statutory dufies efficiently and with care.

Soctial Care expertise
Employing numercus gualified and skilled care workers, foster carers, feachers and managers, the CareTech
front line tearns are supported by a wide range of high level professionals such as social workers, nurses,

therapists, psychologists and a skiled Medical Director with oversight of all interventions.

i
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High quality
The driver for social care is an crganisation’s ability to deliver high quality care, with reliable outcomes at a fair
price. We believe that the market has recognised that CareTech offers the best possible balance between

quality and value and understands the need for progressive thinking and innovation fo deliver ongoing results.

Nationwide locations
The CareTech strategy is to oifer a strong national presence with local brands and regional service defivery
points. This supports development of local relationships while offering the comfort and security of a well

rescurced and strong Group.

Excellent reputation
The CareTech brand is strong and our extensive relationships across the UK are robust. This is reinforced by

our presence at major industry events where we have been reliable sponsors and commentators. The most
effective way that we sustain our reputation is by delivering what we promise for the peopie we support and by
treating our staff well.

High occupancy
CareTech services are in demand and occupancy has remained high despite fears of Iocal authority austerity

impacting referrals. What's more, the nature of referrals in recent years has been toward the more complex
end of the spectrum.

Continued growth
It is well known that demographic frends show growth in social care in the foreseeable future,

Shareholder value
CareTech has delivered sustainable and reliable growth since the day it listed. t has aimed to be a defensible

stock even in difficult imes and for some time has offered a goed guality dividend policy. We have every reason
to believe that growth will continue and the management team remains enthusiastic about the Group’s future.
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Our KPls help us to measure the Group's performance against ifs strategy and objectives.

Underlying EBITDA

£43.9m

(2017: £39.9m)

How this is calculated

Underlying EBITDA is the Earnings hefore Interest, Tax and Depreciation for
the year excluding non-underlying items such as amortisation of intangible
assets which are fully described in note 5 fo the Financial Statements.

Performance this year

The underlying EBITDA has improved by £4.0m - 10% year on year. This
reflects the organic growth achieved by the core business which has been
in part reduced by the reconfiguration work on soma propertias, improved
margins and acquisitions.

{Underlying profit aiter tax
and non controlling inferest

£26.5m

(2017: £26.6m)

How this is calculated

Underlying is the Group’s profit after provision for taxation excluding nen-
underlying items such as amortisation of intangible assets after fax which
are fully described in note 5 to the Financial Statements.

Performance this year

The underlying profit after tax is 0.4% lower than 2017. This refiects the
improved underlying EBITDA , but with higher finance charges and an
increased tax provision the profit after tax fell slightly.

Underlying basic EPS

35.07p

(2017: 38.03p)

How this is calculated

| Underlying basic eamnings per share is the profit after tax divided by the

weighted number of ordinary shares which are fully described in notes 10
and 11 to the Financial Statements.

Performance this year

The underlying basic earnings per share has reduced to 35.07p mainly
due to the fuli impact of the shares issued in March 2017,

| Net Debt

£147.0m

(2017: £147.1m)

How this is calculated

Net Debt is defined in the Group’s banking facilifies and comprises the
halance at the year-end for cash and cash equivalents net of bank loans
outstanding and finance lease and hire purchase contract monies
outstanding to the Group’s bankers. [t does not include the finance lease
obligations as calculated under IAS 17 arising from the ground rent
transaction which is not owed to the Group’s bankers.

Performance this year

Bank debt at 30 September 2018 was £147.0m which Is a reduction of
£0.1m from 30 September 2017 of £147.1m. Finance leases with the
Group's bankers at the year-end were £4.7m (2017 £6.0m} with the
decrease due principally to the lease repayments net of the new
Investment in 36 new home vehicles during the year, which take our fleet
to 480 vehicles. Net Debt in total reduced by £0.1m between 30
September 2017 and 30 September 2018.




Capacity A
2,622 places

(2017: 2,534 places)

How this is calculated

The Group's capacity is the total number of Adult Service and Children
Service places that the Greup is able to offer at that date. 1tis a total including
residentiai care beds, independent supported living accommodation,
community support service users and chitdren that foster carers can curently

look after.
Performance this year
Overall capacity has increased by 88 which is 3.4% increase.

Adult Learning new homes increased capacity by 69.There were 69 new beds in
Children’s and 50 beds were withdrawn for reconfiguration.

Mature Estate Occupancy
93%

(2017:93%)

Blended occupancy
86%

(2017:86%)

How this is caiculated

The Mature Estate Occupancy is the tofal number of Adult and Children
Service Users placed in services that were open throughout the year.

Performance this year

The ratio has remained unchanged at 93% and reflects the long length of stay
that the majcrity of service users have in our services.

How this is calculated

Blended occupancy is the tata! number of Adult and Children Service Users
actually placed as a percentage of the Group’s fotal capacity and so reflects
facilities undergoing development and reconfiguration,

Performance this year

The ratio has remained at 86% and reflects the additional beds in
reconfigured services brought back into capacity and the reduction in those
withdrawn for reconfiguration pius new beds coming into service.
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Principal risks and our strategic response

Social care is a long-term contract with the public sector and is inherently free of risk so long as quality is
maintained, outcomes are achieved and the price is right. However social care does carry risks that will always
be at the forefront of our minds. The most obvious risk is that a tragedy will occur and that the Company will
be held to blame. To date this has not cecurred but we take the risk very serously. Our principai risk
management stratagy is to ensure that our staff are recruited well, are fralned and supervised properly and are
subject to rigorous duality oversight. In addition we know from experience that processes and documentafion
must be very carefully ohsarved and constanfly reviewed to ensure that it protects service users and provides
the Company with a defendable position in the case of tragedy.

These matters, along with general safeguarding are subject to intense scrutiny by our in house compliance and
quality teams and Board level oversight.

Managing risk and mitigating risk

Social care is not a high risk business proposition but there are several unigue factors that could cause
difficulties. These centre on the way in which care and support are provided and the refiability of those front
line staff who provide it. CareTech approaches these issues with considerable care and diligence, building in
quality and fraining wherever it is required but aisc through its established scrutiny protocols and firm
leadership. We care a great deal about what we do and have established a reputation for careful management
of all those processes that could expose us to risk.

We have thoroughly reviewed our operations. The Group trades only within the UK and has no foreign
exchange exposure. We have limited exposure to nursing staff and the E.U. labour market Our primary
recruitment is focused on the UK labour market for support staff and the recruitment of new staff is the factor
that we are managing and we continue to monitor closely.

In 2017 the Apprenticeship Levy was introduced and we are confident that the Learning Division through DHA
is well placed fo take full advantage of the new market structure.

Our risks

All providers of health and social care are conscious of the need for management vigilance and the requirement
to have a thorough commitment to delivering care that is safe and of a high quality. CareTech's approach to
quality and safe service delivery is characterised by a mixture of a dedicated compliance team carrying out
regular audits of inspection and a commitment to building quality into everything we do.

The market for the provision of social care services continues {o be dynamic, presenting both risks and
opportunities. The overall number of people needing support will increase, and a smallet proportion of them
wilf be placed into residential services. Those whe do need a residentiai care soiution will have more complex
needs and are likely to require a wider range of services, including clinical and therapeutic support. Our
operational management teams are already focusing on the delivery of high quality care. As we move forward
this will become increasingly specialised with the benefit of professional qualified care co-ordinaters who will
prepare and direct personalised care plans within the services.

Most service users will ba supported in their own homes through domiciliary care or in more formal supported
living arrangements. This is a major growth area for care providers and CareTech already has a solid reputation
for its high quality and flexible solutions. Wa are building this to a higher level and refining our organisational
structure to build more rapidly on cur successes ta date.

. Service offer and user needs

We have to create and staff a service offering which matches the needs of the sefvice user and can
be communicated to commissioners so it is carefully recerded [ccally at svery service in order to reduce
the risk of service users moving to other service providers.




Quality and safety

A health and safety breach would impact reputation, brand and compromise the safety of those in our
care. This could impact on the demand for our business as well as incur costs to rectify. We have to
provide and deliver safe care of a high guality and the Group utilises Acoura, an independent supplier,
to audit and report monthly on Health and Safety matters as well as all RIDDORS (Reporting of injuries,
Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations) so that all incidenis are recorded and acted upon.

. Service value

The service offer has to be provided to meet the needs of the commissioners at a fair price and this is
coming under increased scrutiny as commissioners regularly review value for money so the Group
communicates frequently with its commissioners locally.

Reputation

The Group has to have a reputation for delivering a service that is good value and takes account of aff
risks. The Graup maintains a Risk Register which includes all key risks, including reputational risk, and
how they are mitigated though quality of service and good communication with service users and Local

Authariies and this Risk Register is reviewed monthly.

. Growth funding

So that the Group can keep growing adequate funding has te be anticipated and put in place and the
Group ensures that all of its faciliies are monitored and reviswed regularly in particular during its
Budget and forecasting processes.

. Manage debt

The level of debt obtained to fund operations and ensure that growth can ocecur has to be carefully
managed and the different forms of leasing and debt are reviewed quarterly when all of the covenants

are 8)so reviewed.

By order of the Board

Farouq Sheikh
Group Executive Chairman



Group Chief Executive’s Statement and Performance Review

A strong foundation built over 25 years

Overview

[ am pleased to report again on a successful year that reflects the hard work of our management team, the
enthusiasm of our staff and the support of our Board.

The Group has continued fo build upon its solid foundations and remains in a streng position to continue as
a leading provider of high quality specialist social care services in a large and growing UK market which

remains fragmented.

The Group has also continued to develop through organic growth and reconfigurations and has further
strengthened an experiehced management team with skilled leaders.

In 2017, | was extremely proud with the estaklishment of the CareTech Charitable Foundation which is
devoted to supperiing the social care sector. There have been a number of key long term projects started
in the year both in the UK and abroad. This is further discussed in the Corporate Social Responsibility section

of the report.

There have been a number of staff initiatives fo aid retention inciuding the second Sharesave Scheme and
a Level 5 in Care Managament training scheme for Managers.

On 12 October 2018 the recommendsad acqulisition of Cambian by the Group was completed. | would fike to
take this apportunity to welcome Anne Marie Carrie as Chief Operating Officer, and the whole Cambian staff
team, as well as the 2,000 children who use their services, to the CaraTech Group.

| strongly believe thatthe CareTech offerings in learning difficullies and specialist services for adults including
residential services and fostering for young people, is highly complementary to Cambian's pesitions in
children’s residential care, specialist education and tharapeutic fostering. Furtharmore the geographic reach
of the services has been broadened, now providing a nationwide network.

We are now idsally positioned fo better serve local authority partners and communities with an integrated
care offering, to provide best value to purchasers and successful outcomes for our service users.

Consolidation and creating new opportunities

CareTech remains at the forefront of social care outsourcing in the UK across both Children and Adult
services and, in the year, there has been a further increase in working closely with commissloners and
regulators.

National public policy continues to be a significant driver of local authority commissioning intentions and
behaviour. For a number of years, public policy has encouraged greater personalisation of health and social
care for adults. Commissioners and leading providers are driving change that will mean offering people more
choice and control over the care, treatment and support they receive while at the same time maintaining the

quality and safety of those services,

Our care priorities drive successful outcomes for our service users and foilow closely the guidance from
central Government.

Our key focus for delivering quality services and positive outcemes is supported by the following key
factors:

Communication

e We have open and frank dialogue with our service users, their families and social workers, as well
oL oL - Lo Y




as the Regulators,

Independence

« In our sociai care and health contracts we aim to help our service users to return to an ordinary
independent life. It may be children who can return to their birth families or live independently. It
may be adults who we can help on the pathway to recovery following a specialist services
breakdown, or acquired brain injury or people with learning disability who we can support fowards

independent living.

Housing care and support

¢ We know that most people aspire to have a place of their own, employment and ongoing support.
We have structured our services, developing new provision and creative partnerships with housing
providers fo enable these aspirations to be achieved whenever possible and we are tailoring training
to assist young people and aduits leaving our services to gain employment.

Self-directed support

e [t is pivotal to government policy that adulfs and children receiving social care are fully engaged in
the support that they require, With some adults this extends to the provision of a cash sum enabling
them to purchase their care and support directly. CareTech managers have been further reviewing
our systems and delivering training throughout the organisation to ensure that we are able to deliver
the requirements of self-directed support.

Quality and dignity

= CareTech has always delivered high quality care in well maintained premises. However, we have
never been complacent about this and have undertaken reviews to ensure that we deliver the right
quality at a reasonable price. We have also leamed a great deal from the experience of cur NHS
colleagues and developed a Dignity Test to ensure that our front line and adminisirative staff treat

all our clients in ways that promote dignity.

Progress in the year

The year has seen continued progress as the Group concentrates on the introduction of innovative new
services developed in partnership with local authority commissioners reconfigured from within our existing
portfolio of properiies or through new properties either purchased or rented for service users for supported
living.

Overall capacity has increased by 88, with a net 18 in Adult Services whilst Childrens Services have added
69 beds In the year principally in 9 services.

The Group also continues to realise the benefit of organisationa! improvements put in place over the past
few years. We have continued to strengthen aur management sfructure with further senior appointments
planned and to improve the efficiency of our processes following further investment in new systems which
have gone live or we are working on now, We are seeing the benefifs of new execufive appeintments which
continue to have a positive impact across the services.

New systems were procured during the year for the Group’s recruitment and training solutions including e-
learning with standard automated reports as well as for maintenance, hosfing, data apalytics and e-
compliance in order to benefit from cutting edge technology.

These improvements have put us in a strong position to benefit from a number of the commissioning
opportunities by working in partnership with the NHS and Local Authorities.
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Care Pathway Range and Services

The Group’s focus remains the provision of specialist social care through ifs five divisions. This Is
underpinned by a well-defined range of provisions which meet the commissioner requirements. These
services are now even more extensive and focused on providing high quality care and positive outcomes for
all of our service users.

The Group has confinued fo develop and grow its existing five operating divisions, which come under the
two cutcome-based sectors of Adult Services and Children Services. We continue to extend both our
geographic coverage and our outcome-based Care Pathway range of services organically through the
purchase of properties to meet the needs of our marketplace, specifically the requirement for greater acuity
service provision for both Children and Young People and Adults. This ensures that CareTech is in a very
strong position to address the demands of our evolving marketp]éce.

We remain committed fo the growth of residential care solutions for adults and children with the most complex
needs and the Group has embracad the development of home based solutions including foster care where
demand for more specialist services remains strong. Our residential care services far children cater for young
people with particulardy difficul issues and offer a national service; with strong growth seen in the North of
England with ROC Northwest which has expanded both in care and educational services. In the year we
have purchased properties in Scotland and North West England for both Spark of Genius and ROC
Northwest o develop info new services. Our adult services offer a solid and reliable provision across the
whole spectrum of service offerings which now inciudes acquired brain injuries and we see a particular
volume demand in the area of supported living, balanced by renewed demand for more spechlised
residential care solutions,

Our strategy is to offer a bespoke range of options so that we can maintain the Care Pathways that distinguish
us from other providers.

Overview of progress

Our focus during the past year has continued to be further building on the businesses which established the
Care Pathways whilst infroducing innovative new solutions fo meet the challenges faced by care
commissioners and then adding newly acquired businesses with complementary offerings.

Capacity has increased by 88 places principally because we have continued to reconfigure services and
added new beds through acquiring properties. Occupancy levels within our mature services remain at a
creditable 93%, or 86% when taking into account our services under development and fransition.

Much has been written about parsonalisation and [ felt it would be useful to set out our own understanding
and commiiment to personalisation.

Personalisation to us means recognising people as individuals who have strengths and preferences and
putting them at the centre of their own care and support.

The traditional service-led approach has often meant that people have not been able to procure the Kind of
support they need, or receive tailored care assistance. Personalised approaches such as self-directed
support and persanal budgets involve enabling people to identify their own needs and make choices about
how and when they are supported fo live their lives.

Our two business divisions of Adult Services and Children Services comprise the following four Care
Paithways and our Learning Services division.
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1. Adult Leamning Disabilities
Year to 30 September 2018

Revenue £101.0m (2017: £87.7m)
Contribution to Group Revenue 54.4% (2017 52.9%)
Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs £27.0m (2017: £26.3m)
Capacity 1,764 (2017: 1,735)

Adult Learning Disabilifies provides individually failor-made solutions for pecple living in their own homes,
residential care or independent supported living schemes. We can work with clients to deliver self-directed

support packages.

For some people residential care will continue as the preferred option and we increasingly offer several types
of supported living and packages of individualised seif-directed suppori to peopie in their own homes.

This includes adult residential care homes, independent supported living and community support services.

We have continued fo work closely with Local Authority and NHS commissioners and this has heiped us fo
achieve our growth through the past year, We take a long-term view, recognising that change wil] continue
and with this in mind | am pleased to report that redevelopment of some of our leng stay residential provision
has been a great success over the past year and will continue to meet the changing requirements of
commissioners and families.

The market for high acuity care and the support of people with learning disability is growing year on year.
Demand for lower acuity support has been impacted by the cuts in local autherity expenditure but this is not
an area of activity in which CareTech operates. Conversely, resources for thuse will the highest level of
need are being maintained and increased in some local authorities.

During the past year we have withdrawn 50 places in services for reconfiguration intc new care models and
have developed 26 beds through reconfiguration plus an additional 43 beds have been brought into service.

2. Specialist Sarvices
Year to 30 September 2018
Revenue £15.3m (2017: £15.5m)
Contribution to Group Revenue 8.2% (2017: 9.3%)
Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs £4.4m (2017: £3.9m)
Capacity 214 (2017: 214)
|

Specialist Services comprise the Adult Mental Health Services and Oakleaf Care (Hartwell).

Capacily is unchanged in Specialist Services during the year.

The principal reason for the increase in underlying EBITDA is an improved Margin.

Specialist Services works in parinerships with the NAS to ensure a successful transition out of acute care,
delivering pathways to independence. We have an outstanding track record for helping people away from
acute care and supporting them in their own homes.
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The adult services for this Care Pathway include a community based hospital, adult residential care homes,
independent supported living and community outreach with some transitional services transferred within the

Group.

Community Specialist Services has always been a critical but relatively neglected area of social care.
Howsaver, this is changing as the NHS drives to lower bed capacity and accelerated early discharge from

acute psychiatric hospital care,

The growth of social care is certain and the response by Govemment to one of the key difficulties is
progressing. There has been some progress in the removal of large numbers of learning disabled people
from the controversial “Treatment and Assessment Centres” operating at various locations throughout the
UK. CareTech has never operated any centres of this type but we understand that the CEO of NHS England
has been tasked with ensuring that these centres are re-provided as a maiter of urgency. CareTech is
seeking opportunities to support the project and fo offer a comprehensive solufion within its community

homes.

We are well positicned for expansion in Specialist Services and have a sustainable infrastructurs to deliver
growth including plans to provide care for women with acquired brain injury in 2018.

3. Foster Care
Year to 30 September 2018

Revenue £8.2m (2017 £8.6m)
Contribution to Group Revenue 4.4% (2017: 5.2%)
Underlying EBITDA before unaliocated costs £1.8m (2017: £1.9m)
Capacity 301 (2017: 301)

Foster Care provides for both mainstream and specialist foster care in small supportive groups across
England and Wales for children with disabilities. We also provide fester care family assessments in the home

rather than in a residential sefting.

The urnchanged capacity, ard fall in revenue but stable underlying EBITDA in Foster Care is due fo the
compefitive nature of the market as well the change fo family assessments in the home. it is also due to
capacity being reported on the basis of the children that carers are able to look after rather than the number

that they are approved for.

This trend is driven by cost considerations, where fostering is considerably less expensive than residential
care and by perceived quality care factors. [t is generally held that fostering in an ordinary family home
delivers better quality than any residential setting. However, the rising tide of fostering has been constrained
hy the challenge of finding foster carers with the right skil! and motivation alongside preference by social
workers fo place within local authority services rather than the independent sector.

In March 2016, 63,718 were looked after in foster care in the UK. Over fime independent agencies have
absorbed a larger proportion of fostering activity, as local authorities have seen their volumes remain static
and their share fall. (LaingBuisson Children’s Services Market Report Third Edition 2017).

Our Foster Care teams and Young People Residential feams are working closely alongside each other to
offer the best outcomes for Young People.

Our market intelligence suggests that most, if not all, independent secior fostering agencies are stil
experiencing some degree of “hold back” at present. However, the consensus view is that this will not last
long and local authorities will inevitably return fo progressive outsouscing of foster care provision.




Qutsourcing is well established in the culture of most local autherities, but the current austerity measures
have led a small number of authorities fo reflect on the 50% fee premium paid for independent fostering. This
disparity of cost can be attributed in part to the fact that the most complex and therefore high cost cases are
placed in the care of independent providers. However, it is also clear that local authorities fail to undertake a
fuil cost analysis of their in-house provision. Wherever this has been done, outsourcing is demonstrably much

better value.

Demand for foster care has increased overall but we have noted an increasing trend among some local
authorities to make provision in-house for all but the most complex children. In our view this is an expensive
and unsustainable approach that exposes local authority commissioners to risk. Our own services are being
maintainad at an acceptable level.

In October 2017 the All Wales Framework for the provision of foster care services outcome was that TI.C
{(Wales) was ranked 1 and was placed in the New Tier 1. Unfortunately, the benefits of this change are taking
longer to come through and turnover last year was lower than anticipated, althcugh the margin improved by

over 1% due to tight cost controls.

Looking forward, we are training our foster carers with the skills required to manage more complex work and
have linked the fostering division with our residential team for children so that we can maintain an effective

care pathway,

4, Young People Residential Services
Year to 30 September 2018
Revenue £58.7m (2017 £43.8m)
Contribution to Group Revenue 31.8% (2017: 26.4%)
Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs £17.0m (2017: £13.2m)
Capacity 353 (2017: 284)

A number of children and young people need to live in specialised residential services and receive education.
As far as practicable we aim to help these children move into a more normalised family style environment.

This segment contains children residential care homes, which includes facilities for children with learning
difficulties and emotional behavicural disorders (*EBD"), and small specialist schools.

In December 2015 ROC Northwest was added and gave a further gecgraphic spread to fit between the
current Children residential services in Scotland (Spark of Genius and ACAD). North Wales (Branas Isaf)
and South Wales (Greenfield) and services in Staffordshire and Yorkshire, it also sirengthened the
residential care and education services for young people with complex needs, especially EBD.

In the year this segment henefited from new services which have added 69 beds fo capacity with additions
to Spark of Genius, ROC Northwest and the original Chitdrens services.

Spark of Genius which provides significant benefits across the division due to their well-established educafion
facilities across Scotland and North East England which complement the ROC Northwest and Welsh
education facilities. [n the year the Educaticn capacity increased by 69 ta close at 353 Young People.

At the Laing Buisson Awards in November 2017 the winners in Social Care for Children's Services was ROC
Northwest.

Children residential services have been growing as our reputation for quality care and support spreads. We
are currently developing new beds and places that have been commissioned during the past year.
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5. L eaming Services
Year to 30 September 2018

Revenue £2.5m (2017: £10.4rm)
Contribution to Group Revenue 1.4% (2017: 6.2%)
Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs £0.5m (2017; £0.9m)

Learning Services comprises Dawn Hodge Associates that is a regional provider specialising in the social
care secfor and was acquired in 2017. This division has been reconfigured and as a result turnover has
reduced and there has been an impairment to goodwill of £2m. However, it is anticipated that the current
year will show an improved parformance once the changas made have taken affect.

Their intensive pre-employment, development and apprenticeship programmes use public funds from the
Skiils Funding Agency to lay the foundations for individuals to achieve their career goals while helping to
provide businesses with the vital skills they need in their workforce.

As well as supporting the workforce, Learning Services has also developed programmes for service users
by enhancing the pathways to independent living and employment. Young People leaving care, for example,
often do not know where to find the right job opportunities or have the opportunity fo access employer-
focused training. We can now bridge that gap by supporting young people as they make the fransition fo
adult life, We are also exploring how best to help individuals return to employment after mental illnass and
to give peaple with learning disabilities the skills and confidence to gain employment so that they are able fo

five more independently.

Progress has been made in identifying the potential for Learning Services to add value to CareTech's
attraction and recruitment of staff and their retention, helping new employses gain the skills and qualifications
to grow a successful career in care through an Apprenticeship.

The Aspire programme developed as a unigue and innovative scheme that will ensure all CareTech’s support
workers receive mandatory and statutory training to the highest standard whilst also being offered the
opportunity to complete a Level 2 or Level 3 Apprenticeship which has been carefully tailored to suit their
role and 140 completed this apprenticeship in the last academic year.

CareTech apprentices continue thelr training with 266 CareTech support workers undertaking the
apprenticeship programme.

The Team Leader programme has 22 staff members on LLevel 5 programmes.

In early 2016 Dawn Hodge Associates retained its Ofsted “Outstanding”™ which is an achievement that we
are very pleased to have attained and provides an excelient base to build upen.

During 2017 with the introduction of the Apprenticeship Levy there have been significant changes to the
Learning sector, but we believe that we are well placed to take advantage of the new market conditions.

However, the Leaming Service Division faced a challenging start to the new Learning sector year. A
reorganisaticn of the management of the division was undertaken and the budget for the rest of 2019 is

expected to show an improvement on last year.
Acquisition of Cambian

As we have outlined.in the prospectus the two businesses will be run with the CareTech and Cambian brands
retained and with no material change to CareTech’s or Cambian’s current operational sites. Qver the coming
months a dedicated plan to review the two businesses will be undertaken with limited disruption to the

underlying operations of each business.
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Within the enlarged Group the CareTech operatiocns come under John lIvers, Chief Operating Officer of
CareTech. Anne Marie Carrie leads the Cambian operations as Chief Operating Officer of Cambian and
both John and Anne Marie report to me as Group Chief Executive Officer.

1 am looking forward to utilising fully the cperational expertise across the enlarged Group which will enable
the creation of a robust and sustainable operating model to better serve local authority partners and service
users. The combined operational expertise will be able to deliver strong service user outcomes, implement
positive staff engagement and improve care quality. in particular, through the combination, Cambian should
be able to leverage CareTech'’s highly developed recruitment and retention functions, which have contributed
to CareTech achieving staff furnover rates of 22.5% which | believe is substantially better than the sector

average.

There is also the opportunity for CareTech’s Leaming Services division, which assists young peecple in
obtaining employment opportunities and apprenticeships, to augment Cambian’s service and care
pathway.

Outlook

The coming year shows every sign of being good for health and social care providers and especially for those
with an established reputation for quality and innovation.

This year there has been signiﬁcant policy development and we see some indicators that local authorities have
recognised the need to maintain, or grow, their social care budgets.

May | also take this opportunity to welcome all staff who have joined the CareTech family and also would
like to thank all of the staff teams across the Group for their hard work and commitment during the past

year.

- - -

Haroon Sheikh
Group Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate Social Responsihility

We have continued Io strive for Jong-asting improvements in our services in a way that is consistent with the
interests and concems of our stakeholder community. As always, the driving force underpinning CareTech’s
operation continues o be the provision of the highest quality of care to our service users.

Established during 2017, the CareTech Foundation is an independent grant-making corporate foundation
registered with the Charity Commission. Funded and founded by the Group, the Foundation has an
independent Board of frustees responsible for delivering its Charitable Objects. The Foundation has ambitious
and clear-sighted objectives to deliver meaningful impact to communities in the UK and overseas about which
the staff of the Group and its service users feel proud and strongly engaged, providing a unigue contribution fo
the charitable markelplace consistent with the Group’s values and approach.

In the year to September 2018 the Group made charitzble donations through the Charity Foundation of
£380,000 (2017: £4,970).

The CareTech Foundation is the first corporate foundation in the UK social care sector, demonstrating the
company’s commitment to wider society and to its staff and its desire fo play a strong leadership role within the
social care sector.

The CareTech Charitable Foundation's work is focused on the following three key objectives:

1) Physical and learning disabilities and Specialist Services. Supporting disabled people and those with
iong-term health difficulties, including those with Specialist Services conditions and complex physical
and learning disabilities.

2) Skills development for the care sector. Skills developmeni for those from deprived and disadvantaged
backgrounds for careers in the care sector.

3} Supporting our communities and the CareTech family. Developing an ambitious corporate social
responsibility programme in partnership with the Group, supporting the family and friends of the
Group's staff facing significant financial, health or similar challenges.

The Foundation's focus is devoted to supporting those in need in the UK and in developing countries overseas.
The CareTech Charitable Foundation delivers its key objectives through the following key approaches:

» Partnership Grant-giving. The CareTech Charitable Foundation supports a small number of
significant partnerships with credible and high-quality charities and social enferprises consistent with
its three key objectives. To be considered for the Foundation's support, any partnership must:

o Involve medium to long-term investments In innovative and high-impact programmes that will
deliver one or more of the Foundation's objectives.
o Demonstrate and be contingent upon on any investment by the Foundation leveraging

additional investment.
o Enable the Foundation to pravide wider in-kind support through the expertise of the Group's

staff, supply chain and wider network.

+» Responsible Business. Strengthening the Greup's strong frack record in recognising s
responsibilities to the environment and communities in which it operates, the Foundation is funded fo
bring together and enhance the Company's responsible business activities. In particular, the
Foundation seeks to mobilise a significant staff volunteering programme, building a porifolio of high-
quality and credible opportunities available to sfaff and relevant to the skills of the business staff and
the local communities in which the Group operates.

» Match-funding. The Foundation provides match-funding to CareTech staffs individual fundraising
efforts for charitable causes in line with the Foundation's Charitable Objects.
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e Family & Friends grants. Modest funding support will be available through the Foundation to support
the family and friends of CareTech staff facing significant challenges over the above that properly
covered by virtue of staff members’ employment contracts.

We care about our service users
Service users are the reason for our existence and satisfying their needs remains our key objective.

As our organisation grows, we striive to maintain a culture which never forgets the imporiant relationship we
have with our service users. We seek fo nuriure these relationships and see them as parinerships of mutual
interest and respact, with our person-cenfred approach ensuring service user interests are safeguarded and

vulnerabilities minimised.

The further expansion of our Care Pathway strategy seeks to provide our service users with “whole of life”
solufions to their needs, maximising independence where possible by encouraging education, promoting
choice, being proactive with family members, providing training for employment where feasible and nurturing
personal ambition where helpful. In the year we have been celebrating the achievements of our service users
across the country, they have been busy creating art pieces for an Art Competition and the finalists are having
another series of local awards presentations with a nafional presentation in November 2018 following the

successes in 2015, 2016 and 2017.

We are determined to preserve the dignity of those we care for and fully support Government initiatives to this
end. We see making each day as fulfilled as possible for our service users as a vital ingredient to their, and our,

SLCCESS.

We care about the environment

We seek to maximise environmental standards in all areas of our organisation, Energy costs are now more
closely monitored centrally and with the installation of smart meters in our services we are encouraging moere
efficient consumption of energy, without compromising service user care.

Clinical waste management has an environmental impact and we are focussed on ways fo make this more
effective whilst still adhering to statufory requirerents,

We aim for minimal waste production and waste-free processes. Encouraging the involvement of our workforce
in seeking new ways o “be green” is important and we are striving to reduce our carbon footprint in all
commercial areas including promoting recycling initiatives, developing a carbon offset scheme for paper usage,
using public transport where feasible and improving our energy efficiency.

We care about our staff
We remain committed to ensuring employees share in the success of the Group and fully appreciate that Group

performance is affected by the relationship we have with them.

Sustaining the retention and development of employess s also critical to our continued success and we remain
of the belief that fostering a positive workplace culture is the best way for our employees fo thrive. Supporting
them with regular supervision, training and clear career development programmes promotes staff continuity
and leads to improved standards of care quality.

In early December 20415 we held our first staff awards ceremony with 10 categories for staff and staff teams
across each Division. Large events were held in November 2016 and 2017 and the fourth care awards

ceremony was in November 2018.

Out of a total of 5,560 staff at the end of September 2018, 69% are female and equal opportunity for all remains
at the heart of our recruitment policies and the diversity of our workforce bears this out. We value our staff at
all levels and work closely with them through our robust human resources departrent to foster consultation in
all matters, ensure fair pay for all, maximise conditions of service and facilitate flexible working where feasible.
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The Staff Engagernent Survey which took place in 2017 and involved all staff and looked at values and
questions across five engagement drivers. The feedback has led fo a Communication Plan that will lead to
improved communication across the Group.

We have a team of in-house training staff delivering courses on all relevant subjects, enabling our workforcea to
gain the skills, knowledge and confidence to provide the care and support to our service Lsers on a daily basis.

Our Sharesave share option scheme had been launched in March 2016 with a plan to offer new invitations
regularly and to be available to all our employees. Over 200 staff participated in the 3 year scheme launched
in 2016. We have repeated the sharesave option scheme in October 2017 with a further 259 staff participating
in the new 3 year scheme. It is proposed fo faunch another scheme in early 2019. This participation, aloeng
with regular senior management share opticn awards, contributes to the fulfilment of our desire to reward staff
for loyalty, diligence and commitment to high standards of service.

We care about quality and safety
As a Group, our aim is to provide a safe working environment for service users, staff and visitors. We value the

well-being of all stakeholders and develop policies to this end.

Maintaining workplace infrasfructures is a core objective and sustained investment in Information Technology,
furniture, facilities and equipment enable working environments, be they operational or administrative, to be
safe and productive.

Regulation is vigorously applied with routine and regular inspections beihg made by the Care Quality
Cormmission ("CQC") and Ofsted in England and the services are regulated by the Care and Social Services
Inspectorate Wales (“CSSIW") in Wales and by the Care [nspectorate for Scotland.

We continue to resource our own highly experienced internal quality and compliance teams which undertake a
programme of regular inspection and assessment and give constructive feedback backed by training and
supervision if the requirement is there. We engage the services of outsourced expert advisers ensuring best
practice and procedures are maintained.

We care about our communities
Doing business the right way is of fundamental importarce fo us, A successful business needs to operate in
healthy, thriving commuinities and needs to be seen as a good neighbour to those communities.

We have direct involvement in a variety of community-based programmes further improving our setvice
reputation and helping to foster a strengthened relationship with local authorities.

Being a socially responsible organisation with a focus on developing our ethical standards aligned with our
econemic objectives remains a core aim and we sfrive to identify the real value of our organisation, beyond its
financial bottom line. Considering non-financial values such as reputation, employee commitment and service
user fulfilment helps us develop longerterm opporiunities, ultimately adding to the financial bottom line.

Behaving responsibly and maximising the benefits of a strong relationship with our stakeholders is an integral
part of a continuing process of building long-term value.

Outlook .
The coming year shows every sign of being good for health and social care providers and especially for those
with an established reputation for quality and innovation.

This year there has been significant policy development and we see some indicators that local authorities have
recognised the need to maintain, or grow their social care budgets.

In our view we are in a period in which consolidation will again feature strongly within the corporate sector and
we are alert fo quality opportunities that may arise. However, we are mindful about acquisition and have robust
criteria which must be satisfied to ensure that any acquired business fits our long term strategic objactives.
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This has been another progressive year for CareTech and | am indebted to the strong management team who
have overseen the provision of diigent and tailored services in what has been a challenging environment for
the care sector.

CareTech provides high quality care, support and outcomes to our service users. | remain proud to lead the
Group, delivering a quality of care that makes a difference to so many lives.

Haroon Sheikh
Group Chief Executive Officer
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Group Financial Review
| am delighted that this year marks CareTech’s 25™ year in business looking after service users,

The Group has continued to make yood progress in 2018.

In October 2018 after the year end, the Group completed the acquisition of Cambian and also has put
in place new Banking facilities to provide stability for the coming years.

These results reported are for the CareTech operations only and in 2019 the results will reflect the
Enfarged Group including the Cambian operations.

Results

Underlying operating profit improved by 10.6% at £37.8m compared with £34.2m last year. Until 2013 the
Group had been making strategic acquisitions to gain market share and extend the care pathway range of
services. Since 2013 the focus had been on both organic development and cost efficiencies as well as
acquisitions. With fwo share placements, improved banking facifiies and a Ground Rent fund fransaction
the Group has raised £87m which has been used for acquisitions with five completed in the 1ast four years.

Underlying basic earmings per share are 35.07p (2017: 38.03p). In the year underlying profit before taxation
increased by 11.9% to £32.9m and underlylng profit after tax has risen by 1,9% fo £27.1m (2017: £26.6m)
due in part to the increase in the effective tax rate. The weighted average number of difuted shares rose to
75.7m (2017: 70.1m) being an increase of 8.0%. Basic earnings per share decreased by 44.8% to 14.07p
{2017: 25.48p) and profit after tax attributable to the owners of the parent reduced by 40.3% fo £10.6m (2017:

£17.8m).

Cashinflows from operating activities before tax and non-underlying items paid were £39.1m (2017: £32.7m),
an increase of 19.6%. Net debt to the Group’s bankers at the year end of £147.0m has reduced by £0.1m

for the year (2017: £147.1m).

The Condensed Income Statement before non-underlying items for the year is summarised in table 1 below.

Table 1 —-Condensed Income Statement before non-underlying items

2018 2017
£m £m Growth
Revenue 185.7 166.0 11.9%
Gross profit ©5.3 59.9
Administrative expenses excluding depreciation and share (21.4) (20.0)
based payments
Underlying EBITDA 43.9 399 10.0%
Underlying EBITDA margin 23.6% 24.0%
Depreciation (5.9) {(5.5)
Share-based payments charge {0.2) {0.2)
Underlying operating profit ' 37.8 34.2 10.5%
Net financial expenses {4.9) {4.8)
Underlying profit hefore tax 32.9 29.4 11.9%
Underlying taxation (5.8) (2.8)
Underlying effective tax rate 17.5% 5.3%
Underlying profit for the year 27.1 26.6
Neon-controlling interast {0.6) -
Woeighted average number of diluted shares {millions) 75.7 70.1
Underlying basic earnings per share 35.07p 38.03p
Full year dividend per share 11.00p 9.90p




Revenue

Revenue of £185.7m (2017: £166.0m) was 11.9% higher than in 2017.

In the established Aduit Learning Disabilities segment we confinued o experienice high levels of occupancy
and reported 88% occupancy at 30 September 2018. When this is blended with the facilities that are being
reconfigured and so are under development, the overall occupancy level during the second half of the year
and at 30 September 2018 was 86% of capacity (September 2017: 86%). As in recent years the demand
for residential services continues to be encouraging for high acuity users.

As set outin the Chief Executive’s statement and note 4 fo these accounts, we are again reporting segmental
information for the financial year and last year, which includes infoermation on ciient capacity and revenue for

each segment.

The continued development of our care pathways and a growing range of service options has led to the
proportion of Aduit services revenue rising from 62.2% in 2017 to 62.6% in 2018 and underlying EBITDA
before Group Costs moving from 65.3% in 2017 to 61.8% In 2018.

The Young People Residential services total revenue has risen by 34% with Specialist Services falling by

1.1%, Foster Care falling by 4.7% and Learning Services by 76%. Their total proportion of the EBITDA

before Group costs has moved from 34.6% in 2017 to 38.2% in 2018 due mainly 1o the new services opening
" in the Young People Residential services.

Table 2 - Revenue

2018 2018 2017 2017

Underlying Underlying

Revenue EBITDA Revenue EBITDA

fin m fm fm

Adult Learning Disabilities 101.0 27.0 87.7 26.3
Specialist Services 15.3 a4 155 3.9
Adults Services 116.3 31.4 103.2 30.2
Young People Residential Services 58.7 i7.0 43.8 13.2
Foster Care 8.2 1.8 8.6 1.9
Leamning Services 2.5 0.5 10.4 0.9
Childrens Services 69.4 194 62.8 16.0
Less unallocated Group costs - (6.9) - {6.3)
185.7 43.9 166.0 39.9

Underlying EBITDA and total EBITDA

Underlying EBITDA has grown by 10% from £32.9m in 2017 to £43.9m in 2018. Underlying EBITDA margin
has decreased from 24% to 23.6% mainly due to the margin in the total of the acquired businesses beihg at
a lower rate than the other businesses, and the growth in services businesses that require litile capital
expenditure like Foster Care and the Leaming Division.

The Adult Learning Disabilities, Specialist Services and Young People Residential Services segments have
higher margins but normally require considerable capital expenditure to increase capacity, whilst Supported
Living, Foster Care and Learning Services operate at a Jower margin in part because they do not require
capital expenditure to increase capacity and are not reliant on the Group’s properties.

Administrative expenses, before depreciation and share-based payments charges were £21.4m (2017:
£20.0mj and increased by £1.4m during the year. In 2017 they represented 12.0% of Group revenue and in
2018 this reduced to 11.5% of Group revenue.
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There has been a further considerable effort in the year to tighten administrative expenses with further back
office systems centralisation and procurement successes for the Group.

The reconfiguration of services is a central part of the Board's strategy to grow organically. It enhances
average fee rates and maintains the Group's reputation as a provider of highest quality of care.

In the year there has also been a continued focus on purchasing properties which are then converted to new
services.

The number of employees in management and administration has reduced by 40. The Time and Attendance
system has been implemented across all of the residential services in the year which will further our back
office centralisation and ensure that staff are paid more accurately and guickly, as well as giving reliable data
on staff rotas and attendance in each service. A new integrated Recruitment system has been implemented

in the year.
Totat EBITDA has increased from £36.4m in 2017 to £40.2m in 2018.

Operating profit and profit before tax

The depreciation charge Is £5.9m (2017: £5.6m) and reflects the investment in land and buildings, motor
vehicles and fixtures, fittings and equipment.

After this charge and the share-based payments, underlying operating profit grew 10.5% to £37.8m (2017:
£34.2m).

Total operating profit reduced by £2.5m to £20.2m (2017 £22.7m).

Net underlying financial expenses increased to £4.9m (2017: £4.8m) due 1o additional finance leases taken
out on new home vehicles during the year.

Underlying profit for the year improved to £27.1m (2017: £26.6m).
Total profit before tax decreased by 8.4% to £15.4m (2017: £16.8m).

Taxation and diluted eamings per share

The effective underlying tax rate was 17.5% (2017: 9.3%) and reflects management's expectations of future
capital investment through organic developments and reconfigurations relative to available capital aliowances
and the Impact of the reduction in the main rate of corporation fax in the year, whilst last year also had the
release of a provision for tax no longer required.

The weighted average number of shares in issue rose by 8.1% mainly due fo the share placement in March
2017. The underlying basic earnings per share fell to 35.07p in 2018 from 38.03p in 2017.

Basic eamings per share reduced by 44.8% to 14.07p (2017; 25.48p)

Dividends

Our policy has been to increase the total dividend per year broadly in line with the movement in underlying
diluted earnings per share. The final dividend will rise in line with the increase in underlying operating profit
and increase to 7.5p per share (2017: 6.60p), bringing the total dividend for the year to 11.00p (2017: 8.50p),
a growth of 11.1%. Dividend cover for 2018, based upon diluted earnings per share before nen-underlying
items is 3.19 times (2017: 3.84 times).
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Non-underlying items

As fully explained on the face of the Consolidated Statement of Comprahensive Income and in note 5, the
Directors have separately disclosed a number of non-underlying items in crder te improve understanding of
the underlying trading performance achieved by the Group. Total non-underlying items represent a net
charge of £17.6m at operating leve! (2017: £11.5m) and the principal items are the ameriisation of intangible
assets and integration and reorganisation costs plus costs of the acquisition.

Cash flow and net debt

The cash flow statement and movemnent in net debt to the Group’s bankers for the year is summarised below:

2018 2017
£m fm
Underlying EBITDA 43.9 39.9
{Increase} in working capital . (4.8} (7.2}
Cash inflows from operating activities before non-underlying 391 32.7
items
Tax paid (4.1) {6.3)
interest paid {(4.7) (5.0}
Dividends paid (7.5) (5.9}
Acquisitions and capital expenditure (17.1) (36.4)
Share Placement - 37.4
Cash flow before adjustments 57 16.5
Non-underlying cashflows including derivative
financial instruments (5.6) (7.2}
Movement in net debt to the Group’s bankers 0.1 9.3
Opening net debt to the Group’s bankers (147.1) {156.4}
Closing net debt to the Group’s bankers {147.0) (147.1)

Net debt to the Group’s bankers at 30 September 2018 of £147.0m (2017: £147.1m) has decreased by £0.1m
during the financial year, with an investment of £17.1m In acquisitions and capital improvements during the

year. :
Operating cash flows before non-underlying items

The £39.1m (2017 £32.7m) cash inflow from oparating activities, before non-underlying items, represents
89% (2017: 82%} underlying EBITDA cash conversion ratio.

Interest and dividend cash flows

Interest paid of £4.7m {2017: £5.0m) is reflective of the financial expenses per the Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income, whilst dividends paid are consistent with the refevant section earller in the review.
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Acquisitions and capifal expenditure

During the yvear we invested total funds of £17.1m {2017: £36.4m) on capital expendiiure. The Group
acquired Purple Zest Limited in July 2018 for a total consideration of £0.1m in cash.

Capital expenditure of £15.9m (2017: £17.7m) includes £10.9m to update our porffolio of assets.
Banking arrangements for the Group for the year

The Group had entered into new Banking facilities with Lloyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank plc
for committed financing by way of term loans of between 3.5 {o 5 years up to £334m and a short term btidge
loan of approx. £80m. The short bridge loan was repaid in November 2018 following completion using
principally Cambian’s significant cash position.

In addition to the Term Loans and Bridge Loan, a £25m revolving credit facility is available to provide working
capital for the Enlarged Group and an uncommitted accordion facility of up to £30m for general Corporate
and Working Capital purposes (Inciuding acquisitions).

The new facilities of the Term Loans and Bridge Loan with an aggregate size up to £414m have been utilised
for the cash consideration of the acquisition, following the repayment of the Group's existing bank debt
facilities of approx, £150m and the payment of debt financing fees of up to approx. £6m. The amount
available for the draw down under the Term Loans was reduced in the event that the actua!l cash
consideration payable under ihe transaction was less than £253m.

As part of the Acquisition, in September 2018 the Group’s property portfolic was revalued by Cushman and
Wakefield and the market value was £424m. The Cambian Group pic property portfolio was revalued by
Knight Frark and the market value was £350m.

Following completion of the Acquisition, Lloyds Bank plc and Nat West Markets plc, who had underwritten
the funding, completed the syndication of the Term Loans and revolving credit facility successfully. The
syndication was significantly oversubscribed showing strong support for both the Group and the acquisition.

The final faciliy is a term loan of £322m and revolving credit facility of £25m to a group of banks comprising
Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC UK Banks ple, Santander UK ple, AIB Group (UK ple, Clydesdale Bank PLC and
Credit Suisse AG, in addition fo Lioyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank pic.

The Enlarged Group loan to value based only on the property valuations is c42% whilst the proforma net
debt to EBITDA of the Enlarged Group is 4.3x which is expected to reduce to under 4x in the short term.

Post Balance Sheet Events
[n October 2018 there were a group of related Post Balance Shest Events.

There was the Acquisition effected by way of a Court Sanctioned Scheme under Part 26 of the Companies
Act whereby the Group became the holder of the entire issued and to be issued share capital of Cambian
Group ple. The Acquisition completed following the Admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on
AIM on 19 October 2018. The Headline Offer for each Cambian share was 100p in cash and 0.267 of a new
CareTech Share; alternatively the Full Cash Alternative for each Cambian share was 180p in cash,

The majority of the Cambian Shareholders tcok the Headline Offer and so became shareholders in the
Enlarged Group with 33.2m new shares in the Group being issued. There was also the financing of the
acquisition which is discussed sbove.
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Cutiook

The Group is now in a better position than ever before to continue its growth as a pioneering provider of
specialist social care services in a UK market which s continuing to grow yet remains fragmenied.

Farouq Sheikh
Executive Group Chairman
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Board of Directors

1~ Farougq Sheikh Groub Executive Chairman {aged &0)

Faroug Sheikh has been a key architect in CareTech's growth, having been co-founder of the Group and
involved in the vision and strategy from the outset In 1993, With a background in law and a good understanding
of finance and commerce, Faroug has been instrumental in securing debt and equity funding for the Group as
well as feading the management feam in winning & number of fong-term confracts from locai and heatth

authorities.

Farouq is a teading business enfrepreneur, philanthrepist and investor within the UK. Farouq has initiated
and overseen the successful equity investments and the subsequent exits for 31 Group PLC {in 1996 and
2002) and Barclays Private Equity (in 2002 and 2005). His intimate knowledge of the marketplace, and his
commercial and negotiating expertise assisted in the Group’s growth. Under his stewardship, CareTech's
basic underlying eamnings pershare has grown significantly from 4.1p in 2005 to 35.07p in the
current financial year.

Faroug has been presented with a number of Entrepreneur of the Year awards by presfigious organisations
including Laing and Buisson, Coutfs Bank and Emnst & Young. He also presents widely at healthcare
conferences, raising awareness of the leaming disability sector.

As Patron and Enferprise Fellow of the prestigious Prince’s Trust and as a member of the Mosaic National
Advisory Board, Farouq supports young people by passing on his experience and expertise to inspire the next
generation of entrepreneurs.

Farouq was a Founder Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation formed in 2017.
2- Haroon Sheikh 8Sc Group Chief Executive Officer (aged 62)

Haroon Shelkh, a London University graduate, is one of the UK's leading enfrepreneurs, philanthrepists and
community figureheads and one of the founders of CareTech. Haroon brings commercial acumen, related
industry experience and property knowledge which has been essential in the growth of the business. As Chigf
Executive Officer, he is actively involved in the day-to-day running of the business and over time has been
instrumental in nurturing and supporting the serior management team, bringing together disciplines in care,
commerce and property. He has a deep commitment and passion fo delivering high-guality care and support
to people with a leaming disability.

In 2008, Harcon and his brother Faroug were winners of the highly valued Coutts Family Business Prize and
widely appiauded for the quality and sociat integrity of the company they created.

Haroon is Patron and Enterprise Fellow of the Prince’s Trust and is also Vice Chair of the UK Advisory Council
of the British Asian Trust under the patronage of HRH Prince Charles.

Haropn’s most recent social enterprise was establishing the COSARAF Charitable Foundafion to banefit
communities and individuals in the UK and abread. As trustee for international Development, Haroon
established the COSARAF Feeding Project which supports the feeding of over 1500 women and children daily
as well as supporting education and water projects in various rural villages across Africa and Asia.

Haroon was a Founder Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation formed in 2017 and is Chairman of the
Trustees.

3- Karl Monaghan Non-Executive Director (aged 56)

After graduating from University College Dublin with a Bachelor of Commerce Degree, Karl frained as a
chartered accountant with KPM(G in Dublin. He has worked in the comporate finance departments at a number
of merchant banks and stockbrokers, lztterly at Credit Lyonnais Securities for seven years and Robert W. Baird
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for two years until June 2002. Karl set up Ashling Capital LLP in December 2002 to provide consultancy
services to quoted and private companies. He sifs on a number of AIM quoted and private company boards.

4. Dr. Mike Adams OBE Non-Executive Director (aged 47)

Mike has a significant track record in the social care, health and disability sectors. He is currently CEO of
Purple Zest Limited, a disability organisation that supports both disabled people and businesses. In previous
rofes he was Direcfor of the Nationaf Disability Team, responsible for policy and practice for disabled students
in higher education; Director of Operations for the Disability Rights Commission for fwo years; and Chief
Executive Officer of ecdp, an Essex based user-led disability organisation. Mike spent nine months as acting
Chair of a large acute hospital frust in Essex and has previously chaired an expert panel on Access to Work,
the Govemments flagship disability employment programme. Mike has been awarded an Honorary Doctor of
Education for disability leadership from Anglia Ruskin University.

Mike was honoured with an OBE in 2012 for his services to disability.

Mike became a Trustee of the CareTech Charitable Foundation in 2017,

5-  Jamie Cumming Non- Executive Director (aged 68)

Jamie Cumming jeined the Board as a Non-Executive Director in 2013. Following a long career in corporate
advisory and broking in the City, including acting as Chief Executive Officer of N+1Brewin LLP, and latterfy as
Senior Adviser to Canter Fitzgerald Europe, Jamie has significant experience in working with smaif and mid-
sized UK companies. Jamie currently utilizes his commercial experience in supporting growth companies in
non-executive reles, is an associate of Ruffena Capital and has qualified as a fellow of the Chartered Institute
of Securities & Investment.
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Corporate Goverhance Report

Do we comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code?

CareTech is incorporated in England (Registration Number 4457287} which is also currently its sole couniry of

operation.

As a company admitted to trading on AlM, the Company is not required to comply with a particular corporate

governance code. However, it is required to provide details of any corporate governance code that it has
decided to apply and state how it complies with that code.

The CareTech Board remains committed to achieving the highest standards of integrity, ethics, professionalism
and business practice throughout its operations. Accordingly, the CareTech Directors have chosen to report
against the UK Corporate Govemnance Code published inJuly 2018 (“UK Comporate Governance Code). Whiist
the Company does not comply with the Corporate Governance Code in full, the Company does comply with a

number of areas as set out below:

HOW THE COMPANY COMPLIES WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

SECTION OF THE UK CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

. Board leadership and company purpose

. A successful company is led by an effective and
entreprensurial board, whose role is {o promote

. the long-term sustainable success of the

company, generating vajue for shareholders and

* contributing to wider society.

~ The board should establish the company’s

~ purposs, values and strategy, and satisfy itself
that these and its culture are aligned. All directors

* must act with integrity, Jead by example and

promote the desired culture.

The board should ensure that the necessary
resources are in place for the company to meet
its objectives and measure performance against
them. The board should also establish a
framework of prudent and affective controls,

which enable risk to be assessad and managed.

HOW THE COMPANY COMPLIES WITH THE

UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Details of CareTech’s Board are set out on pages
40 and 41. The CareTech Board has collective
responsibility for the management, strategic
direction and performance of the Company. The
CareTech Board provides leadership within a

framework of prudent and effective controls

" seeking to enable risk to be appropriately

assessed and managed.

The CareTech Board has deliverad sustainable

and reliable growth since its Admission to trading

- on AIM. CareTech has aimed {0 be a defensible

stock even in difficult times and has adopted a
progressive dividend policy to return 75.5 pence
per ordinary shares to Shareholders. The
CareTech Group has also had direct involvement
in a variety of community-based programmes
further improving the CareTech Group’s service
reputaticn and helping to foster a sirengthened

relationship with local authorities.



In order for the company to meet its
responsibilities to shareholders and stakeholders,
the board should ensure effective engagement
with, and encourage participation from, these

parties.

. The board should ensure that workforce policies
and practices are consistent with the company’s
values and support its long-term sustainable
success. The workforce should be able fo raise

. any matters of concern.

- development, supervision, recognition of

CareTech's key strategic priorities include a
continual focus on improving the quality and
scope of its business, increasing market share
and growing shareholder value. The CareTech
Board recognises that key to achieving its
strategy is the attraction and retention of talented
and committed personnel at every level of the
organisational hierarchy and the CareTech Board

have put in place paolicies and procedures fo

- achieve this. The CareTech Board ensures that

* the CareTech Group is appropriately funded to

deliver its strategy. The CareTech Board
appreciates that effective communication and
engagement with the Company’s shareholders
and the investment community as a whole is a
key objective. The views of both institutional and
private shareholders are important. The Group

Executive Chairman has overall responsibility for

~ ensuring this communication is effectively

conveyed and for making the CareTech Beard

~ fully aware of key shareholders’ views, comments
" and opinions. Contact with investors throughout
. the year is a priority and the CareTech Board

" strives to look after their interests. General

presentations to major shareholders following the

publication of the CareTech Group's annual and

interim results are conducted by the Group
Executive Chairman and the Group Finance

Director as are regular meetings through the year

* with fund managers and investment analysts.

Effective cornmunication with employees and
care commissioners is also vital to achievement
of the CareTech Group's strategy. The CareTech
Group has a number of inifiatives and policies to

engage its employees through iraining and
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achievement through staff awards, staif
engagement surveys and development of a
communication plan. The CareTech Board
believe that its workforce policies, including its in-
house training and HR systems support the
CareTech Group’s focus on the provision of
quality services and aliow for sustainable growth.
The CareTech Board believe the effectivensss of
its staff engagement procedures is reflected in its
staff turnover levels, which are below the industry
average and In the CaraTech Group's quality
ratings, which are above the industry average,
The CareTech Board also believe the CareTech
Group’s sales and marketing function have
established strong relationships with care
commissichers and regulators and actively strives
to maintain these rejationships. Being a socially
responsible organisation with a focus on ethical
standards aligned with economic objectives
remains a core aim. The CareTech Directors
belleve that behaving responsibly and maximising

the benefits of a strong relationship with its

~ stakeholders is an integral part of a continuing

process of building long- term value.

The CareTech Greup's framework of controls

includes identification and management of any

_ conflicts of interests. The CareTech Board follows

specific procedures to identify potential conflicts
of interest, including those in relation to significant
shareholders. Firstly, only independent directors
(i.e. those that have no interest in the matter
under consideration) are able to take relevant
decisions. Secondly, in taking the decision the
directors must act in a way they consider, in good
faith, will be most likely to promote CareTecly's

success. In addition, the GareTech Diractors can
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Division of Responsibilities
The chair leads the board and is responsible for
its overall effectiveness in directing the company.

They should demanstrate objective judgement

- throughout their tenure and promote a culiure of

. openness and debate. in addition, the chair

facilitates constructive board relations and the

- effective contribution of all non-executive

- directors, and ensures that directors receive

accurate, timely and clear information.

The board should include an appropriate

~ combination of executive and non-executive (and,

in particular, independent non-executive)

- directors, such that no one individual or smalt

5 group of individuals dominates the board’s

decision-making. There should be a clear division

of responsibilities between the leadership of the
board and the executive leadership of the

company's business.

Non-executive directors should have sufficient

" time to meet their board responsibilities. They

should provide constructive challenge, strategic

' guidance, offer specialist advice and hold

management to account.

impose limits or conditions when giving
authorisation if they think this is appropriate. It
remains the CareTech Board’s intention to report
annually on the Company's procedures for
ensuring that the CareTech Board’s power of
authorisation in respect of conflicts is aperated
effectively and that procedures have been

followed,

As Group Exgcutive Chairman, Farouq Sheikh
leads the CareTech Board and is responsible for
its effective nunning. The Group Chief Executive
is Haroon Sheikh (brother of Farouqg Sheikh) and
Karl Monaghan, the Senior Independent Directer,
Mike Adams and Jamie Cumming are the
CareTech Group's three Non-Exacutive Directors.
Both Karl Monaghan and Jamie Cumming are
censidered to be independent. Although Karl
Monaghan has served on the CareTech Board for .
maore than nine years, the Caretech Board are
satisfied that there are no matters which affects

the independence of his judgment and as such

" that Karl continues to act independently.

The CareTech Board has identified areas around
board composition whereby it currently does not

comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code:

1. The Group Executive Chairman of the board is

not independent; and

2. Atleast half the board, excluding the Group

Executive Chairman, are not independent
non-executive directors.
Collectively, the Non-Executive Directors bring a
valuable range of expertise and experience in
assisting the CareTech Group to achieve its

strategic aims and provide constructive challenge
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The board, supporfed by the company secretary,
_ should ensure that it has the palicies, processes,
information, time and resources it heeds in order

to function effectively and efficiently.

- Independent professional advice at the expense

and strategic guidance. in the furtherance of their

duties, all CareTech Directors are able to take

of the Company and those hewly-appointed are f
made aware of their responsibilities by the
Company Secretary. The CareTech Board ‘
approves the appoinfment and removal of the

Company Secretary.

The CareTech Board have identified areas where
it intends to strengthen its corporate governance.
In particular the CareTech Board infends to
appoint at [east two additional hon- executive
directors within three months of Completion.
Alongside these appointments, it is also intended
that Mike Adams will become an executive

director of CareTech. Mike is chief executive

. officer of Purple Zest Limited which has received

an investment from CareTech for a 80 per cent.

shareholding in Purple Zest Limited.

The roles and responsibilities of certain members

of the CareTech Board and Company Secretary

" are explained and their respective respansibilities

~ summarised below:

Group Executive Chairman

Overall leadership of the Board;

Ensuring the Board as a whole plays a full part in

the develcpment and determination of the

= CareTech Group's strategic cbjectives;

+ Ensuring the effectiveness of the CareTech
Board;

s Seifing the agenda and fore for fhe
CareTech Board;

s Ensuring the Board receives accurate, timely
and clear information;
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= Responsibility for reviewing and agreeing the

training and development needs of

CareTech Board members; and

Promoting the highest standards of integrity,

probity and corporate governance

throughout the Company and particularly at

CareTech Board level.

Group Chief Execirfive Officer

Executive leadership of the Company’s
business on a day-to-day basis;
Deveioping the overall commercial
objectives of the CareTech Group and
proposing and developing the strategy of
the CareTech Group in conjunction with
the Board as a whole;

Responsibility, together with the senicr
management team, for the execution of
the CareTech Group’s strategy and
implementation of CareTech Board
decisions;

Recommendaticns on senior
appointments and develcpment of the
management team; and

Ensuring that the affairs of the CareTech
Group are conducted with the highest
standards of integrity, probity and

corporate governance.

Senicr Independent non-executive director

Acting as a sounding board for the Group
Executive Chairman;

Being available to shareholders if they
have concerns which cannot be resolved
through the Group Executive Chairman or
other executive management; and

Acting as an infermediary for the directors

where necessary.
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: Composition, succession and evaluation

~ Appointments to the board should be subject to a
formal, rigorous and transparent procedure, and
an effective succession plan should ba
maintained for beard and senior management.
Both appointments and succession plans should
be based on merit and cbjective crlterfa and,
within this context, should promote diversity of
gender, social and ethnic backgrounds, cognitive

and personal strengths.

Non-executive directors collectively
» Consfructively challenging the executive
directors; and
» Oversight of the delivery of the
Company’s strategy within the risk and

control frameworks.

Company Secretaty

+ Ensuring all Board and Committee
meetings are properly held;

» Assisting the Group Executive Ch'airman
and Group Chief Executive Officer in
ensuring the directors are provided with
all relevant information;

s Organising directors’ fraining
requirements, and

» Maintaining the Group’s governance and
compliance with the AIM Rules for
Companies.

» Details of the CareTech Bdard’s
committees, including the audit
committee, remuneration committee and
the care governance and safeguarding

committee are set out on pages 57-58.

Matters are delegated to Board Committees,
individual Directors or executive management
where appropriate. To dafe, given the sfage of the
CareTech Group's development, it has been felt
the functions of a Nominations Committee can be
adequately fulfilled by deliberation of the full
CareTech Board; this will nevertheless be kept
under raview. When the need for additional Non-
Executive Directors are identified, the CareTech
Board appoints advisers to nominate experienced
relevant and appropriate candidates. Currently
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[

~ service of the board as a whole and membership

The board and its cornmittees should have a
combination of skills, experience and knowledge.

Consideration should be given to the length of

regularly refreshed.

' Annual evaluation of the board should consider its

. transparent policies and procedures to ensure the

composition, diversity and how effectively

members work together to achieve objectives.
Individual evaluation should demcnstrate whether

each director continugs fo contribute effactively.

Audit, risk and internal control

The board should establish formal and

independence and effectiveness of internal and
external audit functions and satisfy itself on the

integrity of financial and narrative statements.

The board should present a fair, balanced and

understandable assessment of the company’s

| position and prospects.

~ The board should establish procedures to

. framework, and determine the nature and extent

. of the principal risks the company is willing to take

manage risk, oversee the intemnal contro}

in order to achieve its long-term strategic

objectives.

CareTech Board members meet the candidates

and come to a collective view on appoiniments.

Currently ali CareTech Directors are required to

submit themselves for re-election at least every

three years and new directors are subject to

. election by shareholders at the first opportunity

following their appointment.

Whilst the performance of each the CareTech

. Directors is kept under review, no formal

~ evaluation is currently conducted by CareTech

The CareTech Board has established an
audit committee, details of which are set
out on page 56.

The Committee meets at least twice each
year and receives reports from the
Company’s management and external
auditor relating to the annual and interim
accounts and the accounting and internal
control systems throughout the Group.
The Committee has direct and
unrestricted access to the external auditor
and reviews all services being provided
by them to evaluate their independence
and objectivity, taking info consideration
relevant professional and regulatory
requirementis in order {o ensure that said
independence and objectivity are not
impaired by the provision of permissible,
non-audit services. The Committee has
carefully considered the level of non-audit
services and has concluded that this does -
nct impact cn the independence of the

auditors.



i
The CareTech Board Is uitimately 1
responsible for the CareTech Group's :
system of internal controls and for

reviewing its effectiveness. The role of

management is fo Implement Board

policies on risk and control. The system
of internal controls is designed to manage
rather than efiminate the risk of failure of
the achievement of business objectives.
In pursuing these objectives, internal
contrals can only provide reasonable and
not an absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The CareTech Directors consider robust
risk management to be crucial to the
CareTech Group's success and give a
high priority to ensuring thai adequate
systemns are in place to svaluate and limit
risk exposure. They have overseen the
further development of processes and
procedures for identifying, analysing and
managing the significant risks faced by
the CareTech Group. Risks facing the
CareTech Group are described on pages
20 to 21 in this report. These processes
have been implemented during the year
under review and up to the date of
approval of this annual report and
financial statements. The processes and
procedures are regularly reviewed by the
CareTech Board.

A process of contrel and hierarchical
reporting provides for a documented and
auditable frail of accountability. These
procedures are relevant across all
CareTech Group operations: they provide
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for successive assurances to be given at
increasingly higher levels of management
and, finally, fo the Board.

The new General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR) have changed how
the Group manages, protects and
administers data. A team of Senior
Managers are responsible for how data
flows in and out, and where it is stored
throughout the CareTech Group.

The processes used by the CareTech
Board to review the effectiveness of the
system of internal controls include the

following:

annual budgeis are prepared for each
operating business. Monthly management
reporting focuses on actual performance
anainst these hudgets for rach nparating
business;

management reports and external audit
reports on the system of internal controls
and any material control weaknesses that
are identified;

discussicns with management including
those on the actions taken on problem
areas identifled by CareTech Board
members or in the external audit reports;
policies and procedures for such matters
as delegation of authorities, capital
expenditure and treasury management as
well as regular updates, and

review of the adequacy of the level of
experienced and professional staff
throughout the business and the
expertise of individual staff members so

that they are capable of carrying out their
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" Remuneration

Remuneratfon policies and practices should be
. designed fo support strategy and promote long-
1 term sustainable success. Executive

+ remuneration should be aligned to company
purpose and values, and be clearly linked to the
: successful delivery of the company’s long-term

strategy.

A formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on executive remuneration and
determining director and senior ménagemenf
remuneration should be established. No director
should be involved in deciding their own

remuneration outcome.

Directors should exercise independent judgement
and discretion when authorising remuneration
" putcomes, taking account of company and

. individual performance, and wider circumstances.

individual delegated responsibilities; and

—review of the external audit work plans.

The composition and role of the Remuneration
Committee is described below on page 56 and i

inciudes details of CareTech Directors’

remuneration, shareholdings and share options
scheme information. A key CareTach Group
strategy is to attract and retain talented and
committed personnel at every level of the
organisational hierarchy and the Remuneration
Committee aims to foster remuneration
philosophy, policies and procedures fo achieve

this.

The CareTech Group operates in a highly
competitive environment, For the CareTech
Group to continue to compete successfully, it is
essential that the leve! of remuneration and
benefits offered achieve the objectives of

attracting, retaining, motivating and rewarding the

" necessary high calibre of individuals at all levels

across the CareTech Group. In 2017, Deloitte

" LLP were commissioned to prepare a

benchmarking report which has been used fo

provide a useful analysis of the market for each

glermnent of pay. The CareTach Group therefore
* sets out to provide competitive remuneration to all

its employees, appropriate to the business

anvironment in the market in which it operatss. To
achieve this, the remuneratioh package is based
upon the following principles: — total rewards
should be set to provide a fair and atfractive |
remuneration package; — appropriate elements of
the remuneration package should he designed o
reinforce the link between performance and

reward; and Executive Directors’ incentives
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should be aligned with the interests of

~ shareholders. The remuneration strategy is

. designed to be in line with the CareTech Group's
fundamental values of fairness, compestitiveness
and to support the CareTech Group’s corperate
strategy. A cohesive reward structure consistently
applied and with links fo cerporate performance,

‘ is seen as critical in ensuring attainment of the

CareTech Group's strategic goals.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal duties

are to review the scale and structure of the

. remuneration and service confracts for Executive
Directors and Senior Management and it also
administers the Company’s share option
schemes. The Committee takes into
consideration environmental, social and
governance ("ESG”) issues, in relation to
corporate performance, when setting the
remuneration of Executive Directors and takes
steps to ensure that the incentive struciture for
Senior Management does not raise ESG risks by
+ inadvertently motivating iresponsible behaviour,
' The remuneration for Non- Executive Directors is
I set by the full Board on the recommendation of
the Executive Directors. In line with the UK

| Corporate Governance Code, remuneration for

* non- executive directors dosas not include share
options or other performance related elements.

. Pensions for Executive Directors are based on
their basic salary but pension contribution rates
are not aligned with those available to the

workforce.
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At every board meeting the CareTech Board covers an AIM continuing obligaficns quesfionnaire and
declaration of connected party transactions. This sets the tone for corporate behaviour and heips make
CareTech’s governance meaningful and focused on improving the business and protecting shareholder
value.

The CareTech Board meets in formal session regularly, usually once each month, and members are supplied
with financial and operational information in good time for scrutiny in advance of these meetings. The
CareTech Board holds other board meefings specifically for significant {ransactions involving raising money
like a ground rent transaction, or spending money fike a slgnificant acquisition.

The CareTech Board delegates certain of its responsibilities to board committees, individual Directors or
executive management where appropriate. However, there are certain matters that are considered to be so
important to the long-term success of CareTech that they are reserved to the CareTech Board for specific
consideration and decision including:

financial reporting and controls including statutory matters such as the approval of finat and interim financial
statements and dividend declarations;

Board membership and other senior, key personnel, appointments;

review of corporate governance arrangements;

Group strategy matters including the approval of annual budgets, acquisiticns and disposals;

review of the processes for monitoring and evaluating risk and the effectiveness of the Group's system of
internal controt and operational efficiency;

review and supervision of treasury and financial policies; and

sharsholder communications.

The CareTech Board delegates certain of its responsibilities to board committees, individual Directors or
executive management where appropriate. Howevet, there are certain matters that are considered fo be so
important to the long-term success of CareTech that they are resarved to the CareTech Board for specific
consideration and decision including:

financial reporting and controls including statutory matters such as the approval of final and interim financial
statements and dividend declarations;

Board membership and other senior, key personnel, appointments;

review cf corporate governance arrangements;

Group strategy matters including the appraval of annual budgets, acquisitions and disposals;

review of the processes for monitoring and evaluating risk and the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
intemal control and operational efficiency;

review and supervision of treasury and financial policies; and

shareholder communications.

Who is on our Board?

As Group Executive Chairman, Faroug Sheikh leads the Board and is responsible for its effective running. The
Group Chief Executive is Haroon Sheikh. The Directors' biographies appear on pages 40 to 41 and detail their
experence and suitability for leading and managing the Group.

Faroug Sheikh as Group Executive Chairman leads the company's strategic development and takes a special
responsibility in respect of acquisitions and investor relations.

Haroon Sheikh is the Group Chief Executive and accountable fo the Board for the day fo running of the
company as well as management of the strategic plan.
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Kari Monaghan, the Senior Independent Director, Mike Adams and Jamie Cumming are the three Non-
Executive Directors and the Board considers eacht of them ag independent. Coflectively, the Non-Executive
Directors bring a valuable range of expertise and experience in assisting the Group to achieve its strategic

aims.

Kart Monaghan is a member of both the Audit Committee {Chairman) and Care Governance and
Safeguarding Committes and the Remuneration Committee.

Mike Adams OBE is a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Commitiee, as well as the
Care Govemance and Safeguarding Committee (Chairman).

Jamie Cumming is a member of the Audit Committee and Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee
as well as the Remuneration Committee (Chairman).

Gareth Duften has been appointed as Interim Group Finance Director following the death of Michae! Hill.

In the furtherance of their duties, all Direciors are able fo take independent professional advice at the expense
of the Company and those newly-appointed are made aware of their responsibilities by the Company Secretary.
The Board approves the appointrent and remaoval of the Company Secretary.

All Directors are required to submif themselves for re-election at least every three years and new Directors are
subject to election by shareholders at the first appertunity following their appoeintment.

How do we deal with conflicts of interest?

Following amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association in 2008 to reflect certain provisions of the
Companies Act 2006 relating fo conflicts of interest that came into force on 1 October 2008, the Board will
follow a specific procedure when deciding whether tc authorise a confiict or potential conflict of interest. Firsily,
only independent Directors (i.e. those that have no interest in the matter under consideration} will be able fo
take the relevant decision. Secondly, in taking the decision the Directors must act in a way they consider, in
good faith, will be most fikely to promote the Company’s success. In addition, the Directors will be able to
impose limits or conditions when giving authorsation If they think this is appropriate. It remains the Board's
intention to report annually on the Company's procedures for ensuring that the Board's power of authorisation
in respect of conflicts is operated effectively and that procedures have been followed.

Board and Committee meetings

The Board meets in formal session regularly, usualiy once each month, and members are supplied with
financial and operational information in good time for scrutiny in advance of these meetings.

The Directors attended the following mestings in the year to 30 September 2018:

Board I Audit Committes Remuneration Care Govemance &

Committee Safeguarding Committee
Farouq Sheikh 14 - * -
Haroon Sheikh 14 - - -
Michael Hill 14 * *4 -
Karl Monaghan 14 2 4 2
Mike Adams 13 2 4 3
Jamie Cumming 14 2 4 3
* by invitation

The Board holds other Board Meetings specifically for significant fransactions like the Cambian acquisition
and ifs financing.
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What decision-making responsibilities does the Board have?

Matters which are reserved fo the Board for specific consideration and decision include:

. financial reporting and controls including statufory matters such as the approval of final and interim
financial statements and dividend declarations;

. Board membership and other senior, key personnel, appointments;

. review of corporate governance arrangemenis;

. Group sfrategy matters inciuding the approval of annual budgets, acquisitions and disposals;

. review of the processes for monitoring and evaluating risk and the effectiveness of the Group's system
of internal control and operational efficiency;

. review and supervision of treasury and financial policies; and

. shareholder communications.

Matters are delegated to Board Committees, individual Directors or executive management where appropriate.
The Directors befieve the Board is soundly constituted aithough, at this stage of the Group’s development, itis
felt the functions of a Nominations Committee can be adequately fulfilled by deliberation of the full Board; this
will nevertheless be kept under review. When the need for an additional Non-Executive Director is identified
the Board appoints advisors fo nominate experienced relevant and appropriate candidates. Board members
meet the candidatas and come fo a collective view on appoiniments,

Who is on the Audit Committee and what do they do?

The Audit Committee comprises Karl Monaghan (Chairman), Mike Adams and Jamie Cumming. The Group
Finance Director and representatives of the external auditor attend meetings by invitation as required. The
comimittee meets at least twice each year and Is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of auditors and the audit fee for reviewing the conduct and control of the annual audit fee: for
reviewing the conduct and centrol of the annual audit and for reviewing the infernal financial controls.

The Committee has direct and unrestricied access to the extemal auditor and reviews all services being
provided by them to evaluate their independence and ohjectivity, taking into consideration relevant professional
and regulatory requirements in order to ensure that said independence and objectivity are nct impaired by the
provision of permissible, non-audit services. The Committee has carefully considered the level of non-audit
services and have concluded that this does not impact on the independence of the auditors. Detalls of the
amoeunt paid to the extemal auditor during tha year, for audit and other services, are set out in note 6 to the
financial statements.

Who is on the Remuneration Committee and what do they do?

The composition and role of the Remuneration Commiitee is set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 63
to 65. Also defailed in that report are Directors’ remuneration, shareholdings and share options scheme

information.

The committee will review the performance of executive directors and set the scale and structure of their
remuneration. The committee will review the basis of the executive service agreements with due regard to
the interests of shareholders and determine from time to time the allocation of share opticns fo employees.

A key Group strategy is to affract and retain talented and committed personnel, at every level of the
organisational hierarchy and the Committee aims to foster remuneration philesophy, policies and procedures
to achieve this.




The Group operates in a highly competitive environment. For the Group to continue to compete successfully, it
is essential that the level of remuneration and benefits offered achieve the objectives of atiracting, retaining,
motivating and rewarding the necessary high catlibre of individuals at all levels across the Group. In 2017
Deloitte LLP were commissioned to prepare a Benchmarking report which has been used to provide a useful

analysis of the market for each element of pay.

The Group therefore sets out fo provide compefitive remuneration to all its employees, appropriate to the
business environment in the market in which it operates. To achieve this, the remuneration package is based

upon the following principles:

. total rewards should be set to provide a fair and atfractive remuneration package;
appropriate elements of the remuneration package should he desighed to reinforce the link between

performance and reward; and
. Executive Directors’ incentives should be aligned with the interests of shareholders.

The remuneration straiegy is designed to be in line with the Group's fundarmental values of fairness,
competifivenass and o support the Group’s corporate strategy. A cohesive reward structure consistently
applied and with links to corporate performance, is seen as critical in ensuring attainment of the Group’s

strategic goals.

Who is on the Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee and what
do they do?

The Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee is chaired by Mike Adams and the other members of the
Board Committee are Karl Monaghan and Jamie Cumming plus the Chief Operating Officer John Ivers and the
Director of Compliance and Regulation Amanda Sherlock.

The committee will closely examine and pursue improvement {o all roatters relating to care governance and
the safeguarding of those we support.

The Committee was formed because the Board is sensitive to the public’s increased awareness and anxiety
about care govermnance, and safeguarding. [n 2013 the Whistleblowing “Teil Us” Campaign was introduced by
this committee and it is pioneering because it provides direct access to the CEO.

The Group has always been regarded as a careful and thoughtful provider of care and the Committes was
formed to closely examine and pursue improvements {o all matters relating fo the care governance and the
safeguarding of those we suppor, including health and safety, across the Group. Last year it included extemal
attendees to its meetings such as the Head of Safeguarding for Hertfordshite County Council and received
external presentations such as Conflict Management from Maybo to help the Committee understand best
practice and in 2017 met with CQC.

We have held several useful meetings with regulators and also invited key regulation managers to attend our
Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee. The commiittee is seen as a pioneering initiative that has won
friends and encouragement from regulators and commissioners alike, The commitiee brings non-executive
Directers intfo a much closer relationship with our everyday work and they have adopted a robust serutiny
approach fo care practice. This in itself has had a positive Impact on care quality and the executive team has
been enccuraged to introduce quality initiatives across the company.

The Group has 144 adult services regulated by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) who assess the services
against approved essential standards of quality and safety. The regulators test and publicly record whether
services are compliant or non-compliant against those standards.

The new monitoring system has four levels of CQC reporting outconies and has been applied so far by CQC
to all of our Adul Services. The National distribution across the four outcomes is shown in the table below with
98% of services being either “Gocd” or “Requires Improvement’ is a service which has a requirement that
needs fo improve to achieve good. Above “Goed” is Outstanding for 3% of services and below is “Inadequate”
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for 1%. For the Group's services the published reports are as follows with the services in the outcomes as sst
out:-

Ratings Outstanding Good Requires inadequate
Improvement

National 3% 79% 17 % 1%

CareTech 1% 85% 13% 1%

Adult services in Wales are reguiated under different national legislation and are not currently rated on any form
of scale, though all are compliant.

Our Children division is regulated by the Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted) in England and these
services are rated as Outstanding or Good under the old monitoring system. Since April 2017 for Residential
Services there is no longer an overall rating and services are rated under three domains and the Group has
had 15 published reports. The Fostering services in England are regulated by Ofsted Outstanding and all three
services are raied Good. In Wales the senvices are regulated by the Care and Social Services Inspeciorate
Wales (CSSIW) and are not currently rated on any form of scale. The Care Inspectorate of Scofland who
regulate both Adults and Children Services have the majority of the Group’s rated Residential Services as
Excellent or Very Good for both the established services and the acquired sarvices in Scotland.

The Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee has oversight of all issues and reporis relafing fo the well-
being of service users, commissions enguiries into matters of concern and ensures that the Executive Team
operates to the highest possible level of professional care standards. Throughout the past year the Care
Govemance and Safeguarding Committee has invited operational managetrs, regulators and local safeguarding
lead officers fo atiend its mestings.

The Care Governance and Safeguarding Committee works in close association with the Group's internal
regulatory compliance team who operate across all divisions, reporting direct to the CEO.

Have we maintained an effective relationship with our shareholders?

The Board appreciates that effective communication with the Company’s shareholders and the investment
community as a whole is a key objective.

The views of both institutional and private shareholders are important, and these can be varied and wide-
ranging, as is their interest in the Company's strategy, reputation and performance.

The Executive Chairman has overall responsibility for ensuring this communication is effectively conveyed and
for making the Board fully aware of key shareholders’ views, cornments and opinlons.

Contact with investors throughout the year is a priority and the Board strives to look after their interests. General
prasentations to major shareholders following the publication of the Group’s annual and interim resulfs are
conducted by the Executive Chairman and the Group Finance Director as are regular meetings through the
year with fund managers and investment analysts.

Robust year-on-year dividend growth is an objective and all shareholders are encouraged fo atfend the
Company’s Annual General Meeting, which all Board members attend, as this provides an opporiunity to
address questions fo the Directors.

The Group’s annual and interim repoits are sent to all shareholders and all results, Company announcements
and relafed investor information can be accessed via the Group’s website, www.caretech-uk.com. The website
is under constant review in an effort to maximise the effectiveness of information made available to

shareholders.
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How do we manage our internal controls and risks?

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The role of management is fo implement Beard policies on risk and confrol. The sysiem of
intemal controls is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure of the achievement of business
objectives. n pursuing these objectives, intemal controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The recent challenging business climate has resulted in a sustained focus on the approach to tisk. The Diractors
consider robust risk management fo be crucial fo the Group’s success and give a high priority to ensuring that
adequate systems are in place to evaluate and limit risk exposure. They have overseen the further development
of processes and procedures for identifying, analysing and managing the significant risks faced by the Group.
These risks have been discussed in the Strategic Report on page 14 to 21. These processes have been
implemented during the year under review and up fo the date of approval of this annual report and financial
statements. The processes and procedures are regularly reviewaed by the Board.

A process of confrol and hierarchical reporting provides for a documenied and auditable trail of accountability.
These procedures are relevant across all Group operations: they provide for successive assurances {o be given
at increasingly higher levels of management and, finally, to the Board.

in 2018 there have been changes to the govemance of data and the new General Data Profection Regulations
{G.D.P.R.} changed how the Group manages, protects and administers data. A team of Senlor Managers
looked at how data flows in and out, and where it is stored throughout the Group.

The processes used by the Board fo review the effectivensss of the system of infemal controls include the

following:

. annual budgets are prepared for each operating business. Monthiy management reporting focuses on
actual performance against these budgets for each operating business;

. management reperis and external audit reports on the system of internal confrols and any material

control weaknesses that are identified;

. discussions with management including discussions on the actions taken on problem areas identified
by Board members or in the extemal audit reports;

. policies and procedures for such matiers as delegation of authorities, capital expenditure and reasury
management as well as regular updates;

. review of the adequacy of the level of experienced and professional staff throughout the business and

the expertise of individual staff members so that they are capabie of carrying out their individual
delegated responsibilities; and
. review of the external audit work plans.

By order of the Board

Farouq Sheikh
Executive Group Chairman
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report and the sudited Group financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2018.

Business review and future developments

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income detailed on page 74 sets cutthe Group's financial resuits
for the year.

Key performance indicators are sef out in the "Highlights” on page 3.
Key risks and uncertainties

There are a number of risks and uncertainties which could impact on the Group’s long-term performance. These
are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 14 to 21.

Dividends

Dividends of £7.5m have been paid during the year. The Directors propose a final dividend of 7.5p per share
(2017 6.60p) subject to the approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Share listing

The Company’s ordinary shares are admitted to and traded on AIM, a market operated by the London Stock
Exchange. Further information regarding the Company’s share capital, including movements during the year
are set out in note 21 fo the financial statements.

Financial insfruments

The Group is exposed to a combination of price, credit, interest rate and cash flow risks. The Group uses
financial instruments including cash, borrowings and interest rate swaps, the main purpose of which are to raise
finance for the Group's activities and to manage interest rate risks. Disclosures in respect of these Instruments
are set ouf in note 24 to the financial statements.

Employees

The Directors recognise the benefits which arise from keeping employees informed of the Group's progress
and plans and through their participation in the Group’s performance. The Group is therefore commifted to
providing its employees with informaticn on a regular basis, to consulting with them on a regular basis so that
their views and/or concems may be taken into account in taking decisions which may affect their interesis, and
to encouraging their participation in schemes through which they will benefit from the Group’s progress and
profitability. CareTech aims to foster a working environment in which all employees are treated with courtesy
and respect and seeks at all times to provide opportunities to develop and reach their full potential.

The Group established new sharesave share option schemes for efigible employees in both 2016 and 2017,
details of which can be found in note 20 along with options remaining on previous schemes. The Board feels
that share ownership among employees fosters team spirit and motivation and wiit contribute to the ultimate

success of the Group.

It is the Group’s policy to ensure that disabled persons are treated fairly and consistently in terms of
recruitment, training, career development and prormotion and that their employment opportunities should be
based on a realistic assessment of their aptitudes and abilities. Wherever possible, the Group will continue
the employment of persons who become disabled during the course of their employment through refraining,
acquisttion of speciat aids and/or equipment or the provision of suitable alternative employment.
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Authority to allof shares

Pursuant to resolutions approved at the Annual General Meeting on 6 March 2018 the Directors were granted
authority to allot shares with an aggregate nominal value of up to the value of cne third of the share capital of

the Company.

Resolutions for the renewal of the above will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and
also a resolution to give the Directors authority to allot equity securities for cash to the holders of ordinary shares
as the Directors may determine on the register on a fixed record date in proportion (as nearly as may bej to
their respective shareholding or in accordance with the rights aftached therato. Further details of which, togather
with explanations of the resolutions fo be proposed at the meeting, appear in the “Nofice of AGM and
explanatory circular to shareholders” which wiii be sent to shareholders in good tims prior to the meeting.

Substantial shareholdings

As at 6 December 2018, being the date of the preliminary results announcement, the Company had been
notified of, or was otherwise aware of, the following substantial interests of 3% or more in the ordinary share
capital of the Company, other than those in respect of the Directors which are set out in the Remuneration

Report on page 64.

No. of

Ordinary

shares of 0.5p Percentage %
Lion Asset Mgt 15,035,845 13.81
Richard | Griffiths (Guernsey) 10,576,972 9.71
Teleos Capital Partners (Zug) 9,236,241 8.48
1798 Volantis(London) 8,089,515 743
Hof Hoorneman Bankiers (Netherlands) 6,410,400 5,89
Canaccerd Genuity Weaith Mgt (London) 6,360,969 5.84
Majedie Asset Mgt (London) 3,657,412 3.36

Pirectors

The names of the current Directors fogether with brief bicgraphical details are shown on pages 40 to 41.

In accordance with the articles of association, M Adams and J Cumming retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-eiection.

The names of all Directors who held office in the year are as follows:
Farouq Sheikh

Harcon Sheikh

Karl Monaghan

Mike Adams

Michael Hill

Jamie Cumming

With affect from 10 December 2018 Gareth Dufton has been appointed as Interim Group Finance Director. It
is expected that he will join the Board on an interim basis in due course.

The terms of the Direcfors’ service contracts and details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company,
together with details of share options granted and any other awards made to the Directors, are disclosed in the
Remuneration Report commencing on page 63.

Directors’ insurance
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Directors’ insurance

The Company maintains appropriate Directors' and Officers’ liability insurance, as permitted by the Companies
Act 2008,

Post Balance Sheet Events

in October 2018 the Group completed the Acquisition of the Cambian Group plc when the admission of the
Entarged Share Capital of the Grouyp to frading on AIM occurred.

In August 2018 the Group had entered a new commifted Term and Revolving Fzcilities Agreement with its
Bankers which enabled it to make the recommended offer for Cambian Group ple Following completion the
committed facility was syndicated and the monies drawn totalling £322m under the term loan. This was
utilised to ctear the existing Bank facilities and also the Cambian Shareholders.

On 22 November 2018 an Interim dividend of 3.50p per share was paid to shareholders.
Going concern

After making appropriate enquirfies and reviewing the year end balance sheet position, the Direclors have
reasonable expectations that the Group is well placed fo manage its business risks successfully and has
adequate resources to confinue in operaficnal existence for at least the next 12 menths. The Greup has
prepared detalled budgets and cash flow forecasts and have considered the capital and working capital
requirements. There are a number of Banking Covenants which ratchet depending upon ime and Group
performance. The Directors forecast that including the Cambian Group plc that they are able to meet all banking
covenants which are reviewed regularly. For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the going concemn
basis for the Enlarged Group in preparing the financial statements.

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office and, in accordance with section
489 of the Companies Act 2008, a resolution for their reappointment will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual
General Meefing.

By order of the Board

Farou eikh
Group Executive Chairman

Metropolitan House

3 Darkes Lane

Potters Bar
Hertfordshire EN6 1AG
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Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors, Jamie Cumming (Chairman), Karl
Monaghan and Mike Adams, and meets at least twice each year, The Company Secretary, Michael Hill, was
the secretary of the Remuneration Committee.

The Committee members have no personal financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the matiers to be
decided. They have no conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships or from being involved in the day-
to-day business of the Group. They do not participate ih any bonus, share option or pension arrangements.

The Committee’s principal duties are fo review the scale and structure of the remuneration and service contracts
for Executive Directors and Senior Management and it also administers the Company’s share option schemes.

The Committes takes into consideration environmental, social and governance ("ESG") issues, in relafion fo
corperate performance, when sefting the remuneration of Executive Directors and takes steps to ensure that
the incentive structure for Senior Management does not raise ESG fisks by inadvertently motivating

irresponsible behaviour.

Remuneration Policy

CareTech's remuneration policy is to provide for each of its Executive Directors and key personnel a package
which is adequate o affract, retain and motivate individuals of the appropriate calibre, whilst at the same fime

nct paying more than is necessary for this purpose.

The Remuneration Commitiee has the objective of ensuring that remuneration packages are offered which:

+ are setat a [evel reflecting the competitive market in which the Group operates;

« have a significant part of remuneration linked to the achievement of performance targels,
= have due regard to actual and expected market conditions;

- are shructured in accordance with the interests of shareholders; and

+ foster the development of a high-performance cuiture across the Group.

The following comprised the principal elements of remuneration for Executive Directors and Executive
Management for the year under review:

*  basic salary;
= bonus;
»  benefits, including car allowance, vehicle expenses and healthcare insurance; and

= pension contribution.

The remuneration for Non-Executive Directors is set by the full Board an the recommendation of the Executive
Directors. Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in any of the Company’s bonus or share option

schemes.

In 2017 Deloitte LLP were commissioned to prepare a Benchmarking report which provided for each
benchmarking group a quartile analysis of the different elements of pay for a number of management roles and

non-executive director roles.

Bonuses were paid in the year 2017/18 regarding the financial years 2016 and 2017 fo Executive Directors and
were triggered by the achievement of Underlying EBITDA targets.

The potential Bonus for the financial year 2018 will be triggered by Underlying EBITDA and also comprises
other measures of quality, EPS and accupancy.

63



Remuneration Report (continued)

Directors’ service agreements

All Executive Directors’ service confracts are subject to 12 months’ notice of termination on either side.

The Non-Executive Directors have each been appointed under contracts which are subject to three months’

notice of termination on either side.

Directors Remuneration {audited}
The various elements of the remuneration received by each Director were as follows:

Saiary & Fees Benefits Annual Bonus Total ‘Pension
Year to 30 2013 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
September

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Current Directors =
Faroug Sheikh 396 336 21 22 315 77 732 435
Haroon Sheikh 453 326 58 52 283 52 794 430
Karl Monaghan 53 50 53 50
Mike Adams 42 40 42 40
Michael Hil 278 211 26 21 180 37 484 268 30 12
Jamie Cumming 42 40 ' 42 40
Total 1,264 1,003 105 85 778 166 2,147 1,264 30 12

Directors’ interests

The Directors who held office at the end of the financial year had the following interests in the ordinary share

capital of the Company according to the register of Directors’ interests:

30 September 2G18 30 September 2017

Number of

Ordinary

0.5p Shares

Westminster Holdings Limited (1) 9,763,519
Cosaraf Pension Fund (2) ‘ ) 170,000
Faroug Shaikh 638,919
Haroon Sheikh , 580,226
Michael Hill 137,405
Karl Monaghan 34,250
Mike Adams 2,145

2 Cosaraf Pensfon Fund Is a selifadminlstered scheme established for the benefit of Farauq Shetkh and Haroon Shelkh.

Number of
Ordinary
0.5p Shares

9,763,519
170,000

- 638,919
690,226
137,405
34,250

2,300

Westminster Holdings Limited 15 a company cwned by a trust, the beneficiaries of which include Faroug Sheikh and Haroon Shelkh,
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Rirectors’ share options and Sharesave cptions

Ferouy Shelih, Haroon Shetkh and Micheel Hill had owned 285,000, 380,000 and 168,250 ordinary shares of
0.5p respectively under e Group’s Freoutive Sharpd Ownership Plan sstablished in Apnil 2012 'which
completed the three yesr pedod In April 2017 {see note 20). As part of the placing anncunced on 22 March
2017, Faroug Sheikh, Haroon Sheikh and Michae! Hil have each now taken sole ownership of 153,818,
208,226 and B9, 786 ordinary shares. These ordinary shares were included In a 12 month lock-in coveriny in
aggregate, 2% of ihe Company's Issued shafe capitat which has now expired,

On 28 Mareh 2017 the Group's Execuiive Shared Qwnership Plan 2017 was crealed. Faroug Sqeji-_:h, Haroon
Sheikh and Michael Hilf own 320,000, 320,000 and 189,000 ordinary shares of 0.5p respectively under the
Group's Executive Shared Ownership Plan 2017 {see note 20).

On 17 March 2017 the Company granted opliors in aguregate over 474,581 ordinary shates pursuant fo the
CareTech Holdings PLC Sharesave Scheme 2017, it is a 3 year contract with a start date of 1 May 2017 with
options exercisable at a price of 194 pence per share between 1 May 2018 and 31 October 2019, Within the
options daseribed above, there were oplions granted to Farouq Sheikh, Hafoon Sheikh and Michael Hitt of
8,278 each under the Sharesave Scheme.

On 17 Qotoher 2817 the Cormpany granted options i aggregate over 264,681 ordinary shares pursuant o the
CareTech Holdings PLC Sharesave scheme 2017, itis a 3 yearcontract with a start date of 1 Devenibei 2017
witt options exercisable at a price of 308 pence per share between 1 December 2020 and 31 May 2021,
Farour Shetkh, Haroon Shetkh and Michael Hill did not participate in the sharesave scheme 2017 as'they
already save £500 a month urder the sharesave schema 2017 and this is a HMRC Emit.

Mane of the Directors have any other share optiens in the Company.

By order of the Board

Jamie Gumming,

CGhairman of the Remuneration Commiites

Matropolitan House, 3 Darkes Lane, Poliers Bar, Herlfordshire, ENG 1AG
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors fo prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
the Directors have o prepare the financial statements in accordance with Infernational Financial Reporting
Standards {IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a frue and fair view of the state of affairs and
profit or loss of the company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors
are required fo:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply tham consistently;

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable IFRSs have heen followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the company’s fransactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financia! position
of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006, They are alsc responsible for safeguarding the assels of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detecticn of fraud and cther irregularities.

The Directors confirm that;

»  sofar as each Director is aware, there is nc relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor
is unaware; and

= the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought fo have taken as Direcfors in order fo make
themselves aware of any relevant audit informaticn and to establish that the audifor is aware of that
information.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company's website. Legistation in the United Kingdom goveming the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Beard

Group Executive Chairman

Metropolitan House

3 Darkes Lane

Potters Bar
Herffordshire ENG 1AG
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of CareTech Holdings PLC
Opinion

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified

We have audited the financial statements of CareTech Holdings PLC (the ‘parent company’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 30 September 2018 which comprise the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the Consalidated
Statement of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, the Company Statement of
Financial Position, the Company Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company Statement of Cash Flow,
notes to the financial statements and company notes to the financial staternents, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation
of the group financial statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union &nd, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 20086.

in our opinion:

s the financial statements give a frue and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent
company’s affairs as at 30 September 2018 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by

the European Union;
+ the parent company financial staterments have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies

Act 2006; and
» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companles

Act 2008,

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1ISAs (UK)) and

applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requiremenis. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Who we are reporting to
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16

of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpese. To
the fullest extent permitted by faw, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we

have formed. '

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in raspect of the following matters in relation to which the iSAs (UK) require us
to repcert to you where:

+ the directors’ use of the going concem hasis of accounting in the preparation of the financial

statements is not appropriate; or

= the directors have nct disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that
may cast significant doubt about the group's or the parent company's ability fo continue to adopt the
going concernt basis of accounting for a period of at least twefve months from the date when the

financial statements are authorised for issue.

67



Overview of our audit approach

«  Overall materiality: £1,760,000, which represenis 4% of the group's
underlying EBITDA;

» Key audit matters were identifled as occurrence of revenue,
capitalisation of plant, property and eguipment and the validity of
capitalisation of development costs;

» We performed a full scope audit of the financial information of the
UK head office, in respect of the parenf company and the group
consolidation; and

« There were no key changes in the scope of the audit from the prior
year.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our

audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the maost significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those that
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed [n the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereen, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

We did not identify any Key Audit Matters relating to the audit of the financial statements of the parent
company.

How the matter was addressed in the
audit - Group

Key Audit Matters - Group

Occurrence of revenue

Our audit work included, but was not
restricted to:

Revenue is comprised of a number of
different revenue streams, including the
provision of care services, fostering
services and learning services., = considered the revenue recognition
policies to check these were
appropriately applied to the revenue
streams and to ensure compliance
with applicable accounting standards;
« evaluafing the design and

Under internationa!l Standard on Auditing
{UK) 240 "The Auditor's Responsibilities
Relating to Fraud in an Audit of Fihancia!

Statements’, there is a rebuttable
presumed risk that revenue may be
misstated due o fraud.

There are a significant number of service
users and sites within the group.

Due to the manual nature of the
information on which billing and credit
nofes are based on, we identified
occurrence of revenue as a significant
risk, which was one of the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement.

implementation of key controls around
the revenue cycle including the
admissicns and discharge process for
service users;

« fora sample of both new and existing
service users, we agreed the receipt
of revenue to remittance advice from
Local Authorities;

« completing substantive analytical
procedures oh revenue based on
occupancy numbers across the group
fo identify unusual trends in the year;
and

» seiecting and testing a sample of
credit noies raised during the year and
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Key Audit Matters - Group

How the matier was addressed in the
audif - Group

subsequent o the year-end to confirm
there was no gross up of revenues.

The group's accounting policy on revenue
recognition is shown in note 2(m) to the
financial statements and related
disclosures are inciuded in note 4.

Key observations

Our testing did not identffy any material
misstatements in relation to the
occurrence of revenue.

Capitalisation of plant, property and
eguipment

The group’s net book value of plant,
property and equipment increased from
£297,170,000 af 30 September 2017 to
£301,109,000 at 30 September 2018.
There were additions in the year totalling
£15,616,000.

The group invests significant amounts in
plant, property and equipment annually
and theretore there is a risk that a
material error could occur if items have
been incorrectly capitalised. We therefore
identified capitalisation of plant, property
and equipment as a significant risk, which
was onhe of the most significant assessed
risks of material misstatement.

Qur audit work included, but was not

restricted to:

= agreeing a sample of capital
expenditure in the year to supporting
documentation and tested that the
accounting treatment was appropriate
and in accordance with the
requirements of International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 16
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’;

» agreeing that appropriate de-
recognition of assets has oceurred
when replacement or refurbishment
projects have taken place in the year
on a sample basis; and

+ cbtaining finance and operafing lease
schedules and agreed that new leases
were corectly recognised in fine with
third party documentation.

The group's accounting policy on plant,
property and equipment is shown in note
2(d) to the financial statements and
refated disciosures are included in note
12.

Key observations
Cur festing did not identify any material
misstatements in the capitalisation of

plant, property and equipment during the ‘

year.

The validity of capitalisation of
development costs

The group capitalises intangible assets
within software and licences The amount
capitalised in the year amounted to
£2,538,000 (2017: £3,414,000).

Our audit work included, but was not
restricied to:

+ evaluate the group’s accounting policy
for consistency under IAS 38 and
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Key Audit Matters - Group

How the matter was addressed in the
audit - Group

The capitalisation of development costs
under IAS 38 'Intangible Assets' involves
significant judgement as to whether they
should be recognised and therefore there
is a risk that a material error could ocour if
items have been incorrectly capitalised.
We therefore identified the validity of
capitajisation of development costs as a
significant risk, which was one of the most
significant assessed risks of material
misstatermnent.

whether these policies have been
applied accurately and consistently;

agreeing the development costs meet
the criteria for capitalisation stated
within 1AS 38 on a sample basis;
obtaining an understanding of the
projects under development through
the analysis of papers prepared by
management to agree these projects
meet the recognition criteria under 1AS
38;
= confirming that salaries were
capitalised in accordance with IAS 38
on a sample basis, in particular that
the developments meef the fechnical
and commercial feasibility criteria; and
» agreeing a sample of relevant payroll
costs to payroll records.

The group's accounting policy on
development costs is shown in note 2(e)
to the financial statemenis and related
disclosures are included in note 13.

Key observations

Our testing did not identify any material
misstatements in the validity of
capitalisation of development costs during
the vear.
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Cur application of materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable

that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We
use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit work and in evaluating the resuits

of that work.

Materiality was determined as follows:

level of specific materiality for

Materiality Measure | Group Parent
Financial statements | We defermined materiglity for | We determined materiality for
as g whole the audit of the group financial ; the audit of the parent
statements as a whole fo be company financial statemenis
£1,780,000, which is 4% of the | fo be £1,574,000, which is
group's underlying operating 0.5% of the parent's total
prefit stated before assets,
depreciation, amortisation of
intangible assets, and share- This benchmark is censidered
based payments charge the most appropriate as the
(EBITDA). This benchmark is | parent company does not
considered the most frade.
appropriate because of the
nature of the listing of the Materiality for the current year
group on the AWM market and | is higher than the level that we
hence the focus by various determined for the year ended
stakeholders on this balance. 30 September 2017 based on
Underlying EBITDA the increased level of total
represents a key performance | assets.
measure for the group and
due to the non-recurring
nature of the exceptional
items, we consider it
appropriate that these are
excluded. This approach is
consistent with prior year.
Materiality for the current year
is higher than the level that we
determined for the year ended
30 September 2017 to reflect
the increase in the underlying
EBITDA of the group
compared to the prior period.
Performance
materiality used to We use a different level of We use a different level of
drive the extent of materiality, performance materiality, performance
our testing materiality, to drive the extent | maferialify, fo drive the extent
of our testing and this was set | of our testing and this was set
at 0% of financial statement | at 60% of financial statement
materiality for the audit of the | materiality for the audit of the
group financial statements. parent company financial
statements,
Specific materiality We also determine a lower We also determine a lower
level of specific materiality for
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certain areas such as
directors’ remuneration and
related party transactions.

cerfain areas such as related
paity transactions.

Communpication of
misstaternents o the
audit commitiee

We determined the threshold
at which we will communicate
misstatements fo the audit
committee to be £88,000. In
addition we will communicate
misstatemants below that
threshold that, in our view,

We determined the threshoid
at which we will communicate
misstatements to the audit
committes to be £78,000. In
addition we will communicate
misstatements below that
threshald that, in our view,

warrant reporting on
gualitative grounds.

warrant reporting on
gualitative grounds.

An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough understanding of tha group's
business, its environment and risk profile and in particular included:

Evaluation by the group audit team of Identified components to assess the significance of that
component and to determine the planned audit respense based on a measure of materiality,
considering each as a percentage of total group assets, liabilities, revenues and underlying EBITDA;
Management prepare and report on the results on a group basis rather than on a company basis, all of
which conduct activities within the UK. The subsidiaries in the group are 100% controlled by CareTech
Holdings PLC, apart from Spark of Genius {North East) LLP which is 50% owned, Purple Zest Limited
which is 60% owned and the company provides a guarantee for all the subsidiary liabilities apart from a
limited number of subsidiaries as stated in note 14 of the financial staternents. All accounting records
and the finance team are located at head office within a shared service centre and accordingly, our
work was conducted there. At the parent entity level, we have also tested the consolidation process;
and

We evaluated controls over the financial reporting systems identified as part of our risk assessment
and addressed critical accounting matters. We tested the controls around revenue recognition and
operating expenses to confirm the controls were designed and operating effectively, We then
undertook substantive testing on significant fransactions and material account balances.

Other information

The directors are respansible far the other information. The other information comprisas the information
included in the annual report set cut on pages 1 to 65, other than the financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon. Our opinion an the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except fo
the extent otherwise explicily stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance caonclusion

thereon.

In connaction with cur audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
stafements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a materiai misstatement in the financiai statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of

this other information, we are required to repori that fact.

We have nothirg fo report in this regard.
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Our opinion on other matters presctibed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

» the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

« the strategic report and the directors’ repart have been prepared in accordance with applicable fegal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006
la the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or

the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing fo report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

» adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our

audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
« the parent company financial staternents are not in agreement with the accounting records and refurns;

or
+ certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements

As explained mere fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 66 the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and
fair view, and for such internal conirol as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent
company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concemn and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but o do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as & whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due te fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financia! statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.fre.orq. uk/audiforsresponsibilities. This description forms

part of our auditor's report.

Giant Thoratoa UK i

Malcolm Gomersall

Senicr Statutory Auditor .

for and on hehalf of Grant Thornten UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Charterad Accountants
Miiton Keynes

2o Oecernioer 2oV
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 September 2018

2018 2017
Non- Non-
Underlying underlying ® Total Underlying undertying @ Total
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 EDOO £000
Revenue 4 185,689 - 185,689 166,018 " 166,018
Cost of sales (120,387} - {120,387) (108,110} - (108,110}
Gross profit 65,302 - 65,302 50,808 - 59,908
Administrative expenses (27,543) (17,573} {45,116} {25,758) (11,483 (37,241}
Operating prefit 37,758 {(17,573) 20,186 34,150 (11,483) 22,667
ERBITDA ® 43,862 (3,620) 40,242 30,885 {3,487) 36,398
Depreciation 12 (&,906} - (5,806) (6,525) - (5,525}
Amortisation of intangible assets 513 - (7,428) (7,428) - (7,190} {7,190)
Acquisition cost 5 - (4,062) {4,062) - (BD6) (806}
Acquisition adjustments ) - (2,463} {2,463} - - -
Share-based payments charge (197) - (197) {210) - (210)
Operating profit 37,769 (17,573) 26,186 34,150 {11,483) 22,667
Financial expenses N 58 (4,667) &1 (4,816} (4,770) (1,118) (5,888)
Profit before tax 32,892 (17,522) 15,370 29,380 {12,601) 16,779
Taxation 589 (5,751) 1,625 {4,1286) (2,744) 3,814 1,070
Profit for the year 27,141 (15,897) 11,244 26,636 (8,787} 17,849
Non-controlling interest (595) - {596) - - -
Profit and comprehensive
income for the year
attributable to owners of the
parent 26,545 (15,897} 10,648 26,836 (8,787) 17,849
Earmings per share
Baslic 10,11 35.07p 14.07p 38.03p 20.48p
Dijutad 10,11
25060 14.06p 28.02p 28480

(i} Non-underlying items comprise: amortisation of intangibles, acguisition expenses, fair value adjustments on acquisitions, changes
in value and additional finance payments in respect of desivative financial instruments, integration, reorganisation ard redundancy

costs and provision for onerous leases. See note 5.
(i) EBITBA is operating profit stated hefore depreciation and share-based payments charge.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2018

2018 2017
Note £000 £000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 301,109 207,170
Cther Intangible assets 13 40,128 40,954
Goodwilt 13 43,689 43,008
384,926 384,222
Currentassets
Inventaries 893 835
Trade and ofher receivables 15 31,747 23,519
Cash and cash equivalents 16 9,421 6,402
42,068 30,756
Total assets 425,897 411978
Equity
Share capttal 21 379 379
Share premium 21 120,820 120,778
Shares hedd by Executive Shared Ownership Plan 21 {4,750) {4,760)
Merger reserve 21 9,023 9,023
Non-controlfing interest 639 -
Retained eamings 2% 82,122 78,771
Total equity 208,233 204,201
Liabillities
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 17 2,880 145,872
Ground rent [jabiities arsing under IAS17 7.244 7,294
Deferred tax labilities 1@ 18,864 17,843
Deferred and confingent consideration payable 24 - 1,138
Derivative financial instruments 24 - 172
28,678 172,314
Current labilities
Loans and borrowings 17 153,830 7,662
Trade and other payables 18 24,875 15,709
Grolind rent liabilities arising under 1AS17 ] 50
Breferred and contingent consideration payable 24 266 2420
Deferred income 3,372 1,762
Corporation tax 6,835 7,092
Dertvative financial nstruments 24 152 768
190,081 35,463
Total liabllfles 218,759 207777
Total equity and lizbilities 426,592 411,878
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on and were signed on its behaif by:

Group Execulive Chairman
Company number: 04457287
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
as at 30 September 2018

At 1 October 2016
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive
income

{ssue of ordinary shares
Equity settled share
based payments charge
Dividends

Transactions with
owners recorded
directly in equity

At 3D September 2017

At 1 Octeber 2017
Profit for the year

Total comprehensive
income

Issue of ordinary shares
Equity settled share
based payments charge
Dividends

Minority interest

Transactions with

owners recorded
directly in equity

At 30 September 2018

Share Share
capital premium
£000 £000
321 81,750
58 39,028

58 39,028
79 120,778
379 120,778

- 42

- 42

378 120,820

Shares held by Retained Merger

Executive Shared earnings reserve
Ownership Plan

£DOC £000 £000

(6,672) 66,545 9,023

- 17,840 -

- 17,849 -

1,322 - -

- 210 -

. {5,833) .

1,322 (5,723) -

(4,750) 78,771 2,023

(4,750) 78,771 9,023

- 10,648 -

- 10,648 -

- 197 -

- {7,494) -

- 729 -

{4,750} 82,122 9,022

Tetal Attributable Non- Total
{o owners ofthe  confrolling Equity
parant [nfarest
£000 £000 £000
151,667 - 161,667
17,849 - 17.849
17.849 - 17,849
40,408 - 40,408
210 - 210
{5,933) - (5,033
34,685 - 34,685
204,201 - 204,201
204,201 - 204,201
10,648 - 10,648
10,648 - 10,648
42 - 42
197 - 187
(7,494) - {7,494)
- 638 539
(7,255) 639 (6,616)
207,594 639 208,233
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

for the year ended 30 September 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Financial expenses

Depreciation

Ameortisation

Charitable foundation donation
Share-based payments charge
Acquisiion fransaction cost

Costs arising from placement of shares
integration and restructuring costs
Release of deferred consideration
Termination of onerous contracis
Impairment of gocdwill

Adjustments relating to prior acquisitions

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital
Increase in Inventory

Increase in frade and other receivables

Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables

Operating cash flows before adjustment items
ntegration and restructuring costs

Payment of Charitable denations

Payments made under onerous contracts

Cash inflows from operating activities
Tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for business combinations

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of software

Payment of acquisition costs

Net cash used In investing activities

Note 2018 2017
£000 £000

15,370 16,779

8 4816 5,888
12 5,906 5525
13 7,428 7,180
380 -

20 197 210
5 4,062 806
5 - 348
5 2,863 2,852
5 (1,095) -
5 377 287
5 2,000 -
5 1,558 -
43,862 39,885

(63) (20)

(8,228) (2,641)

3,875 {4.519)

39,446 32,705

5 (3,652) {4,006)
5 (380) -
@77 (287)

35,037 28,412

(4,135) (6.295)

30,902 22,117

1,201 200

23 (72)  (16,586)
(14519)  (15,888)

13 (2,538) (3,867)
(839) (1,419)

(16.,767)  (37.560)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

(continued)
for the year ended 30 September 2018

Cash flows from financing activifies

Proceeds from the issue of share capital

Interest paid

Cash outflow arising from derivative financial instruments
Bank Loans drawdown

Loap arrangement fees paid

Repayment of borrowings

Payment of finance lease liabiliies

Dividends paid

Net cash arising {used in)! from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September

Note

21

22

16

2018 2017
£000 £000
42 37.829
(4,650) (4,955)
(649) (776)
11,035 30,911
(1,436) -
{5,775) (37,400)
{2,189) (2,138)
(7.494) {5,933)
{11,116) 17,537
3,018 2,094
6,402 4,308
9,421 6,402
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Notes to the Financial Statementis

1 Background and basis of preparation

CareTech Holdings PLC {the "Company”} is a company registered and domiciled in England and Wales. The
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2018 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group®). The consolidated financial staterents are
presented in GBP (£), which is the Company's functional currency, rounded to the nearest thousand. The
Parent Company financizl statements on pages 116 fo 125 present information about the Company as a

separate entity and not about its Group.

The consclidated financial statements were approved for release by the Board of Directors on 20 December
2018.

Going concern

The Group’s business activities together with the factors likely to affect ifs future development, performance
and position are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and Chief Executive’'s Statement and Performance
Review on pages 9 to 13 and pages 22 to 29, The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity
position and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial Review on pages 34 to 39. In addition, note
24 to the financial statemenis includes the Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital,
its financial risk management objectives, detaiis of its financial instruments and hedging activities and its
exposures to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. As highlighted in that note, the Group meets its day-
to-day working capital requirements through a mixture of bank facilities which are sufficient, with cash flow
from profits, to fund present commitments. Term facilities are utilised to fund capital expenditure and short-
term flexibility is achieved by the utilisation of cash resources in respect of financial liabilities, which are shown
in the fable in note 24 and indicates their contractual cash flow maturities. There are a number of Banking
Covenants which ratchet depending on time and Group performance. The Directors forecast that they are
able to meet all Banking Covenants which are reviewed reguilarly.

The Group had entered into new Banking faciliies with Lloyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank plc
for committed financing by way of term loans of between 3.5 1o & years up to £334m and a short term bridge
loan of approx. £80m. The short bridge loan was repaid in November 2018 following completion using

principailly Cambian’s significant cash position.

In addition to the Term Loans and Bridge Loan, a £25m revolving credit facility is available to provide working
capital for the Enfarged Group and an uncommitted accordion facility of up to £30m for general Corporate
and Working Capital purposes ({including acquisitions).

The new facilities of the Term Loans and Bridge Loan with an aggregate size up to £414m have been utilised
for the cash consideration of the acquisition, foliowing the repayment of the Group’s existing bank debt
facilities of approx. £150m and the payment of debt financing fees of up to approx. £6m. The amount
available for the draw down under the Term Loans was reduced in the event thai the actual cash
consideration payable under the transaction was less than £253m.

As part of the Acquisition, in September 2018 the Group's property portfolio was revalued by Cushman and
Wakefield and the market value was £424m. The Cambian Group plc property portfclic was revalued by
Knight Frank and the market value was £350m. These valuations are not reflected in the Consclidated

Staternent of Financial Position.

Following completion of the Acquisition, Lloyds Bank ple and Nat West Markets plc, who had underwritten
the funding, completed the syndication of the Term Loans and revolving credit facility successfully. The
syndication was significantly oversubscribed showing strong support for both the Group and the acquisition.

The final faciiity is a term loan of £322m and revolving credit facility of £25m to a group of banks comprising
Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC UK Banks plc, Santander UK plc, AIB Group (UK} ple, Clydesdale Bank PLC and
Credit Suisse AG, in addition to Lloyds Bank pic and National Westminster Bank pic.
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The Enlarged Group loan to value based only on the property valuations is ¢42% whilst the proferma net
debt to EBITDA of the Enlarged Group is 4.3x which is expected fo reduce to under 4x in the short term,

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the next 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. The Directors forecast
that including the Cambian Group plc that they are able to mest all banking covenants which are reviewed
regularly, For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis for the Enlarged Group in
preparing the financial statements.

2 Accounting policies
{a) Applicable Accounting Standards

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs") and those parts of the
Companies Act 2006 relevant to those companies which report In accordance with IFRS.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods
presented in these Group financial statements.

Adopted IFRS not yet applied
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendment and
interpretations to existing standards have been publishing by the IASB but are not yet effective and have not
been applied early by the Group. Management anticipates that the following pronouncements relevant to the
Group’s operation will be adopted in the Group's accounting policies for the first pericd beginning after the
effective date of the pronouncement, once adopted by the EU:

- IFRS 8 Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 2018)

- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018)

- IFRS 18 Leases (effective 1 January 2019)

- Clarification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Amendment to IFRS 2)

(effective 1 January 2018)

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 17 for accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019 and from the
perspective of the group as lessee will require (subject to certain practical expedients) most of the group’s
lease obligations (including the recent sale and leaseback transaction) o be reflected on balance sheet
with a corresponding asset reflecting the right to use the underlying leased asset.

Management are currently performing a detailed review of the Group’s lease arrangements and are
deciding on how IFRS 16 will be implemented and are considering which practical expedients might apply
and whether or not the standard will be implemented on a full or partial refrospective basis. The full impact

of [FRS 16 is therefore not yet known.
The Group’s current lease accounting policy and lease disclosures are included in notes 17 and 25.

There are cther standards and interpretations in issue bui these are not considered o be relevant to the
Group.

The directors expect that the adoption of the standards listed below, other than potentially [FRS 16, will not
have a material impact on the financial information of the Group in future reporting periods. This includes
both IFRS ¢ Financial instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts from Custormers.

{b} Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared con the historical cost basis except that derivative financial instruments
are stated at their fair value and contingent consideration is stated at fair value through profit or loss.

(c) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries as of 30

September 2018. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 30 September. Al transactions and balances
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between Group companies are eliminated cn consolidation, Including unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed
on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure

consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

(d} Property, ptant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly atiributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly atiribuiable to bringing the
assets to a working condition for their intended use and capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software that
is integral fo the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

The cost of replacing a compenent of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised In the carrying
amount of the ifem if it is probable that the future ecenomic benefits embodied within the component will low
to the Group, and its cost can be measured refiably. The camying amount of the replaced component is
derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the
profit or loss as ncurred.

Where paris of an iftem of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of property, plant and equipment and depreciated separately.

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset
are classified as finance leases. Where land and buildings are held under leases the accounting treatment of
the land is considered separately from that of the buiidings. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease
are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Lease payments
are accounted for as described in note (n).

Depreciation i1s charged to the consolidated staleinent of comprehensive income over the estimated useful
lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The Directors reassess
the residual value estimates, particularly in respect of properties, on an annual basis. The estimated useful

lives are as follows:

. freehold buildings 2% straight-line {o residual value;
. leng leasehold property over the life of the lease;

. short leasehold property over the life of the lease;

. fixtures, fittings and equipment 15% straight line; and

. motor vehicles 25% reducing balance.

(e} Intangible assets and goodwill

All husiness combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method as described in note (£).
Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration over the fair value of the assels, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable intangibles are those which can
be sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardiess of whether those righis are separable.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Geedwill is allocated to cash-generating
units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment.

Negative goodwill (bargain purchase credit) arising on an acquisition is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated af cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses.

Expendiure on research aclivities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Includad within software and licences are development casts in relation to software which are capitalised
when the related projects meet the recognition criteria of an internally generated intangible asset, the key
criteria being as follows:

(a) technical feasibility of the completed intangible asset has been established;

{b) it can be demonstrated that the asset will generate probable future econemic benefits;

{c) adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development;
(d) the expenditure atfributable to the intangible asset can be refiably measured; and

{e} management has the ability and intention to use or sell the assat.

These projects are designed fo enhance the existing software within the Group. Salaries associated with
development time and directly attributable overheads are capitalised within intangible assets.

Development costs recognised as assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful
life. Development expenditure is only amortised over the period the Group is expecfed fo benefit and is

subject to annual impairment testing.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Amortisation is charged fo the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinife. The eslimated useful lives are

as follows:

. customer relationships 1-20 years; and
. software and licences 5 years.

(f) nventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, The cost of inventories is based on a first-

in first-out cost basis.

(g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deppsits with matunities of three moenths or Jess

from inception.

(h) Financial Instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial ligbilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by fransactions costs,
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash fiows from the financial asset
expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are fransferred. A financial liability

is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified info the foliowing categories

upon initial recognition:
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+ loans and receivables and
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL are subject to review for impairment at least at each reporting
date to identify whether there is any ohjective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial asssts is
impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets, which
are described below.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are presented within finance costs or finance income, except for impairment of frade
receivables which Is presented within other administrative expenses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
guoted in an active market. After initial recognition, these are measured at amorfised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, frade and most other receivables fall into this category
of financiai instruments. Individually significant receivables are considered for impairment when they are past
due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivabies that
are not considered to be individually impaired are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined -
by reference to shared credit risk characteristics. The impairment loss estimate is then based on recent
historical counterparty default rates for each identfified group.

Financial assets at FVvTPL

Financial assefs at FVTPL include financial assets that are either classified as held for trading or that meet
certain conditions and are designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition. All derivative financial instruments
fall info this category. Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The fair values of financial assets in this category are
determined by reference to active market iransactions or using a valuation technigue where no active market
exists.

Classiiication and subseqguent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial
instruments. Financial liabiliies are measured subseqguently at amoriised cost using the effective interest
method, except for financial liabilities held for trading or designated at FVTPL, that are carried subsequently
at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. All
derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted

for at FVTPL.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income are included within finance costs or finance income.

From time to time, the long term debt held by the Group are either refinanced as these come to maturity or
the margin on these facilities moves in iine with the ratio of the Group’s net debt to EBITDA. In either scenario,
the Group reviews whether the debt is accounted for as a modification or an extinguishment of the liability.
A substantial modification should be accounted for as an extinguishment of the existing liability and the
recognition of a new liability. A non-substantial modification should be accounted for as an adjustment to the
existing liability. Both the guantitative and qualitative aspects of the modification are taken into account to
ascertain whether the medication is substantial and these can include the change in covenanis, repayment
dates and the effective interest rate. if modification accounting is adopted, the carrying value of the exjsting
liability is adjusted for fees paid or costs incurred and the effective interest rate is amended at the modification
dafe. If exiinguishment accounting is adopied, the existing liability is de-recagnised and the new or modified
liability is recognised at its fair value, the gain or loss equal to the difference between the carrying value of
the old liability and the fair value of the new one is recognised, any incremental costs or fees incurred and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in profit or loss and a new effective interest rate for the

83



modified liability is calculated and usad in fuiure periods.

Derivative financial instruments.
From time fo time, the Group enters into derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to

manage its exposure fo interest rate risk.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a pesitive fair value is recognised
as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial [iability. The
resuiting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income immediately. A
derivative is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the Group has an unconditional right
to defer payment beyond 12 months. Otherwise derivatives are presented as current assets or liabilities.

(i) Impairment (excluding deferred tax assets)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill and assets that have an indefinite useful life, the recoverable amount is estimated ai each balance
sheet date.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Impairment [osses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group's receivables carried at amoriised cost is calculated as the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Receivables with a short
duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assassing vaiue in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o thelr present value using a pre-fax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
assel For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a receivable carried at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase
in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was

recognised.
Any impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

in respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment loss
may no longer exist or there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exeeed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amertisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.

(j) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair vaiue less direcfly atfribufable fransaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, inferest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference
between proceeds (net of fransaction costs) and the redernption value being recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.
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Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unjess the Group has an unconditional right o defer seftlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

inferest on qualifying assets is capitalised in accordance with |AS 23 borrowing costs. Refer {o nofe 8.

(k) Employee benefits

Defined confribution plans

Obligations for contributions o defined contribution pensicn plans are recognised as an expense in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Shori-term benefits

Short-ferm employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-ferm
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or consiructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Share-based payment fransactions

The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the empioyees become unconditionally entitled to
the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option valuation mode!, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the optiens were granted. The amiount recognised on exercise
as an expense is adjusted to take into account an estimate cf the number of shares that are expected to vest
as well as to reflect the actual number of share opfions that vest, except where forfeiture is due only to share
prices not achieving the threshold for vesting. Options lapsed are expunged from the relevant scheme.

Employee Benefit Trust

The assets and liabilities of the Employee Benefit Trust {EBT) have been included in the consolidated
financial statements. Any assets held by the EBT cease to be recognised con the consolidated statement of
financial position when the assets vest unconditionally in identified beneficiaries.

The costs of purchasing own shares heid by the EBT are shown as a deduction against equity. The proceeds
from the sale of own shares held increase equity. Neither the purchase nor sale of own shares leads to a
gain or loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

() Provisions

A provision, other than provisions for deferred taxation, is recognised in the balance sheet where a relfable
estimate can be made when the Group has a present legat or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settie the obligation. If the
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected, risk adjusted, future cash flows at a

pre-tax risk-free rate.

{m) Revenue

Revenue in respect of the provision of care services is measured as the fair value of fee income received or
receivable in respect of the services provided and is recognised in respect of the care that has been provided
in the relevant period. Any additional services provided by the Group are recognised as services are
provided. Fostering revenue is recognised on the basis of the daily placements made with a full day’s ravenue
recagnised for every night a placement is with a foster carer.

Revenue in respect of lsarning services is directly linked to specific achievernents, and milestones reached by
apprentices at which point the funding from the Skills Funding Agency s receivable and recognised. A
carresponding bafance is recognised in receivables.

Income which has been invoiced but irecoverable is treated as a bad debt expense. Revenue invoiced in
advance is included in deferred income until the service is provided. Revenue is recognised net of VAT and

credit notes.
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(n) Expenses

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between ths finance charge and the reduction of the cutstanding
liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lfability.

Nen-underlying items

Non-underiying items relate to events or transactions which, in the opinion of the Directors, by virtue of size
and incidence are disclosed separately in order to improve a readet's understanding of the fihancial
statements. Details are included ir note 5.

Financing costs

Financing costs, comprising interest payable on bank ioans and overdrafts, finance charges on finance leases,
the unwinding of the discount on provisions and the costs incurred in connection with the arangement of
borrowings are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective

interest method.

Interest payable is recagnised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as it accrues, using
the effective interest method. Financing costs that are directly atiributable to the acquisition or construction of
a gqualifying asset are capitalised as part of the cast of that assst.

Financing costs also inciude losses arising on the change in fair value of derivatives that are recognised in the
consolidated staternent of comprehensive income.

(o) Operating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated staterent of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(p) Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity,

in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected tax payzable on the taxable income for the’

year, using fax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purpeses and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The foliowing temporary differences
are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combihation, and differences relating o
investmentis in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably nof reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided s based on the expecied manner of realisation or settlernent of the
carrying amount of assets and liahilities, using tax rates and faws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future faxable
profits will be availgble against which the asset can be utilised, The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

{q) Underlying EBITDA and underlying earnings per share

EBITDA is operating profit stated before depreciation and share-based payments charge and is the key profit
measure used by the Board to assess the trading performance of the Group as a whole.

Underlying EBITDA is EBITDA before non-underlying items (see (n} and note 5}.

A measure of underlying earings and underlying earnings per share has been presented in order to present
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the earnings of the Group after non-underlying items which are not considered to impact an assessment of the
trading performance of the Group.

(r) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combingtions, The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of tha acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes
the fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. The calculation of
contingent consideration is based on the provisions included in the sale and purchase agreement of each
acquisition and is updated if circumstances change. Acquisition cosls are expensed as incurred. Assels
acquired and liabilities assurmed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

3 Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions which affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amecunts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates
Estimates and underlying assumpfions are reviewed cn an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are reccgnised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors have made the following estimates
and judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Goodwill

The Directors use their judgement fo determine the extent fo which goodwill has a value which will benefit the
performance of the Group over future periods. To assist in making this judgement, the Directors undertake an
assessment, at least annually, of the carrying value of the Group’s capitalised goodwill, using discounted cash
flow forecasts to derive the “value in use” to the Group of the capitalised goodwill. In the assessment
undertaken in 2017 value in use was derived from discounted 10 to 20 year cash flow projections using a year-
on-year growth rate of 0% and discount rates relevant to the cost of capital adjusted for risks associated with
the cash-generating vnit. The projection period is, in the opinion of the Directors, an appropriate period over
which to view the future results of the Group’s businesses for this purpose. Changes to the assumptions of
discount rates, growih rates, expected changes to cosis and selling prices used in making these forecasts
could significantly alter the Directors’ assessment of the carrying value of goodwiil.

Customer relationships
The Group's management team assess each acquisition in the historica! financial information period to identify

the intangible assets that were acquired in each transaction that qualify for separate recognition. The
assessment of the fulwre economic benefits generated from acquired customer relationships, and the
determination of the related amortisation profile, involves a significant degree of judgement based on
management estimation of future potential revenue and profit and the useful lives of the assets. The valuation
method used to value customer relafionships is a multi-period excess eamings method. The useful economic
life has been assessed as ranging from 1 to 20 years across the acquisitions. Annual reviews are performed
to ensure the recoverability of this intangible asset.

Property, plant and equipment

ltis Group policy to depreciate property, plant and equipment items to their estimated residual value over their
estimated usefu! lives. This applies an appropriate matching of the revenue earned with the capital costs of
delivery of services. A key element of this policy is the annual estimate of the residual value of such assets
and in particular of freehold property. Similarly the Directors estimate the useful life applied to each category
of property, plant and equipment which, in turn, determines the annual depreciation charge. Variations in
residual values or asset lives could impact significantly Group prefit through an increase in the depreciation
charge.

Contingent consideration payable on a business combinaiion
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When, as part of a business combination, the Group defers a proportion of the total purchase consideration
payable for an acquisition, the amount provided for is the acquisition date fair value of the consideration.
Changes in estimated contingent consideration payable on acquisition are recognised in the consclidated
income statement unless they are measurement period adjustments which arise as a result of additional
information obtained after the acquisition date about the facts and circumstances existing at the acquisition
date, which are adjusted against carried goodwill. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Judgements
Capitalised development costs

Capitalisation of development costs within software and licences requires the Directors to make
judgements in allocating staff fime appropriately to relevant projects and in assessing the technical
feasibility and economic potential of those projects. An impairment test is a comparisen of the carrying
valye of assets o their recoverable amount. Where it is higher than the recoverable amount, an impairment
results. Amortisation and any impairment charges are included in administration expenses in the statement
of comprehensive income. Intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested for impairment at least
annually. Amortisation of each asset begins from the date the asset becomes available for use.
Recoverable amounts have heen measured based on vaiue in use, Forecasts for the remaining fife of each

asset have been used (maximum five years).

Current asset provisions

[n the course of normal trading activities, judgement is used to establish the net realisable value of various
elements of working capital, principaily trade receivables. Provisions are established for bad and doubtful
debts. Provisions are based on the facts available at the fime and are also determined by using profiles, basad
upon past practice, applied fo aged receivables.

In estimating the collectability of frade receivables, judgement is required assessing their likely realisation,
including the current creditworthiness of each customer and related ageing of past due balances. Specific
accounts are assessed in situations where a customer may not be able to meet its financial obligations due to
deterioration of its financial condition, credit ratings or bankruptcy.
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4 Segmental information

IFRS 8 requires operating segments fo be determined based on the Group’s internal reperting to the Chief
QOperating Decision Maker (“CODM"). The CODM has been determined to be the Chief Execufive Officer as
he is primarily responsible for the allocation of resources fo segments and the assessment of the performance

of each of the segments.
The CODM uses underlying EBITDA as reviewed at monthly Executive Committee and Performance meetings

as the key measure of the segments’ results as it reflects the segments’ underlying trading performance for
the period under evaluation. Underlying EBITDA is a consistent measure within the Group.

Inter-segment revenue between the operating segments is not material.

Our two key segments are Adult Services {Adult} and Children Services {Children). Adult Services comprises
the Adult Leamning Disabilities (ALD) and Specialist Services (S8) divisions and the Children Services
comprises Young People Residential Services (YPR), Foster Care (FC) and Learning Services (Leaming).

There has been no aggragation of the operating segments in arriving at these reportable segments.

The segment results for the year ended 30 Seplember 2018, for the year ended 30 September 2017 and the
reconciliation of the segment measures to the respective statutory items included in the consolidated financial

information are as follows:

Year ended 30 September 2018

Confinuing Operations ALD 85 Adult YFPR FC Learning Children Total
Client Capacity 1,754 214 1,968 353 301 - 854 2,622
Revenue (£'000) 100,965 15,316 116,281 58,707 5,246 2,455 69,408 185,689
Underlying EBITDA 28,995 4442 31,437 17,024 1,898 448 19,370 50,807

before allocated cost (£'000)

Year ended 30 September
2017

Continuing Operations ALD 88 Adult YPR FC  leaming Children Total
Client Capacity 1,735 214 1,949 284 301 - 585 2,534
Revenue £'000) 87,752 15486 103,238 43,798 8,826 10,356 62,780 166,018
Underlying EBITDA
before aliocated cost (£'000) 26,331 3,862 30,193 13,205 1,870 960 16,035 46,228
Reconciliation of EBITDA to profit after tax: 2018 2017
£000 £000
Underlying EBITDA before unallocated costs 50,807 46,228
Unallocated costs (6,945) (6,343)
Underlying EBITDA 43,862 39,885
Depreciation {5,906) (5,525)
Share based payments charge (197) (210)
Non-underlying items (17 573) (11,483)
Operafing profit 20,186 22,667
Financial expenses (4,816) (5,888)
Profit before tax 15,370 16,779
Taxation {4,126) 1,070
Non-conirolling interest (596) -
Profit after tax 10,648 17,849

All operations of the Group are carried out in the UK, the Company's country of domiciie. All revenues therefore
arise within the UK and sl non-current assets are likewise located in the UK. No single external customer
amounts to 10% or more of the Group’s revenhues.

No asset and liability information is presented above as this information is not allocated o operating segments
in the regular reporting to the Group's Chief Operating Decisicn Maker and is not a measure used by the
CODM to assess performance and to make resource allocation decisions.
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5 Non-underlying items

Neon-tnderlying iterns are those items of financial performance that, in the opinion of the Directors, should be
disciosed separately in order to improve a reader's understanding of the underlying frading performance
achieved by the Group as these are significant costs which are not part of the ordinary course of the business.

Non-underlying iterns comprise the following:

Integration and restructuring costs
Termination of onerous leases
Share placement

Charitable donations

ERITDA adjustments
Amortisation
Acquisifion expenses

Impairmment of goodwill
Adjustment to deferred consideration
Adiustment relating to prior acquisitions

Included in Administrative expenses

Financial expenses
Fair value movetnents relating to derivative financial instruments
Other financing cost refating to ground rent

Charges relating to derivative financial instruments
IAS 17 lease imputed interest

Included in financial expenses

Tax on non-underiying items
Current
Deferred iax

Included in taxation

Total non-underlying items

Note

(®
(D

(ii)

(i)
(1)

{iif)

2018 2017
£000 £000
2,863 2,852
377 287

- 348

380 -
3,620 3,487
7,428 7,190
4,062 806
2,000 -
(1,095} -
1,558 -
2,463 -
17,573 11,483
787y (1,107)

- 1,173

513 829
223 223
(51) 1,118
(1,004)  (1,138)
(621}  (2,676)
(1625  (3,814)
16,897 8,787

(i The Group incurred a number of exceptional costs relating to the integration of recent acquisitions and
the reorganisation of the internal operating and management structure and redundancy costs totalling
£2,863,000 (2017: £2,852,000). Included in the year are acquisition expenses of £4,062,060 (2017
£806,000). Included in the cash flow statement are integration and reorganisation costs of £3,652,000
{(2017:4,0086,000} and acquisition expenses of £839,000 (2017: £1,419,000) which were paid in the
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year. The present value of the future cash flows receivable from the operation of certain leased assets
has been assessed as being lower than the present value of the rental payments to which the Group
is committed. Therefore, the Group has provided for £377,000 (2017: £287,000) being the present
value of any onerous element of the remaining lease life.

(i) Non-underlying items relating to derivative financial instruments include the movements during the
year in the fair value of the Group's interest rate swaps which are not designated as hedging
instruments and therefore do not qualify for hedge accounting, together with the quarterly cash
seftlement, and accrual thereof.

(i) Deferred tax arises in respect of the following:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Derivative financial instruments {134) {188)
Full provision for deferred tax under 1AS 12 846 (981)
Intangible assets (124) 730
Roll over relief - 14
Prior year adjustment 39 3,101
Other adjustments (6) -
621 2,676
8 Auditer's remuneration

2018 2017
£0DD £00D
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the consolidated and 163 150

parent company’s annual accounts
Audit of the accounts of subsidiaries 12 22
Audit related assurance services 11 13
Tax advisory services - -
2] -

Company secretarial
All other non-assurance services 543 11
Other non assurance services of £543k represents the reporting accountant work carried on the acquisition

of Cambian Group ple.
7 staff numbers and costs

The average number of persons employed by the Group {including Directors) during the year, analysed by
category, was as follows:

Number of employees

2018 2017

Operational and service delivery staff 6,148 4,414
Maintenance 29 44
Management and administration 261 286
5,439 4,744

The aggregate payrofl costs of these persons (including Directors) were as follows:

2018 2017

£000 £600

Wages and salaries 93,137 77,386
Share-based payments charge 197 160
Social security costs 8,618 7,382
Other pension costs 1,527 976
103,478 85,904
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8 Finance expenses

Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost:
On bank leans and overdrafts
Finance charges in respect of finance leases

Underlying financial expenses
Derivative financial instruments (note 5)
IAS 17 lease imputed interest {note 5)

Total financial expenses

2018 2017
£00D £000
4,527 4,439

340 331
4,857 4,770
(274) 895

223 223
4,816 5,888

In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs at £155,000 (2017: £262,000) have been capiialised in the year
on qualifying assets within property plant and equipment. The capitalisation rate used to determine the

amount of borrowing costs capitalised is” 5%.

9 Taxation

(a} Recognised in the consolidation statements of comprehensive income

Current tax expense

Current year

Current tax on non-underlying items {note 5)
Corporation tax overprovided in previous periods

Total current tax

Deferred tax expense

Current year

Adjustment in respect to prior year

Deferred tax on non-underlying items (note 5)

Total deferred tax

Total tax in the consclidated statement of comprehensive income

2018 2017
£000 £000
(4,622) (4,809)
1,004 1,138
(359) (80)

(3,877) (3,751)
(873) 825
103 1,320
621 2,676
(149) 4,821
(4,126) 1,070
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8 Taxation {continued)

{b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2018 2017

£000 £000
Profit befare tax for the year 156,370 16,779
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 18.0% (2017: 19.5%) 2,920 3,272
Non-deductible expenses ihciuding impairment charge 1,059 636
Cther tax adjustments 27 (613)
Corporation and deferred tax overprovided in previous periods 120 {4,365}
Total tax in the consoclidated statement of comprehensive income 4,128 (1,070}

Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted as part of the Finance Bill 2017 (on 7
September 2017). This includes a reduction to the main rate to 17% from 1 April 2020. Deferred taxes at
the balance shest date have been measured using this enacted tax rate and reflected in these financial
statements.

10 Earnings per share

2018 2017
£000 £000
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 10,648 17,849
Weighted number of shares in issue for basic eamings per share 75,690,422 70,037,602
Effects of share options in issue 25,235 24,389
Weighted number of shares for dituted eamings per share 75,715,857 70,061,891

Diluted earnings per share is the basic earmings per share adjusted for the dilutive effect of the conversion into
fully paid shares of the weighted average number of share options outstanding during the period.

Earnings per share (pence per share)
Basic 14.07p 25.48p

Diluted 14.06p 25.48p
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11 Underlying earnings per share

A measure of underlying earnings and underlying earnings per share has been presented in order to present
the earnings of the Group after adjusting for non-underlying items which are not considered to reflect the

underlying trading performance of the Group.

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
Nen-underlying items

Underlying profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
Underlying earnings per share (pence per share)

Basic
Diluted

2018 2017

£000 £000
10,648 17,849
15,897 8,787
26,545 26,636
35.07p 38.03p
35.08p 38.02p
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12 Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 1 October 2016

Acquisition through business combinations
Additions

Disposals

At 30 September 2017

At 1 October 2017

Acquisitions through business combinations
Additions

Reclassification (see note 23)

Disposals

At 30 September 2018

Depreciation and impairment
At 1 October 2016

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

At 30 September 2017

Af 1 October 2017
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

At 30 September 2018

Net book value
At 1 October 2016

At 30 September 2017

At 30 September 2018

Fixiures,
Land and Motor  fittings and
buildings vehicles equipment Totali
£000 £00C £000 £000
252,917 10,616 21,401 284,834
17,338 31 199 17,568
10,658 1,500 3,294 17,652
- (441) - (441)
281,113 11,606 26,854 319,613
281,113 11,606 26,854 319,613 -
260 - 20 280
8,781 862 5,973 15,616
{4,997) - - {4,997)
(852) (670) (4,475) (5,897)
284,305 11,788 28,412 324,515
5,420 3,137 8,610 17,167
517 1,728 3,280 5,625
- (249) - {2439)
5,837 4,616 11,890 22,443
5937 4,616 11,890 22,443
558 1,682 3,766 5,906
(6) (462) (4,475) (4,943)
8,489 5,736 11,181 23,408
247 497 7,379 12,791 267,667
275,176 6,990 15004 297,170
277,815- 5,062 17,231 301,109

Included in the result for the year is a profit of £146,000 (2017: nil profit) on the disposal of freehold property,
plant and equipment and moteor vehicles. Included in property, plant and equipment are amounts held under

finance leases of £4,665,000 {2017: £5,980,000).
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12 Property, plant and equipment [continued)

Land and buildings

The net book value of land and buildings is as follows:

Freehold
Leaseheld

2018 2017
£000 £000
243675 241,329
34,141 33,847
277,816 275,76

The Directors beliave that the market value of the Group’s current freehold property portfolio is £424m as at
30 September 2018. There was an independent valuation of the Group's property porifollo in September
2018. All of the Group’s freehiold properties are pledged as security for hank borrowings.

13  Intangible assets

Cost

At 1 October 2016

Acguisition through business combinations
Additions

At 30 September 2017

At 1 October 2017

Acqguisitions through business combinations
Additions

Reclassification {see note 12)

At 30 September 2018

Amortisation and impaiment
Af 1 October 2016

Impairrnent

Amortisation for the year

At 30 September 2037

At 1 October 2017
Impainment
Amortisation for the year

At 30 September 2018

Net book value
At 1 October 2018

At 30 September 2017

Af 30 September 2018

Software

and

Goodwill licences
£000 £000
43,049 13,809
77 -
- 3,414
43,128 17413
43,126 17,413
906 -
- 2,538
1,685 -
45717 49,951
28 5,663
- 2,653
28 8316
28 9,316
2,000 -
- 3,281
2,028 12,597
43,021 7,336
43,098 8,087
43,689 7,354

Customer
ralationships Total
£000 £000
58,832 115,580
286 373
452 3,866
50,280 119,819
59,260 119,819
- 906
752 3,280
3312 4,997
63,344 129,012
21,808 28,577
4537 7,190
26,423 35767
26,423 35,767
- 2,000
4,147 7,428
20,570 45,195
36,646 87.003
32,857 B4,052
32,774 83,817




13  Intangible assets (continued)

Amortisation
The amortisation charge is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income;
2018 2017

£000 £000

Admiristrative expenses 7,428 7,190

Impairment testing for cash-generating units containing goodwill

The Group tests goodwill for impairment on an annwal basis by considering the recoverable amount of
individual cash-generatig units against camying value.

Cash-generating units comprise cperating segments. This is the fowost level at which goodwill is monitored
forimpairment by management. There are no infangible assets with indefinite useful lives {other than gooawili).

For the purpose of impairment testing, fhe recoverable amount of sach cash-génerating unit has been
calculated with reference fo vajue in use. The key assumptions for the period over which management
approved forecasts are based and, beyond this; for the value in use cafculafions overaf!, are those regarding
disceunt rates, growth and occupancy rates, achievement of fufure revenues, expacted changes in direct costs
during the periods and residual vajues of freehold propertles {which inclyde an assumption for the growth of
the House Prives Index of 2% per annum and that residual values will be 76% of the indexed markef value).
In arriving at the values assigned to each key assumption management make reference fo past experience
and extemnal sources of information regarding the fiture — for example changes in tax rates. The assumptions
have been reviewed in light of the current economic and public spending envirorirent. The key featires of
these calculations are shown below:

2018 2017
Period over which manhagement approved forecasts are based t year 1 year
Growth rate applied beyond approved forecast pariod 0% 0%
Pre- tax discount rate
Adult Learning Disabilities division 8% 8%
Specialist Services division 10% 10%
Young People Residential Setvices division 8-12% 8-12%
Foster Care division 8-12% B-12%
12% 12%

Learning Services division

i preparing value in use calctlations for cash-generating units, cash flow periods of between 10 and 20 years
have been used in order to match the period of geodwill with the average period of time service users arg
expacted {o remain ih thelr relevant home, The discount rates used in each value it use calculation have been
based upon divisicnal specific risk taking account of factors such as the naiure of seivice user nged, cost
profiles and the barriars to entry inte each markat segment as well as other macro-econdivic factors.

The Directors believe that, éven In the current ecoriomic and public spending environment and taking into
account the nature of the Group’s operations, any reasonably possible. change in the key assumptions on
which the recoveérable amounts are based would not cause the cash-generating units' carrying amount to

exceed the recoverable amount,

97



The carrying value of goodwill is spiit between the following cash-generating units:

Adult Learning Disabilities division
Specialist Services division

Aduft

Young People Residential Services division

Foster care division
Leaming Services division

Children

14 Group undertakings

2018 2017
£000 £000
22,000 19,912
1,148 1,148
23,238 21,060
8,377 8,964
7,182 7,162
3,912 5,912
20,451 22,038
43,669 43,098

The Group has the following investments ih trading subsidiaries included in the consolidated results for the

year:

Company Name

Addington House Limited

Advances In Autism Care & Education Limited
Applied Care and Development Limited
Asheroft House Limited

Ashring House Limited

Ashview House Limited

Barleycare Limited

Beacon Care (Holdings} Limited

Beacon Care Investments Limited
Beacen Care Limited

Beech Care Limited

Branas isaf (Ashfield House)} Limited

Branas Isaf {Bythnod & Hendre Lwyd) Limited
Branas isaf {Dewis Cyfarfod & Cysgod Cyfarfod)
Limited

Branas [saf (Education Centre ) Limited

Branas [saf (Liyn Coed} Limited
Branas lsaf {Personal Development & Approach
Training) Limited

Branas Isaf {Therapeutic Provision Limited)

registration
number

04404355

03252453
SC224352

03350658
03370991
03304446
05156601
03293958
04351554
03160894
04050685
05761962

04826628

04828115
04826662

04826774

04826959

05355404

country of
incorporation

England and
Wales
England and
Wales

Scotland
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
Engfand and
Wales
England and
Wales
Engiand and
Whales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales

Class of
shares
held

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ownership
2018

1007

1009

1002
100°

100°
100°
1002

100

100
100°
100°
100b
100"
100"
1009

100°

1000

1000

Ownership
2017

1004

1009

1007
100°

100°
100°
1002

160

100
100°
100°
100h
1000
100
1009
100"
100"

10pn

98

i
'
i
H




Branas Isaf Holdings Limited
Branas Isaf Personal Development Centre
Limited

Bright Care Limited
Cameron Care Limited

Care Support Services Limited

CareTech Community Services ( No 2 ) Limited
CareTech Community Services Limited
CareTech Estates (No 2} Limited

CareTech Estates {No 3} Limited

CareTech Estates (No 4) Limited

CareTech Fstates (No 5) Limited

Caretech Estates (no 6) Limited

Caretech Estates {no 7} Limited

CareTech Estates Limited

CareTech Foster Care Limited

Caretech Fostering Holdings Limited
Caretech Fostering Services Limited
CareTech Housing Services

Colerane Community Care {(Kent) Limited

Community Support Project Limited
Complete Care & Enablement Services Limited
Counticare Limited

Coveberry Limited

Daisybrook Limited

Dawn Hodge Associates Limited

Deiam Care Limited

Delham Care Limited
Emeraldpoint Limfted
EQL Solutions Limited

Caretech International Limited

04827227

03744583

04050733
SC2832540

05356025

03894564

02804415

06518327

06518491

06543818

07027116

08420656

08628141

05964868

05185612

07206363

07205262

03438332

02755757

05941774

05505163

02585666

01208511

03026221

04130146

02995783

02748991

03098166

08758477

06502547

England and
Wales
England and
Wales

England and
Wales
Scotland
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
VWales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

1002

100h

100°
1002

100°

1002

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100°

1007

1002

100°

100

1002

1002

100

1002

1002

100%

1008

100°

100

100

1002

10ph

100°
1002
1002

1002

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100*

100™

1002

1009

100

1007

1002

1002

100?

100

100#

1009

100¢

100

100

59



Fostering Support Group Limited

Franklin Homes Limited

Glenroyd House Limited

Gloucestershire Autism Services Limited
Greenflelds Adofescent Development Limited

Greenfie|ds Care Group Limited
Hazeldene UK Limited

Hereson House Limited

Huntsmans Lodge Limited

Kirkstail Lodge Limited

K O B Care timited

Leigham Lodge Limited

tensdale Midlands Limited

Lyndhurst Psychiatric Residential Care
Magnofia Court Limited

Mason Property Development Company Limited
One 5ix One Limited

One Step (Support} Limited

Outlook Fostering Services Limited
Palm Care Limited

Park Foster Care Limited
Park Foster Care Services Scotland Limited
Phoenix Therapy and Care Limited

Plnnacle Supported Living Limited
Prestwood Residential Homes Limited
Primrose Court Limited

Professional Integrated Care Services

Purple Zest Limited
Rohorough House Limited
Rosedale Children's Services Limited

Selwyn Care Limited

02359399
03002865
04326288
03091510
04068839

04642100
FCO15567

04385252
046§8317
04778674
03039698
04583599
02834141
02958528
05444649
04308273
04136284
04534652
04357704
04050735

04861395
50427502
SC254555

02736242
04129564
04803763
04771613
11421082
05054294
04932054

03737832

England and
Wales
Engiand and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
Gibraltar
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England amd
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
Scotland
Scotland
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales
England and
Wales

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary

100k
1002
100¢
1004
100f

1009
100e
1002

1002
100
1009
100°
1007
1009
100
1009
1002
100b
100
100°

1002

1002
1002

1009
1002
1009
1007

60

1ooe

1002

1002

1D0*
1002
100°
1009
100f

1007
100#
1002

1002
100°
1009
100°
100#
1009
1009
1008
1008
100°
100®
100°

1002

1002
1002

1004
1002
1009
1007

60
1002
1607

1009

100




England and

South East Care Services Limited 02296352 Wales Ordinary 1009
St Michael's Support & Care Limited 05978585 iﬁ;ﬁd and Crdinary 1007
CareTech Consulting Limited 07186925 Ecjind and Ordinary 1002
Sunnyside Care Homes Limited 04589719 5\?§Li“d o Ordinary 1007
The Community Care Company UK Limited 07816118 s\r[:;l:;nd and Ordinary 1007
TLC {(Wales) Independent Fostering Limited 04824925 \%\?j:aasnd o Ordinary 100
Upiands (Fareham) Limited 03488896 ﬁ;;asnd A Ordinary 100’
Valeo Community Projects Limited 03941224 ﬁaﬁiﬂd and Ordinary 100r
Valeo Limited 04099715 E\Tiind o Ordinary 100
Victoria Lodge Limited 04454845 @agéasnd and Ordinary 100¢
Vosse Court Limited 04778676 vE\.?a%Lasnd and Ordinary f00°
White Cliffs Lodge Limited 04351559 Eyaglind ™ ordinery 100°
Wyatt House Limited 04319271 ﬁii”d e Ordinary 100°
Spark of Genius Limited SC479758 Scotland Ordinary 1007
Spark Of Genius {Training} Limited SC196146 Scotland Qrdinary 100"
Trojan Spark Limited 5C453152 Scotland Crdinary 100°
Spark Of Genius (North East) LLP 0C384807 Syjr‘snd and Ordinary QP
Oakleaf Care (Hartwell) Limited 05225317 Syagl\leasnd and Ordinary 100#
H20 97291 Gibraltar Ordinary 100°
ROC North West Limited 05564417 ﬁaﬁfsﬂd = onnay 1007
Selborne Care Limited 05513162 \E;jind and Ordinary 1002
One True Step Limited 08339192 VE\?ag;ind and Ordinary 100°

* Has a UK designated trading branch, Hazeidene UK Limited

ITAFT T ST 0 a0TD

a subsidiary of CareTech Community Services Limited

a subsidiary of Community Support Prcject Limited

a subslidiary of Beacon Care Holdings Limited

a subsidiary of Beacon Care Investments Limited

a subsidiary of H20 Limited

a subsidiary of Greenfields Care Group Limited

a subsidiary of Branas isaf (Holdings) Limited

a subsidiary of Branas Isaf Personal Development Centre Limited
a subsidiary of Coveberry Limited

a subsidiary of Outlook Fostering Services Limited

a subsidiary of CareTech Foster Care Limited

a subsidiary of Professional Integrated Care Services Limited
a subsidiary of CareTech Fostering Holdings Limited
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1007
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100
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100
100¢
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1002

100°

100~

1007
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500
1002
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a subsidiary of Spark of Genius Limited

a subsidiary of Spark of Genius (Training) Limited :
a subsidiary of The Community Care Company UK Limited
a subsidiary of Valeo Limited

a subsidiary of Selbome Care Limited

w = .0 0

Exemption from Audit by Parent Guarantee

The Company being the ultimate sole shareholder of its subsidiaries has decided fo take the exemption from
audit of a number of subsidiaries for the year ended 30 Septernber 2018 under Sections 479A and 479C of
the Companies Act 2006 and the Company will provide a guarantee for all the liabilities of those entities as at
30 September 2018 as detailed above with the exception of CareTech Community Services Limited,
Hazeldene UK Limited, H20 Limited and Spark of Genius (North East) LLP.

CareTech Community Services Limited as the main trading entity will not take the exemptions as stakeholders
require audited financial statements to be produced. Hazeldene UK Limited and H20 Limited will not be covered
by the parent company guarantes as they are incorporated in Gibraltar, ;

15 Trade and other receivables
2018 2017
£000 £000
Trade receivables {note 24) 21,421 14,688
Other debtors and prepayments 10,326 8,831
31,747 23,519
16 Cash and cash equivalents
2018 2017
£000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents 8,421 6,402
17 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and
borrowings. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, see nota 24.

2018 2017
£000 £000,
Non-current liahilities
Secured bank loans - 141,818
Finance tease liabilities 2.580 4 054

2,680 145,872
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2018 2017
£000 £000

Current liabilities
Secured bank loans
Finance lease fiabilities

151,748 5,726
2,082 1,936

153,830 7,662

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Nominal interest Year of Book Book

Currency rate (%)  maturity Value Value

2018 2017

£000 £000

Term loan £ 2252017:2.25) 2018 120,485 126441
Revolving credit facility term loan £ 2252017:2.25) 2019 31,249 21,103

151,748 147,544

' The margin on the facilifies has initially been sef at 2.75% over LIBOR but reduces based on the ratio of the Group's
net debt to EBITDA. The overall margin in the year is 2.25% over LIBOR.

The Group had entered into new Banking facilities with Lloyds Bank ple and National Westminster Bank plc
for committed financing by way of term loans of between 3.5 to 5 years up to £334m and a short term bridge
loan of approx. £80m. The short bridge loan was repaid in November 2018 following completion using
principally Cambian’s significant cash position.

in addition to the Term Loans and Bridge Loan, a £25m revolving credit facility is available to provide working
capital for the Enlarged Group and an uncommitted accordion facility of up to £30m for general Corporate
and Working Capital purposes (including acquisitions).

The new facilities of the Term Loans and Bridge Loan with an aggregate size up to £414m have been utilised
for the cash consideration of the acquisition, following the repayment of the Group’s existing bank debt
faciliies of approx. £150m and the payment of debt financing fees of up to approx. £6m. The amount
available for the draw down under the Term Loans was reduced in the event that the actual cash
consideration payable under the iransaction was less than £253m.

As part of the Acguisition, in September 2018 the Group's property portfclio was revalued by Gushman and
Wakefield and the market value was £424m. The Cambian Group plc property portfolic was revalued by
Knight Frank and the market value was £350m.

Following completion of the Acquisition, Lloyds Bank plc and Nat West Markets plc, who had underwritien
the funding, completed the syndication of the Term Loans and revolving credit facility successfully. The
syndication was significantly oversubscribed showing strong support for both the Group and the acquisition.

The final facility is a term loan of £322m and revelving credit facility of £25m to a group of banks comprising
Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC UK Banks plc, Santander UK plc, AIB Group (UK} pic, Clydesdale Bank PLC and
Credit Suisse AG, in addition o Lloyds Bank ple and National Westminster Bank ple.

The Enlarged Group lpan to value based only on the property valuations is c42% whilst the proforma net
debt to EBITDA of the Enlarged Greup is 4.3x which is expected to reduce to under 4x in the short term.
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Finance lease fabllities
The finance leases relate to company vehicles used in the business.

Finance lease liabilities are payahle as follcws:

Minimurn Minimum
lease lease
payments Interest Principal  payments Interest  Principal
2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £E0CC
i.ess than one year 2,200 118 2,082 2,067 134 1,936
Between one and five years 2,802 222 2,580 4,273 219 4 054
5,002 340 4,662 6,340 350 5,990
18 Trade and other payables :
2018 2017
£000 £000
Trade payables 3,808 2,338
Accrued expenses 21,067 13,371
24,875 15,709
19 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assats and liabilites
Deferred fax assets and liabilities are atiributable to the following:
2018 2017
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
£000 £000 £000 £000
Property, plant and equipment 1,801 1,978
Intangible assets 14,305 13,408
Derivative financial instruments {59) (160)
Shars-bagsed payments {443) (443)
Rolled-over gains en property, plant and equipment 3,080 3,080
Tax (assets) / liabilities (443} 19,207 (443) 18,286
Net of fax assefs (443) (443)
Net deferred tax liabilities 18,854 17,843

There are no unrecognised deferred tax assets or fiabilities,
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Movement in deferred tax during the year

Property, plant and equipment
Derivative financial instruments
intangible assets

Share pptions

Rolled-over gains on property

1 October
2017
£000

1,978
(160)
13,408
(443)
3,080

17,843

Movement in deferred tax during the previous year

Property, plant and equipment
Capitalised revenue costs
Derivative financial instruments
Intangible assets

ROC and Qakleaf intangibles

Share Options
Roll-over gains on property

Cctober
2016
£000

4,014
(872)
(348)
12,511
2,809

(19)
3,457

21,5652

Acquired in

Recognised Equity business

inincome  movement  combination

£000 £0600 £000

7) - -

101 - -

125 - 862

149 - BB2
Acqguired in
Recognised Adjustment business
in incorme combination
£000 £000 £000
(2,036) - -
872 - -

188

(638) - 1,536
(2,809) - -
- 424) -
(397) - -
4.821) (424) 1,536

30 September
2018
£000

1,901
(59)
14,395
(443)
3,060

18,854

30 September
207

£000
1,878
(160}
13,408

(443)
3,060

17,843
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20  Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension plans.

The total expense relating to these plans in the current year was £1,527,000 (2017: £978,000) of which
£286,000 (2017: £Nil) was outstanding at the year end.

Share-based payments

The Company operates five share option schemas: The CareTech Holdings 2005 Approvaed Share Option
Scheme ("The Approved Scheme”); the CareTech Holdings 2006 Unapproved Share Option Scheme ("The
Unapproved Scheme”), the CareTech Holdings 2005 Sharesave Scheme, the CareTech Holdings 2016 Share-
Save Scheme and the CareTech Holdings 2017 Sharesave Scheme.

The Executive Shared Ownership Plan {“ExSOP") was formed in March 2017. Under the provisions of the
ExSOP, shares (the “ExSOP shares”) are jointly owned by nominated sehicr employees and by an employees’
share trust. The ExSOP awards are subject to a fime related performance condition measured over a three
year period beginning with the date of the grant. To the extent the performance condition is satisfied, the
participant can benefit from any growth of the share price in excess of the issue price. The options have been
valued using the Black Scholes option pricing model in fine with [FRS 2 “Share Based Paymenis’. The
assumptions used as part of the model include the foliowing:

Expected Volatility - 25%
Expected dividend yield - 3.80%
Risk free interest rate - 2.38%
Vesting period - 3 years

Grant of the ExSOP scheme requires specific performance conditions being satisfied. These criteria
are sef out below:

= EPS Target requires the growth in the Company's underlying Diluted EPS over the
Performance Period fo be at least 15% (being an average 5% annual growth rate, calculated
without compeunding).

Approved and Unapproved scheme options are exercisable at any time from the third anniversary of the date
of grant to the tenth anniversary, other than nominal cost options which may become exercisable at the earliest
after a period of 30 dealing days following the third anniversary of being granted. SAYE scheme options are
normally exercisable within six months following the third anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted
under the above schemes, together with those remaining at 30 September 2018 are as follows:

Date of Scheme Options Options Options Options Dption
grant exercised fo remaining

granted fapsed fo price

(pence)

30 Sept 2018 30 Sept 2018 30 Sept 2018 30 Sept 2018

2 May 2068 Approved 114,070 (104,700} {9,370) - 410
Scheme

2 May 2008 Unapproved 23,843 {23,843) - - 410
Scheme

4 August Appraved 191,121 {137,447) (25,452) 28,222 3325
2008 Schema

4 August Unapproved 165,050 (114,574) (27,148) 23,331 3325
2009 Scheme

3 August Approved 283,754 215514) {34,604) 33,546 305
2016 Scheme

3 August Unapproved 210,653 (149,577} (27,203) 33,873 305
2010 Schame
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17 March Share save
2016 Scheme 2016

28 March Executive
2016 Share
Ownership Plan

2016

1 December Share save

2017 scherme 2017

474,581

1,918,000

254,681

(133,361)

(34,081)

341,220

1,818,000

220,600

194

2475

308

The charge for the year £197,000 (2017: £210,000) relates to the ExSOP Scheme 2017, the CareTech
Holdings 2016 Sharesave Scherne and the CareTech Holdings 2017 Sharesave Scheme.

21 Equity

Share Capital

Alloited, called up and fully paid:

75,681,423 (2017: 75,679,937) ordinary shares of 0.5p each
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each

2018 2017
£000 £000
379 379
379 379

Share capital represents the nominal {par) value of shares that have been issued. The holders of ordinary
shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at

meetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights.

Movements in the number of issued shares were as follows:

2018

Ordinary shares of 0.5p each
Deferred shares of 0.5p each

2017

Ordinary shares of 0.5p each
Deferred shares of 0.5p each

At 1 October
2016

64,196,803
53,402

Issued in
connection
with
acquisitions

344,305

Issued At 30

At 1 October following September

2017  share option 2018

exercises
75,879,937 11,486 756,691,423
53,402 - 53,402
Issued in lssued

connection following At 30
with share share option September
placing exercises 2017
11,000,000 138,729 75,679,937
- - 53,402
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Reserves

Share Premiurm Account - During the year, the issue of new shares charged to the share premium account are
as foliows:

2018 2017

£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 2017 120778 81,750 aE
Premium on issue of shares 42 39,028 ;
At 30 Septernber 2018 120,820 120,778

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated
with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefits.

Merger reserve — The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ordinary shares issued as
consideration for the acquisition of shares in ancther company (merger relief).

Merger reserve

2018 2017
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 2017 9,023 9,023
Af 30 September 2018 9,023 9,023

Shares Held by Executive Shared Ownership Plan

Further information relating to the EBT reserve of the Group is detaifed in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Retained earnings - Retained eamings includes ali current and prior period retained profits and share-based
employee remuneration. Dividend distributions payable to equity sharehelders are included in other liabilities
when the dividends have been approved in a general meeting pricr to the reporting date.

22  Pividends

The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:

2018 2017
£000 £000
interim dividend paid in respect of prior year but not recognised as liabilifies in
that year (3.30p per share (2017: 3.C0p per share)) 2,498 1,823
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year {6.60p per share (2017: 8.25p per 4,996 4,010
share))
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year (2.90p per share (2017. 7,494 5,833

9.25p per share))

The aggregate amount of dividends proposed and not recognised as liabilities as at the year end is 11.00p per
share, £8,166,018 (2017: 9.90p per share, £7,493,075).
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23 Business Combinations

(a) Selborne Care Limited (acquisition from 2017 financial statements)

On 19 June 2017 the Group acquired the equity of Selborne Care Limited, which provides a range of supported
living, residential care and day opportunity services in Birmingham, Sandwell, Coventry and Warwickshire,
Worcestershire, Wolverhampion, Bristo!, Scuth Gloucestershirs, Bath and North East Somerset, Devon

Plymouth and Cormwall.

The book values attributable to the acquisition were £13,807,000 net assets and provisional fair value and

adjustments were £4,397,000. The provisional acquisition table provided was:

Book

values

£000s

Intangible assets 296
Property plant & equipment 12,571
Trade and other receivabies 989
Cash 2,590
Trade and other payables (1,526)
Deferred Tax (1,113)
Net Assets cn acquisition 13,807
Cash paid 18,281

Goodwill

Fair value
adjustment

£000s

4,997
(250)

(350)

4,397

The acquisition accounting has been finalised and revised as foilows:-

Book
values
£000s

intangible assets 296
Property plant & equipment 12,571
Trade and other receivables 989
Cash 2,590
Trade and other payables (1,526)
Deferred Tax (1,113)
Net Assets on acquisition 13,807
Cash paid 18,281

Goodwill

Goodwili that arose can be atfributed fo the workforce in place and other intangible assets which do not
qualify for separate recognition. The remaining disclosures in relation to the acquisition of Selboumne Care

Fairvalue
adjustment

£000s

3,312

(250)
(350)
(862)
1,850

Limited remain unchanged as stated in the 2017 financial statements.

(b) Acquisitions 2018

Total
£000s

296
17,568
739
2,590
(1,876)
(1,113)
18,204

18,281
77

Total
£000s

3,608
12,571
739
2,590
(1,876)
(1,975)
15,657

18,281
2,624

The Group acquired one company during the year. On 6 July 2018, the Group acquired 60% of the share
capital of Purple Zest Limited for a total consideration of £¢.1m with goodwill of £0.05m.
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The investment in Purple Zest Limited reflects CareTech’s commitment to support a deeper understanding
of disability issues and will build on Purple Conversation’s innovative approach fo supporting disabled people
fo aftain employment and fo support businesses, of all sizes and across all sectors, 10 have greater
awareness and understanding of disability and to increase the number of disabled people employed.

The business has generated revenues of £0.3m and EBITDA of £nii in the year from acquisition to 30
September 2018.

The Group incurred legal and professional costs of £48K in relation to this acquisition, which were recognised
in administration expenses.

(c) Acquisition after balance sheet date
Subsequent to the year end the Group acquired Cambian Group plc and the details of this transaction are:

On 18 Cctober 2018, the Group acquired 100% of the shars capital of Cambian Group plc for a total
consideration of £366m.

Cambian is a leading Children’s specialist education and behavioural health service provider looking after
around 2,000 children across a portfolio of 222 residential facilities, specialist schools and fostering offices.

It employs over 4,500 people.

- The acquisition of Cambian is a unique opportunity for investors to enhance exposure to the
growing UK market for social care services for children and adulis.

- Highly complementary service offering and geographical coverage providing a nationwide
integrated care pathway focused on higher acuity social care.

- Combined operational expertise to better service local authority partners, deliver strong user
outcomes, implement positive staff engagement and improve care quality.

- Opporiunity to unlock significant value through a compelling strategic fit, tangible near-term
synerdies and enhanced trading liquidity.

A full announcement and prospectus was issued on 19 Saeptember 2018.

Given the proximity of the announcement fo the completion date of the transaction and as praviously
announced the requirement of merger clearance from Competition and Market Authority under Enterprise
Act 2002, it is not possible to give preliminary acquisition table at this tima.

The Group incurred legal and professicnal costs of £3.5m in relation to this acquisition in the year which
were recognised in administration expenses.

As a result of this acquisition the Group entered into new bank faciiifies:~

On 19 October 2018, the Group had entered into new Banking facilities with Lloyds Bank ple and National
Westminster Bank plc for committed financing by way of ferm loans of between 3.5 to 5 years for up to £322m
and a short term bridge loan of approx. £80m. The short term bridge loan was repaid in November 2018
following completion using principally Cambian’s significant cash position.

In addition to the Term Loans and Bridge Loan, a £25m revolving credit facility is available o provide
working capital for the Enlarged Group and an uncommitted accordion facility of up to £30m for general
Corporate and Working Capital purposes (Including acquisitions).

24 Financial instruments

The use of financial instruments is managed under policies and procedures approved by the Board. These are
designed to reduce the financial risks faced by the Group, which primarily relate to credit, interest and liquidity
risks, which arise in the normal course of the Group's business.
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Credit risk
Financial instruments which potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents
and trade receivables. Cash equivalents are deposited only with major financial institutions that safisfy certain

credit criteria.

Management has a credit policy in place and expostre to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are carried out on all significant prospective customers and all existing customers requiring credit
beyond a certain threshold. Varying approval leveis are set on the extension of credit depending upen the
value of the sale.

Where credit risk is deemed fo have risen to an unacceptable level, remedial actions including the variation of
terms of trade are implemented under the guidance of senior management until the level of credit risk has

been normalised.

The Group provides credit to customers in the normal course of business with a provision for specific doubtful
receivables. The balance includes the amounts considerad recoverable which also equals their fair value. The
Group does not require collateral in respect of financial assets. During the year there was a charge to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for bad or doubtfut debts of £46,000 (2017 credit £1G0,000).

At the balance shest date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximusm exposure to
credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset. Based on past experience, the Group
believes that no impairment allowance Is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due.

The trade receivables as at 30 September are aged as follows:

2018 2017

£000 £000

Not due 10,818 7,240
Not more than three months past due 5,021 3,080
More than three months but not more than six months past due 6,482 4,388
Trade receivables (note 15) 21,421 14,688

The movement in provisicns for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

: £000

At 1 October 2016 815
Credited to the consclidated statement of comprehensive Income (100)
At 1 October 2017 715
Charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income 46
At 30 September 2018 761

Interest rafe risk

The Group finances its operations through called up share capital, retained profits, bank borrowings, and the
sale of assets if appropriate. The Group's income is by its nature relatively stable and its growth is, infer alia,
impacted by inflation. Group policy is to balance interest rate fixes between the short, medium and leng term.
The benchmark rate for bank borrowings is LIBOR. As at 30 September, the Group carried 4 hedging
instruments, details of which are as follows:
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« & 3 y=ar swap commencing 28 January 2017 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £35.2 million at
LIBOR fixed ai 1.032%

* a 3 year swap commencing 9 February 2017 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £38.2 million at
LIBOR fixed at 1.087%

* & 3 year swap commencing 8 February 2017 at pre-determined amounts initially starting at £18.1 million at
LIBOR fixed at 1.097%

» a 3 year swap commencing 12 February 2017 at pre-defermined amounts initially starting at £18.5 million at
LIBOR fixed at 1.097% :

Liguidity risk

The Group prepares annual cash flow forecasts reflecting known commitments and anticipated projects.
Borrowing facilities are aranged as necessary to finance reguirements. The Group has available bank
facilities, sufficient, with cash flow from profits, to fund present commitments, Term facilities are utilised to fund
capital expenditure and short-term flexibility is achieved by the utilisation of cash resources in respect of
financial liabilites. The following table indicates their coniractual cash flow maturities.

2018
Effective Confractual
Interest Carrying Cash <1 1-5 5 years
rate % Amount flows year Years & over
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other (24,875) {24,875) (24,875) - -
payables
1AS 17 Ground (7,294) (7,294) (50) (198) (7,048)
Secured bank 5% (151,748) (151,748) (161,748} - -
loans
Finance lease 11% (4,662) (4,682) {2,082) {2,580) -
liabilities
Deferred and
contingent
consideration (966) {966) {966) - -
Derivative
financial
instruments (152) (152) {152) - -
{188,697) (183,687) (179,873) (2,778} {7,046)
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2017

Effective  Carrying Cash <1 1-5 Syears&
Interest amount flows year years over
Rate %

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other (15,708) (15,709) (15,7089) - -
payables

IAS 17 Ground Rent (7.344) (7,344) (50) (198) (7,096)
payable

Secured bank loans 5% (147,544) (161,716)  (5,775) (155,841) -

Finance lease 11% (5,990) (5990) (1,936) (4,054) -
liabilities
Deferred and
contingent

consideration (3,553) {3,553) (2,420) {1,133) -
Derivative financial

Instruments (840) (940} {768) (172) -

(181,080} (195,252} (26,658) (161,498)

(7,096)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that activities of the Group will be able to continue as a going concern

whilst maximising retumns for shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity.

The Group’s capital structure is as follows:

2018
£000
Net debt 145,985
Equity (see page 75) 208,233

2017
FGOG

147,132
204,201

Our policy is to increase the fotal dividend per year broadly in iine with the movement in underlying diluted
earnings per share. The final dividend will therefore increase to 7.5p per share demonsirating a confident view

of the Group’s fundamental strength.

Net Debt

Net Debt as defined by the Group's Banking facilities and comprises cash and cash equivalents net of afl

Loans and Borrowings due to the Group’s Bankers.

Note 2018 2017
£000 £000

Net debt in the balance sheet comprises:
Cash and cash equivalents 16 9,421 8,402
Bank loans 17 (151,748) {147 ,544)
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 17 (4,662} (5,990)
Net debt at 30 September (146,989) (147,132)

Foreign currency tisk
The Group operates entirely in the UK and is not exposed to any foreign currency risks.
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Sensitivity analysis
[n managing interest rate risks the Group aims to reduce the impact of short-ferm fluctuations on the Group's
earnings. Over the longer term, however, permanent changes in interest rates would have an impact on

consalidated earnings.

At 30 September 2018, it is estimated that a general increase of 1% in interest rates would impact finance
expense and decrease the Group’s profit before tax and equity by approximately £410,000 {2017: £430,000).
Economic hedging instruments have been included in this calculation.

Fair values
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
2018 2018 2017 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000
Loans and receivables:
Cash at bank and in hand (note 16) . 9.421 9,421 6,402 6,402
Trade recelyables (note 15) 21,421 21,421 14,688 14,588
Amortised cost:
Trade payables (note 18) (3,808) (3,808) (2,338) (2,338)
Secured bank loans {note 17} (151,748) {151,748) (147 544) (147,544)
Contingent consideration {note 24) {966) (866) (3,553) (3,553)
Held at fair value through profit and loss:
Derivative financial instruments (152) (152) (940) (940)

" Where market values are net available, fair values of financial assets and liabilities have been calculated by

discounting expected future cash flows at prevalling interest rates with the following assumptions being

applied: -

» for trade and other receivables and payables with a remaining fife of less than one year the carrying
amount is deemed to reflect the fair value;

» for cash and cash equivalents the amounts reported oh the balance sheet approximates to fair vaiue;

» for secured bank loans at floating rate the carrying value is deemed o reflect the fair value as it represents
the price of the instruments in the market place; and

- for finance Jease liabilities, all amounts are due within five years and are on terms similar to those estimated
to be achievable in the market.

« for the derivatives financial instruments, these were entered into to manage the Group's exposure to inferest
rate risk on its external borrowings.

- for contingent consideration, this was entered into as part of the acquisition of Spark of Genius
The fair value will be determined with reference fo:

- Spark of Geniug's EBITDA performance over the four financial years ending 30 September 2019

Fair value hierarchy

The financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation methad are analysed as follows:

« Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identica! assets or liabilities; £nll (2017 £ril).

- Level 2 — inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or fiability
either as a direct price or indirectly derived from prices: liability £152,000 (2017 liability £940,000).

s Level 3 — inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable market data: liability £966,000

(2017 liability £3,553,000). The financial lfability measured at fafr value In the Consolidated Statement of

Financial Position at 30 September 2018 is deferred consideration. The fair value of deferred consideration

relates to the acquisitions completed in current and prior vears and Is the estimated cash flows payable. The

cash flows are not discounted as management deem this o be immaterial fo the future cash flows payable.

The effects on the fair value of risk and uncertainty in the future cash flows are deait with by adjusting the

estimated cash flaws. Should any of the acquired businasses not achieve its performance targets then the

estimated cash flows may be reduced.

114




25  Operating leases

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2018 2017

tand and Land and
buildings Other buildings Other
£000 £000 £000 £000
Within one year 3,974 244 3,764 293
Between two and five years 8,156 265 8,635 - 286
More than five years 119,466 - 121,180 -
131,596 509 133,589 579

Included in the operating lease renials for kand and buildings in more than five years are leases relating to the
land element for the properties sold to third parties and then leased back on 150 year leases. During the year
the following was recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income in
respect of operating leases:

2018 2017
land and Land and
buildings Other Buildings Other
£000 £000 £000 £000
Charge for amounts currently payable 4,345 759 3,653 673
Total recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income 4,345 759 3,653 673
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26 Related parties

During the year, CareTech Community Services Limited paid rent totalling £198,000 {2017: £188,250} in
respect of properties in which F. Sheikh and H. Sheikh have an interest. At the year-end rent of £104,000

(2017: £81,000) was prepaid.

Dividends paid fo Directors in the year fotalled £147,000 (2017: EQ0,000)_‘

Mike Adams, who is a non-executive director is alsc the chief operating officer of Purple Zest Limited a

company which Carefech Holdings acquired a 80% shareholding in July 2018,

Transactions with key management personnel

2018 2017
£000 £000
Salary _ 3,007 2,493
Benefits 134 132
Bonus 871 186
Total short term remuneration 4,012 2.811
Post employment benefits - -
Share hased payments - -
4,012 2,811

Key management personnel are defined as Directors of the company and members of the Senior Management

Team.

Directors’ emoluments are set out on page 64.
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Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 September 2018

Non-current assets
Investments

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables

Non-current liahilities
Loans and borrowings

Total liabilities
Net assets

Equity

Share capital
Share premium
Merger reserve
Retained earnings

Note

29

30

3
32

31

33

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the

parent

2018 2017
£000 £000
35,623 35,301
35,623 35,301
278,108 269,304
466 748
278,574 270,052
314,197 305,353
151,748 5,755
1,446 1,130
153,194 6,885
- 142,532

- 142,532
153,194 149,417
161,003 155,936
379 379
120,820 120,778
9,023 9,023
30,781 25756
161,003 155,935

These financial statements were approved by the Boagrd of Directors and autherised for issue

on

Farouq Sheikh
Group Executive Chairman

Company number: 04457287

and were signed on its behalf by:




Company Statement of Changes in Equity

as at 30 September 2018
Share Share  Merger Retained Total
capital premium  resernve  eamings Equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2016 321 81,750 9,023 17,800 108,894
Profit for the year - - - 13,889 13,889
Total comprehensive income - - - 13,888 13,889
lssue of shares 58 39,028 - - 39,086
Dividends - - - (5,933) (5,933)
Transacticns with owners recorded directly in
equity 58 39,028 - (5,933) (33,153)
At 30 September 2017 379 120,778 9,023 25,756 155,936
At 1 October 2017
Profit for the year - - - 12,619 12,518
Total comprehensive income - - - 12,519 12,519
{ssue of shares - 42 - - 42
Dividends {7,494) (7,494)
Transactions with owners recorded directly in
equity - 42 - (7,494) (7,452)
At Sepfember 2018 379 120,820 9,023 30,731 161,003
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Company Statement of Cash Flow

for the year ended 30 September 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year

Operating cash flows before movement in working

capital

Movement in payables
Movement in intercompany balance

Net cash generated! {used in) from operafing
activities

Cashflows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

Cash flows from financing acfivities

Dividends paid

Proceeds from the issue of new shares (net of costs)
Bank loans drawdown/ (repayments)

Net cash {used in)/ generated from financing
activities

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash eqeuivalents at 1 October

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 September

2018
£000

12,519

12,518

316
{8,804)

4,031

322

(7.494)
42
3,461

(3,891)

(282)

748

466

2017
£000

13,889

13,889

(709)
(38,551)

(26,371)

(5,933)
39,086
(6,301)

26,852

481

267

748
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Company Notes to the Financial Statements
27 Aeccounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared and appraved by the Diractors In accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs™) and those parts of
the Companies Act 2006 relevant to those companies which report in accordance with IFRS.

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement fo present its
own comprehensive statement of fncome. The profit for the year dealt with in the financial statements of the

Company was £12,519,000 (2017: £13,888,000).

{b} Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the balance sheet of the Company at cost less impairment

written off.

{c) Cash and liquid resources
Cash, for the purpose of the cash flow statement, comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on demand
and those with maturities of three months or less from inception, less overdrafts payable on demand,

(d) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially af fair value less directly affributable fransaction costs.
Subsequent fo initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference
between proceeds (net of fransaction costs) and the redemption value being recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

Borrowings are classified as cument liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer
settlemant of the liability for af least 12 months after the reporting date.

(e} Financial Instruments

Reccgnition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
cantractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair vatue through profit or loss which are measured initially at

fair value.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contraciual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, canceiled or expires.

{f) Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the vear comprises current and deferred tax, Tax is recognised in profit or loss

except to the extent that it relates to tems recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years,

{g) Revenue

Revenue represents management fees receivable, in respect of the period to which management services
relate.
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{h) Share-based payments

The share option programme allows employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair vaiue of opfions
granted Is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair valug is
measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employees become unconditionally
entitied to the options. The fair value of the options granted is measured using an option pricing model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the opfions were granted. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest except where forfefture fs only due
to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Where the Company grants options over its own shares to the employees of its subsidiaries it recognises an
increase in the cost of investment in its subsidiaries equivalent to the equity settled share-based payment
charge recognised in its subsidiary's financial statements with the corresponding credit being recognised

directly in equity.

(i) Dividends on shares presented within shareholders’ funds

Dividends unpaid at the halance sheet date are only recognised as a liability at that date o the exdent that
they are appropriately authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the Company. Unpaid dividends that
do not meet these criteria are disclosad in the notes fo the financial statements.

{) Merger reserve — The merger reserve represents the premium arising on the ord]néry shares issued as
consideration for the acquisition of shares in another company (merger relief).

Merger reserve

2018 2017
£000 £000
Opening balance 1 October 2017 9,023 9,023
At 30 September 2018 8,023 9,023
28  Dividends
The aggregate amount of dividends comprises:
2018 2017
£000 £000
Interim dividend paid in respect of prior year but not recognised as liabilitles in that
year (3.30p per share (2017 3.00p per share)) 2,498 1,923
Final dividend paid in respect of the prior year 6.60p
per share) (2017: 6.25p per share)) 4,986 4,010
Aggregate amount of dividends paid in the financial year (9.20p per share} 7,494 5,933

(2017:9.25p per share))

The aggregate amount of dividends proposed and not recognised as liabiliies as at the year end is 11.00p per
share, £8,166,018 (2017: 9.90p per share, £7,493,075).
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29  Investments

Shares in
group
undertakings
£000

Cost and net book value
At begitining of year 35,301
Acquisition 322
At end of year 35,823

30 Trade and other receivables

2018 2047
£000 £000
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 278,108 269,304

31 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

This note provides information aboui the contractual terms of the Company's interest-bearing leans and
borrowings. For more information about the Group's exposure to interest rate risk, see note 24.

2018 2017
£000 £000
Non-current liabilities
Securad bank loans ~ 142,532
2018 2017
£000 £000
Current liabilities
Current portion of secured bank loans . 151,748 5,755
Terms and debt repayment schadule
Nominal inferest Year of Book Book
Currency Rate (%) maturity value value
2018 2017
£000 £0O0
Term loan £ 2.25{2017:2.25) 2019 120,499 127,184
Revolving credit facility term foan £ 2.25(2017:2.25) 2019 31,249 21,103

151,748 148,287

' The margin on the facilities has initially been set at 2,75% over LIBOR but reduces based on the ratio of the Broup’s
net debt to EBITDA. The overall margin is 2.25% over LIBOR.

122




The Group had entered into new Banking facilities with Lloyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank plc
for committed financing by way of term loans of between 3.5 {o b years up to £334m and a short term bridge
foan of approx. £80m. The short bridge loan was repaid in November 2018 following completion using
principally Cambian’s significant cash position.

In addition to the Term Loans and Bridge Loan, a £25m revolving credit facility is available to provide working
capital for the Eniarged Group and an uncommitted accordion facility of up fo £30m for general Corporate
and Working Capital purposes (including acguisitions).

The new facilities of the Term Loans and Bridge Loan with an aggregate size up {o £414m have been utilised
for the cash consideration of the acquisition, following the repayment of the Group's existing bank debt
facilities of approx. £150m and the payment of debt financing fees of up o approx. £6m. The amount
available for the draw down under the Term Loans was reduced in the event that fhe actua) cash

consideration payable under the transaction was less than £253m.

As part of the Acquisition, in September 2018 the Group’s property portfolio was revalued by Cushman and
Wakefield and the market value was £424m. The Cambian Group p!c property portfolio was revalued by
Knight Frank and the market value was £350m,

Following completion of the Acgquisition, Lloyds Bank ple and Nat West Markets plc, who had underwritten
the funding, completed the syndication of the Term Loans and revolving credit facility successfully. The
syndication was significantly oversubscribed showing strong support for both the Group and the acquisition.

The final facility is a term loan of £322m and revolving credit facility of £25m to a group of banks comprising
Barclays Bank PLC, HSBC UK Banks plc, Santander UK plc, AlB Group (UK ple, Clydesdale Bank PLC and
Credit Suisse AG, in addition to Lioyds Bank plc and National Westminster Bank pic.

The Enlarged Group loan to value based only on the property valuations is ¢42% whilst the proforma net
debt to EBITDA of the Enlarged Group is 4.3x which is expected fo reduce to under 4x in the short term.

32  Trade and other payables

2018 2017
£000 £000
Other creditors 1,446 1,130
33  Called up share capital

2018 2017
£000 £000

Allotted, calfed up and fully paid:
75,679,937 (2017: 64,196,903) ordinary shares of 0.5p each 379 379
53,402 deferred shares of 0.5p each - -
379 379

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitied to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitied to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. The deferred shares have no such rights.

Details in respect of the reservas are given in ncte 21 to the Group financial statements.
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34 Ermployee benefits

Defined confribufion plans
The Company coperates a number of defined contribution pension plans.
The total Company expense relating to these plans in the current year was £nil (2017 £nil).

Share-based payments

There was no expense for share-based payments relating to the Company in the year (2017: £nil).

The grants and refated accounting treatment adopted by the Company is identical to that operated by the
Group under IFRS 2 “share-based payments” (see note 20).

35 Directors’ remuneration
The analysis of Directors’ emoluments and share options is included within the Remuneration Report on pages

683 and 64. This analysis forms part of these financial statements.

36 Staff numbers and costs

The Company has no employees (2017: none) other than the Directors. Directors’ emoluments are paid by a
subsidiary undertaking.

37 Related parties

During the year the Company received dividends of £9,800,300 (2017: £13,000,000) and received interest of
£8,083,000 {2017: £6,408,000) and fees of £70,000 (2017: £70,000) from its subsidiary undertakings. The
amount due to the Company from its subsidiary undertakings at the balance sheet date amounted fo
£278,846,000 (2017 £269,304,000).

38 Finanecial instruments

The use of financial instruments is managed under policies and procedures approved by the Board. These are
designed to reduce the financial risks faced by the Company, which primarily relate to credit, and liquidity risks,
which arise in the normal course of the Company’s business.

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and exposure fo credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. The
Company provides credit to subsidiaries in the normal course of business. The balance includes the amounts
considered recoverable which also eqguals to their fair value. The Company has collateral in respect of the
investments it holds in ifs subsidiary undertakings. During the year there was no charge fo the income
statement for bad or doubtful debts (2017: £nii).

At the balance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure fo
credit risk Is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.

The recelvables as at 30 Sepiember arg inter-company balances as follows:

2018 2017

£000 £000
Not due 278,108 269,304
Not more than three months past due - -
More than three months but not more than six months past due - -
More than six months past due - -
Trade receivables (note 30) 278,108 269,304

The fair values of these balances is equal to their carrying value.

Interest rate risk

The Company finances its operations through called up share capital, retained profits, bank barrowings, and

the sale of assefs if appropriate. Group policy is to balance interest rate fixes between the short, medium and
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long term. The benchmark rate for bank borrowings is LIBOR.

Liquidity risk

The Company prepares annual cash flow forecasts reflecting known commitments and anticipated projects.
Borrowing faciiities are arranged as necessary to finance requirements. The Company has available bank
facilities, sufficient, with cash flow from profits, to fund present commitments. Term facilities are utilised to fund
capital expenditure and short-term flexibility is achieved by the utilisation of cash resources in respect of
financial liabilities, the foilowing table indicates their contractual cash flow maturifies.

2018
Effective Contractual
Interest Carrying Cash <1 1-5 Syears
rate % Amount Flows year years & over
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Trade and other - {1,446) (1,448) (1,448) - -
payables
Secured bank loans 5%  {151,74B) (151,748) (151,748) -- -
(153,194 (153,194) {153,184) - -
A
2017
Effeciive Contractual
Interest Carrying Cash <1 1-5 Syears
rate % Amount fiows Year years & over
£000 £000 £0DD £00D £00D
Trade and other payables - {1,130) {1,130) (1,130} - -
Secured bank ipans 5%  (148,287) (162,528) (5,755} (156,773) -
(149,417) (163,658) {6,885) {156,773) -

Capital risk management
The Company manages its capital {o ensure that activities of the Company will be able to continue as a going
concern whilst maximising returns for shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity.

The Company's capital structure is as follows:

2018 2017
£000 £000
Net debt 151,748 148,287
Equity 161,003 155,936

QOur policy is to increase the total dividend per year broadly in line with the movement in underlying diluted
eamnings per share. The final dividend will therefore increase to 7.5p per share demonstrating a confident view
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of the Group's fundamental strength.

Foreign ctirrency risk
The Company operates entirely in the UK and is not exposed to any foreigh currency risks.

Sensitivity analysis

In managing interest rate risks the Company aims to reduce the impact of short-erm fluctuations on the
Company’s earnings and equity. Over the longer term, however, permanent changes in interest rates would
have an impact on consolidated earnings and eqguity.

At 30 September 2018 it is estimated that a general increase of 1% in interest rates would impact finance
expense and decrease the Company's profit before tax and equity by approximately £410,000 (2057
£430,000). Hedging instruments have been included in this catculation.

Fair values
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

Carrying Fair Carrying " Fair
amount value Amount value
2018 2018 2617 2017
£000 £000 £000 £000

Loans and receivables:
-Cash at bank and in hand 466 466 748 748
Trade receivables {note 30) 278,108 278,108 269,304 269,304

Amortised cost:

Other payables (note 32) (1,446) (1,448) {1,130} (1,130}

Secured bank lpans (note 31) {151,748) (151,748) (148,287) (148,287)

Where market values are not available, fair values of financial assets and liabiliies have been calculated by
discounting expected future cash flows af prevailing interest rates with the following assumpfions being

applied:

» for trade and other receivables and payables the carrying arnount is deemed fo reflect the fair value;

» for cash and cash equivalents the amounts reported on the balance sheet approximates to fair value,

» for secured bank loans at floating rate the carrying value is deemed fo reflect the fair value as it represents
the price of the instruments in the market place.
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